[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Statutory Licensing Committee
10 November 2021
Time

10.00 am

Public Meeting?

YES

Venue

Council Chamber, 4th Floor, Civic Centre

Type of meeting

Licensing

Membership
Chair
Vice-chair

Cllr Phil Page (Lab)
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (Lab)

Labour

Conservative

Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Lynne Moran

Cllr Mak Singh
Cllr Wendy Dalton
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Ellis Turrell

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:
Contact
Tel/Email
Address

Donna Cope, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01902 554452 Email: donna.cope@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:
Website
Email
Tel

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk
democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 555046

Please take note of the protocol for filming and recording of, and use of social media in, meetings, copies
of which are displayed in the meeting room.
Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports
are not available to the public.

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No.

Title

1

Apologies for absence

2

Declarations of interest

3

Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4

Matters arising

5

Minutes - 16 June 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 7 - 14)

6

Minutes - 22 June 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 15 - 20)

7

Minutes - 1 July 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 21 - 24)

8

Minutes - 1 July 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 25 - 28)

9

Minutes - 6 July 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 29 - 34)

10

Minutes - 12 July 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 35 - 44)

11

Minutes - 15 September 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 45
- 54)

12

Minutes - 24 September 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee (Pages 55
- 62)

13

Cumulative Impact Policy Review (Pages 63 - 158)

14

Gambling Policy Review (Pages 159 - 206)

15

Update on Pavement Licensing (Pages 207 - 210)

16

Late Night Safe Haven (Pages 211 - 216)

Agenda

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 3

Statutory Licensing
Committee
Minutes - 9 June 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Lynne Moran (Virtual)
Cllr Mak Singh (Virtual)
Cllr Wendy Dalton
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Ellis Turrell

Employees
Donna Cope
Sarah Hardwick
Chris Howell
Greg Bickerdike
Emma Caddick
Paul Dosanjh
Jaswinder Kaur

Democratic Services Officer
Senior Solicitor
Commercial Regulation Manager
Licensing Manager
Service Manager - Environmental Health
Service Manager - Trading Standards & Licensing Act
Democratic Services Manager

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No.

Title

1

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest

Page 3

Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

There were no declarations of interest.
3

Minutes of previous meeting
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Statutory Licensing Committee held on 17
March 2021 be confirmed as a true record and signed by the Chair.

4

Matters arising
There were no matters arising.

5

Minutes - 25 February 2021 - Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee held on
25 February 2021 be confirmed as a true record and signed by the Chair.

6

Review of Decision Making 2020-2021
Chris Howell, Commercial Regulation Manager, presented the Review of Decision
Making 2020-2021 report for approval. He outlined the annual report of the decisions
made over the last municipal year and set out the delegations for the forthcoming
year.
Councillor Page, Chair of the Statutory Licensing Committee, proposed the
recommendations and Councillor Potter seconded the recommendations.
Resolved:
That Members of the Statutory Licensing Committee:
1. Endorsed and approve the proposals in section 2 of this report relating to
category 2 decisions.
2. Endorsed and approve the proposals in section 2 of this report relating to
category 3 decisions.
3. Delegated category 3 decision making powers to the Director for City Housing
and Environment.
4. Agreed to receive further annual delegation update reports at the beginning of
each municipal year.
5. Noted the schedule attached at Appendix 1 to this report which includes
further proposed delegations from the Director for City Housing and
Environment.
6. Noted the schedule of employee decisions for 2020 - 2021 attached at
Appendix 2 to this report in relation to the Licensing Authority as a
Responsible Authority.
7. Noted the schedule of decisions for 2020 - 2021 attached at Appendix 3 to this
report in relation Magistrates and Crown Court appeals.

7

Ask Angela – Relaunch and update
Paul Dosanjh, Service Manager: Trading Standards and Licensing Act, presented the
Ask Angela – Relaunch and Update report. He outlined the initiative that was first
launched in December 2017 and discussed plans for the scheme’s relaunch.

Page 4

Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Service Manager responded to questions asked and Members welcomed the
report.
Councillor Muston proposed the recommendations and Councillor Page seconded
the recommendations.
Resolved:
That Members of the Statutory Licensing Committee:
1. Approved the cost of redesigning and printing the ‘Ask for Angela’ posters,
business cards and mirror stickers.
2. Noted the plans for the updating and relaunch of the “Ask for Angela” scheme
and the timeline.

Page 5

Minutes

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 5

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 16 June 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter

Premises Licence Holder
Mr Kabul Singh

Review Applicant
Greg Bickerdike

Licensing Authority

Responsible Authorities
Aimee Taylor
Michelle Smith

West Midlands Police
Public Health

Officers
Anita Chonk
Sarah Hardwick
Donna Cope
Jas Kaur
Chris Howell

Senior Licensing & Compliance Officer
Senior Solicitor
Democratic Services Officer
Democratic Services Manager (host)
Commercial Regulation Manager (observing)

Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (observing)
Cllr Wendy Dalton (observing)

Page 7

Wednesday, 16 June 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Dianne Slack, Trading Standards, and
Sarah Gee, Environmental Health.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Licensing Act 2003 - Application for a Review of a Premises Licence in respect
of Momies Supermarket, 363 Dudley Road, Wolverhampton, WV2 3JR
An application for a Review of a Premises Licence in respect of Momies
Supermarket, 363 Dudley Road, Wolverhampton, WV2 3JR had been received from
the City of Wolverhampton Licensing Authority as Responsible Authority
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and invited all those present to
introduce themselves. All parties did so. He outlined the procedure to be followed
and all parties confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Anita Chonk, Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer provided an outline of the
application. Greg Bickerdike, Licensing Manager, applicant for review, confirmed that
the summary was accurate.
The Chair invited the Licensing Authority to present their application. Greg
Bickerdike, Licensing Manager, did so as per Appendix 3 of the report.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question the applicant in
relation to his submission. No questions were asked.
The Chair invited the Premises Licence Holder to make representations.
Mr Kabul Singh, Premises Licence Holder and Designated Premises Supervisor did
so. He stated that all matters relating to breaches of licence conditions had now been
rectified and that he had not complied with conditions of licence previously due to ill
health.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question Mr Singh in relation
to his submission. In response to questions asked, Mr Singh stated the following:
1. He had not complied with the conditions of licence previously due to ill health.
2. He was sorry and all matters relating to breaches of licence conditions had
now been rectified.
3. There had been no problems at the premises previously.
4. Only he and his son worked at the premises and his son had a licence also.
5. He was not familiar with the four licensing objectives.
6. He had not been aware of the licence condition regarding single can sales.

Page 8

Wednesday, 16 June 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Chair invited West Midlands Police to make representations. Aimee Taylor did
so as per Appendix 4 of the report. She stated that the police authority supported the
application of the Licensing Authority and recommended that the premises licence be
revoked.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question West Midlands
Police in relation to its submission. Miss Taylor responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited Public Health to make representations. Michelle Smith, Principal
Public Health Specialist did so as per Appendix 7 of the report. She stated that Public
Health were not satisfied that the Licensing Objectives were being upheld and they
supported revocation of the licence.
The Chair invited all parties present to question Public Health in relation to its
submission. Miss Smith responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited all parties present to make their final address.
Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, advised members that as Trading Standards and
Environmental Health were not in attendance at the hearing consideration could only
be given to the written evidence that had been submitted and appropriate limited
weight attached.
West Midlands Police and the Premises Licence Holder made a final statement.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer, withdrew from the meeting to enable the SubCommittee to determine the matter.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 10.45 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 11.57 hours.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer re-joined the meeting.
The Chair advised all parties of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was read
out by the Senior Solicitor.
Resolved
An application had been made by the City of Wolverhampton Licensing Authority as
Responsible Authority on 20 April 2021 for a review of the Premises Licence in
respect of Momies Supermarket, 363 Dudley Road, Wolverhampton WV2 3JR, on
the grounds that actions of the premises undermined the Licensing Objectives.
Representations had been received from the West Midlands Police, Trading
Standards, Environmental Health and Public Health as Responsible Authorities.
At the hearing to review the premises licence, members of the Statutory Licensing
Sub-Committee considered all written evidence and listened carefully to all

Page 9

Minutes
Page 3 of 7

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

representations made by persons who had spoken at the hearing. They considered
all the evidence presented and found the following facts:
The Licensing Sub-Committee heard from Greg Bickerdike, Licensing Manager,
applicant for review, that:
1. On 27 November 2020 the council had conducted a routine inspection of the
premises and the premises were found to be in breach of licence conditions.
The breaches related to:
2. Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) not being recorded, nor kept for 31 days.
3. No external cameras.
4. No refusal logbook provided to authorised officer upon request.
5. No incident logbook provided to authorised officer upon request.
6. Single cans of alcohol available for purchase.
7. No signage requesting customers to have regard for local residents.
8. No records of training for staff members.
9. Despite attending a hearing with the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee on
20/4/2011, where the condition that, “Signage to be displayed at the Premises
stating 'No single sales of alcohol will be made” was attached to the premises
licence, there was no such signage in place.
10. On 27 November 2020, Kabul Singh, the premises licence holder (PLH) and
designated premises supervisor (DPS), had been advised to remove single
cans from sale. On returning to the premises later that same day the Licensing
and Compliance Officer, from City of Wolverhampton Council, observed that
Mr Singh had not complied with this request and single sales of alcohol were
still displayed for purchase. Mr Singh then complied with this request and he
was given a further 14 days to address the remaining breaches of conditions,
as detailed in the trader’s notice which appears at page 27 of the report pack.
11. On 15 December 2020, two officers from the council had conducted a followup visit. Their inspection found that no action had been taken to rectify the
remaining breaches of licence conditions, as detailed on page 28 of the report.
12. On 22 December 2020, a joint inspection of the premises between the council
and West Midlands Police had been conducted. Officers found the premises
to be in breach of further licence conditions which included:
13. Lack of prominently displayed signs regarding alcohol and tobacco sales.
14. CCTV not maintained to the accepted standard of a West Midlands Police
Crime Reduction Officer.
15. Emergency lighting not being checked weekly.
16. No notice advising of a ‘Challenge 21’ policy.
17. The 14 day period allowed to rectify the remaining breaches of licence
conditions, as detailed on page 28 of the report, had not expired but no action
had been taken.
18. At page 33 of the report Mr Singh admitted that CCTV had not been working
at the premises for approximately two years.
19. On 11 February 2021, a follow up visit was conducted by the council and West
Midlands Police to identify whether the breaches of licence conditions had
been rectified. Their inspection found that no action had been taken to rectify
the breaches of licence conditions. A new trader’s notice was issued.

Page 10

Minutes
Page 4 of 7

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

20. There were conditions on the licence which were no longer considered
relevant nor reasonable and were not in line with the council’s statement of
licensing policy. It was recommended that the Statutory Licensing SubCommittee considered the removal of these conditions and that the condition
relating to Challenge 21 be replaced with Challenge 25.
21. There have been multiple breaches of licence conditions over several years
and the licence holder has continually ignored instructions given by the council
and West Midlands Police.
22. Given multiple breaches and the Premises Licence Holder’s failure to fulfil his
obligations, the applicant would request suspension of the premises licence,
for a period of up to three months. A suspension of the licence would
encourage the Premises Licence Holder to rectify the breaches of licence,
train staff and obtain professional support.
The Licensing Sub-Committee heard from Mr Kabul Singh, Premises Licence Holder
and Designated Premises Supervisor that:
1. He had now rectified all matters relating to breaches of licence conditions.
2. It was accepted there had been problems previously.
3. He had not complied with conditions of licence previously due to ill health,
although no evidence of ill health was provided at the hearing.
4. He was not familiar with the four licensing objectives.
5. He seemed unaware of the condition of licence relating to no sale of single
cans on the premises.
The Licensing Sub-Committee heard from West Midlands Police that:
1. The police authority supported the application of the Licensing Authority.
2. Visits had been made to the premises on 22 December 2020 and 11 February
2021. On both occasions a number of breaches of licence conditions were
identified.
3. During visits to the premises officers from West Midlands Police had not
witnessed any issues with language or any indication that he was suffering
from ill health.
4. Mr Singh had shown a total disregard for all Licensing Objectives and this
called into question his capability as a Premises Licence Holder. He did not
take breaches of conditions seriously.
5. In the circumstances and having heard evidence given by Mr Singh,
revocation of the premises licence was recommended.
Trading Standards and Environmental Health had not been in attendance at the
hearing and so parties were not given the opportunity to question their evidence.
Therefore, appropriate, limited weight had been given to the written evidence
submitted as summarised below. Both Trading Standards and Environmental Health
supported the application made by the Licensing Authority
Written submissions of Trading Standards:
1. On 24 June 2021 officers from Trading Standards, Environmental Health and
West Midlands Police had visited the premises and discovered illegal tobacco

Page 11

Minutes
Page 5 of 7

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

products on site that were subsequently seized. A trader’s notice was issued
to Kabul Singh under the Licensing Act 2003 and Consumer Protection Act
2015.
2. Further problems were discovered at the premises on 24 June to include there
being no licence summary on display, the Premises Licence Holder being
unable to produce a copy of the premises and his personal licence, there
being no refusals book, no CCTV, no warnings on display regarding alcohol,
tobacco and age related sales.
3. On 8 July 2019 a further visit was made to the premises with a tobacco dog
but nothing illicit was found.
4. The premises licence holder and management had failed to uphold the four
licensing objectives.
Written submissions of Environmental Health:
1. They supported the application made by the Licensing Authority
2. In June 2021 officers from Environmental Health accompanied Trading
Standards on a visit to the premises and discovered illegal tobacco products
on site that were subsequently seized.
3. The premises licence holder and management had failed to uphold the four
licensing objectives.
The Licensing Sub-Committee heard from Public Health that:
1. They supported the application made by the Licensing Authority
2. It was expected that any business licensed to sell alcohol would act
responsibly at all times and promote the key objectives of the Licensing Act
2003.
3. There had been several breaches of the licensing conditions reported
4. Public Health was not reassured that the business was operating in
adherence to the Licensing Act.
5. The Premises Licence Holder was not clear about the requirements for no
single sale of cans.
6. They were not satisfied with previous behaviour of the Premises Licence
Holder or with what he had said and therefore were not confident that he was
promoting the Licensing Objectives.
7. Suffering from ill health did not allow the Premises Licence Holder to breach
conditions of licence.
The Sub-Committee could take such steps as it considered appropriate for the
promotion of the Licensing Objectives.
The Sub-Committee were satisfied that a significant number of licence conditions
had been breached and that the four licensing objectives, outlined in the LA 2003
had been undermined.
If the Premises Licence Holder had been suffering from ill health he should have
arranged for the premises licence to be transferred to someone else.
There had been a flagrant disregard for the law.

Page 12

Minutes
Page 6 of 7

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Sub-Committee had considered the evidence presented and had regard to the
application, representations made, guidance issued under section 182 of the
Licensing Act 2003 and the Council’s own licensing policy. The Sub-Committee had
on the balance of probabilities, found that in order to promote the licensing objectives
the premises licence of Momies Supermarket should be revoked in accordance with
s52 LA 2003.
This action was considered appropriate and proportionate action for the promotion of
the four licensing objectives.
It was deemed inappropriate to modify conditions and suspend the licence as clearly
the Premises Licence Holder appeared not able to comply with conditions of licence
and the Sub-Committee did not believe that suspension for a limited period would
assist in mending the behaviour already witnessed.
Written notice of the determination would be given to the holder of the licence, the
applicant, and any other person who made relevant representations.
An appeal could be made to the Magistrates’ Court against the decision, by the
applicant, the holder of the premises licence, or any other person who made a
relevant representation, within 21 days from the date of receipt of written notice of
the decision.

Page 13

Minutes
Page 7 of 7

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 6

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 22 June 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter

Premises Licence Holder
Mr Paramjit Singh
Mr Gavin Ward - Solicitor

Review Applicant
Aimee Taylor

West Midlands Police

Responsible Authorities
Michelle Smith
Amitabh Singh

Public Health
Licensing Authority

Officers
Debra Craner
Richard Phillips
Donna Cope
Jas Kaur

Section Leader Licensing
Senior Solicitor
Democratic Services Officer
Democratic Services Manager (host)

Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (observing)

Page 15

Tuesday, 22 June 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Sarah Gee, Environmental Health.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Licensing Act 2003 - Application for a Review of a Premises Licence in respect
of Diamond Banqueting Suite, Skinner Street, Wolverhampton, WV1 4LD
An application for a Review of a Premises Licence in respect of Diamond Banqueting
Suite, Skinner Street, Wolverhampton, WV1 4LD had been received from West
Midlands Police.
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and invited all those present to
introduce themselves. All parties did so. He outlined the procedure to be followed
and all parties confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Debra Craner, Section Leader Licensing provided an outline of the application.
Aimee Taylor, Licensing and Regulatory Officer, West Midlands Police, applicant for
review, confirmed that the summary was accurate.
The Chair then closed the live session and the press and public were excluded from
the meeting under paragraph 7 of schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972.
The Chair invited West Midlands Police to present their application. Aimee Taylor,
West Midlands Police, did so as per Appendix 3 and 4 of the report. She stated that
the Premises Licence Holder had undermined the four licensing objectives and
asked for revocation of the licence.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question the applicant in
relation to her submission. Miss Taylor responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited the Premises Licence Holder to make representations.
Mr Gavin Ward, Solicitor representing the Premises Licence Holder, did so and
stated the following:





Mr Singh, Premises Licence holder had operated Diamond Banqueting Suite
successfully since April 2008.
The effect of the pandemic meant the business could not trade and was not
making any money so his client had used the kitchen area of the premises as
an online clothing business.
His client had leased parts of the premises out and had produced leases to
this effect.

Page 16

Tuesday, 22 June 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]










The leases commenced prior to the raid by the Police at the premises. During
that time his client had not visited the property often because the sale of
clothes mainly took place online.
His client accepted that he did not notify the Licensing Authority of the change
of use, however because the activities supposedly being undertaken by the
tenants did not concern licensable activities, he did not consider it a major
concern.
English was not his client’s first language and that was why communication
with Ms Taylor on 20 April 2021 was so difficult.
His client had not had the requisite keys to allow Ms Taylor access on that day
to the other areas of the premises.
His client was a man of good character and had never been in trouble with the
Police before.
That the committee should work with his client and not seek to remove him as
DPS, suspend the licence or revoke it.

The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question Mr Ward in relation
to his submission. Mr Ward responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited the Licensing Authority to make representations. Amitabh Singh,
Section Leader Licensing did so as per Appendix 5 of the report. He stated that the
Premises Licence Holder had failed to uphold the licensing objectives, and knowingly
breached the conditions of the premises licence. Therefore he supported the Police’s
submission for the premises licence to be revoked.
The Chair invited all parties present to question the Licensing Authority in relation to
its submission. Mr Amitabh Singh responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited Public Health to make representations. Michelle Smith, Principal
Public Health Specialist did so as per Appendix 7 of the report.
She stated that the Premises Licence Holder had shown an irresponsible disregard
for the licensing objectives and Public Health supported the Police’s application for
the licence to be revoked.
The Chair invited all parties present to question Public Health in relation to its
submission. No questions were asked.
The Chair invited all parties present to make their final address.
West Midlands Police made a final statement.
Richard Philips, Senior Solicitor, suggested to members that the decision should be
sent out to all parties within 5 working days in order to protect any exempt
information.
Members agreed to this and the meeting was closed.
Resolved:

Page 17

Minutes
Page 3 of 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

An application was received from the West Midlands Police on 26 April for a review
of the Premises Licence in respect of Diamond Banqueting Suite, Skinner street,
Wolverhampton, WV1 4LD. The application was made pursuant to s51 Licensing Act
2003 (as amended.)
The Sub-Committee heard and read from the applicant (West Midlands Police) that:


















On 20 April 2021, Aimee Taylor, the Licensing and Regulatory Officer for West
Midlands Police received a telephone call from a PCSO in Wolverhampton
City Centre, expressing concern regarding the smell of cannabis emanating
from Diamond Banqueting Suite;
Upon arriving at the venue on the same day, Ms Taylor identified the
Premises Licence Holder Mr Singh as being present within the premises;
The Premises Licence Holder spoke with Ms Taylor and initially refused to
allow access to the premises, informing Ms Taylor that he had leased the
premises. When questioned he failed to provide any details about who had
leased the premises and despite being provided with a request to provide the
leases and an email address to do so, failed to do so;
He belatedly admitted Ms Taylor to a small kitchen area which was full of
dresses and clothes. All of the CCTV cameras had been covered with duct
tape. Mr Singh refused to allow Ms Taylor access to any other part of the
premises;
Ms Taylor attempted to access the other areas of the premises via the front
door, ringing the doorbell but could not gain entry. Mr Singh then left the
premises;
Given the concerns, Sergeant Yeomans of West Midlands Police left multiple
voice and text messages on Mr Singh’s mobile number to attempt to gain
access to the rest of the premises. Those messages were ignored by Mr
Singh;
On 21 April 2021, West Midlands Police received further information about
criminal activity taking place at the premises and entry was forced under
powers in the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984;
As entry was forced, the Police noticed three men attempting to escape from
inside the premises but ran back into the building. They were later located,
along with a fourth man, inside the premises, following a search by a Police
Dog;
Upon entry to the upper floors of the premises, the Police discovered a very
large industrial scale cannabis factory including hundreds of growing cannabis
plants and hundreds of cannabis seedlings, ready to be planted. There was
also significant amounts of cannabis growing paraphernalia. The electricity
appeared to have been bypassed. The Police estimate the drugs to have a
street value of between one and three million pounds; and
Given that Mr Singh as Premises Licence Holder has overall responsibility for
the activities that are undertaken within the premises, they believe it could not
have taken place without his prior knowledge and agreement and therefore
request a revocation of the licence today.

Page 18

Minutes
Page 4 of 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Sub-Committee heard from Mr Ward, Solicitor for the Premises Licence Holder
and read from Mr Singh that:




















He had operated Diamond Banqueting Suite since April 2008 successfully
providing facilities for weddings, birthdays, corporate events, exhibitions,
Christmas events, DJ evenings and civil marriages;
The effect of the pandemic meant the business could not trade and was not
making any money from the premises and he has used the kitchen area of the
premises as an online clothing business;
He had leased parts of the premises out and had produced leases to this
effect.
The leases had commenced prior to the raid by the Police at the premises.
During that time Mr Singh stated he had not visited the property often because
the sale of clothes mainly took place online;
Mr Singh had separated the property into three parts and decided to tape over
the CCTV cameras in the kitchen area because the CCTV equipment was
stored in one of the leased areas of the premises and he did not want his
business to be observed by his sub tenants;
Mr Singh accepted he did not notify the Licensing Authority of the change of
use, however because the activities supposedly being undertaken by the
tenants did not concern licensable activities, he did not consider it a major
concern;
He was a man of good character and had never been in trouble with the
Police before;
The discovery had had a detrimental effect on his reputation, and he would
have to totally rebuild his business under a different name if the licence is
retained;
English was not his first language and that is why communication with Ms
Taylor on 20 April 2021 was so difficult and, in any event, he did not have the
requisite keys to allow her access on that day to the other areas of the
premises;
He further disputed the account of Ms Taylor as to what transpired on 20 and
21 April 2021 at the premises;
He was unaware of the activities being undertaken by his tenants and had not
seen anything unusual. As such, he believed he was also a victim of the
crime, which the committee should take into account when it reaches a
decision;
He was now taking steps to forfeit the leases and take back possession; and
That the committee should not seek to remove him as DPS, suspend the
licence or revoke it.

The Sub-Committee heard from Amitabh Singh, from Licensing responsible authority
that:


Mr Singh had failed to uphold licensing objective of preventing crime and
disorder and knowingly breached the conditions of the premises licence by
deliberately covering the CCTV cameras and failing to ensure the CCTV was

Page 19

Minutes
Page 5 of 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

working in accordance with the premises licence. They supported the Police’s
submission for the premises licence to be revoked.
The Sub-Committee heard from Ms Michelle Smith for Public Health as responsible
authority, that:


Public Health supported the Police application on the grounds of the
prevention and crime and disorder. Cannabis causes significant risks of harm
through its use. The Premises Licence Holder has shown an irresponsible
disregard for the licensing objectives and they support the Police’s application
for the licence to be revoked.

In considering all of the submissions and all of the circumstances of the application
for a review, the legislation and the s182 guidance and the options open to it in
s52(4) Licensing Act 2003, the decision of the Sub-Committee was to revoke the
premises licence. This was because none of the other options available to it, in the
committee’s view, would serve to uphold the licensing objectives.
Criminal activity had taken place at the premises which is of a very serious nature.
The Licensing Sub-Committee determined on the balance of probabilities, that even
if the Premises Licence Holder was unaware initially of the activities of his tenants,
he would have become aware before the Police visits on 20 and 21 April 2021. He
had also demonstrated a flagrant disregard for his duties as Premises Licence
Holder in failing to notify the licensing authorities about the change of the use of the
premises and failed to comply with the conditions of licence.
All parties have a right of appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of receipt of
this decision.
A copy of the written decision would be forwarded to all parties.

Page 20

Minutes
Page 6 of 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 7

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 1 July 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter

Applicant
Atif Afzal
Adrian Curtis

Solicitor

West Midlands Police
Aimee Taylor
Detective Constable Sarah Evans

Officers
Sarah Hardwick
Donna Cope
Debra Craner

Senior Solicitor
Democratic Service Officer
Section Leader Licensing

Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (observing)
Cllr Wendy Dalton (observing)

Page 21

Thursday, 1 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Exclusion of press and public
Resolved:
That, in accordance with section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business as
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling within paragraphs 1
and 7 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

4

Licensing Act 2003 – Application for a Transfer of a Premises Licence in
respect of Alisha Supermarket, 116-126 Steelhouse Lane, Wolverhampton,
WV2 2AW
An Application for a Transfer of a Premises Licence in respect of Alisha
Supermarket, 116-126 Steelhouse Lane, Wolverhampton, WV2 2AW was considered
following representations received from West Midlands Police.
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and invited all those present to
introduce themselves. All parties did so. He outlined the procedure to be followed
and all parties confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Debra Craner, Section Leader Licensing provided an outline of the application. Mr
Adrian Curtis, Solicitor, representing the Applicant, confirmed that the summary was
accurate.
The Chair invited the Applicant to present their application. Mr Adrian Curtis did so
on behalf of his client.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question the Applicant and
their representative in relation to its submission.
No questions were asked.
The Chair invited West Midlands Police to make representations.
Aimee Taylor, West Midlands Police, did so as per Appendix 4 of the report and the
supplementary agenda pack.
Mr Adrian Curtis pointed out that West Midlands Police could only object to the
application under the Prevention of Crime and Disorder Licensing Objective. Sarah
Hardwick, Senior Solicitor confirmed this.

Page 22

Thursday, 1 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Chair invited all parties present to question West Midlands Police in relation to
its submission. Ms Aimee Taylor and Detective Constable Sarah Evans responded to
questions asked.
Mr Curtis stated that details within the submission from West Midlands Police had not
been disclosed to all parties prior to the Hearing and that other details were not
relevant to the case. He requested therefore, that these details be disregarded by the
Sub-Committee.
Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor agreed and advised the Sub-Committee that
information not disclosed by West Midlands Police until the day of the hearing should
be disregarded. The reason was that the information had been disclosed on the
morning of the Hearing and the Hearings Regulations provided that the Licensing
Sub Committee may take into account information produced before the hearing or,
with consent of all other parties, at the hearing. The Solicitor for the applicant did not
consent to the information disclosed on the day of the hearing being used.
The Chair invited all parties present to make their final address.
Mr Adrian Curtis and West Midlands Police made a final statement.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer, withdrew from the meeting to enable the SubCommittee to determine the matter.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 10.50 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 11.30 hours.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer re-joined the meeting.
The Chair advised all parties of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was read
out by the Senior Solicitor.
Resolved:
The Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee had taken note of all the written concerns in
respect of the application to transfer a premises licence for Alisha Supermarket, 116126 Steelhouse Lane, Wolverhampton, WV2 2AW and had listened to the arguments
of those who had spoken at the hearing, for and against the application.
Section 44 of the Licensing Act 2003 provided that applications to transfer a
premises licence may only be rejected if it was considered appropriate for the
promotion of the Prevention of Crime and Disorder Licensing Objective.
The Licensing Sub Committee were not able to consider the impact of the application
on the Protection of Children from Harm Licensing Objective as this was not relevant
under s44 LA 2003.

Page 23

Minutes
Page 3 of 4

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Licensing Sub Committee had disregarded some of the submissions made by
West Midlands Police. The reason was that the information was disclosed on the
morning of the Hearing. Regulation 18 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings)
Regulations 2005 provided that the Licensing Sub Committee may take into account
information produced before the hearing or, with consent of all other parties, at the
hearing. The Solicitor for the applicant did not consent to the information disclosed
on the day of the hearing being used.
However, the Licensing Sub-Committee did consider sufficient evidence was before
them and were satisfied that to grant the application would undermine the Prevention
of Crime and Disorder Licensing Objective. The application was therefore refused.
All parties had a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of receipt of
the decision in writing.

Page 24

Minutes
Page 4 of 4

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 8

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 1 July 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter

Applicant
Atif Afzal
Adrian Curtis

Solicitor

West Midlands Police
Aimee Taylor
Detective Constable Sarah Evans

Officers
Sarah Hardwick
Donna Cope
Debra Craner

Senior Solicitor
Democratic Service Officer
Section Leader Licensing

Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (observing)
Cllr Wendy Dalton (observing)

Page 25

Thursday, 1 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Exclusion of press and public
Resolved:
That, in accordance with section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business as
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling within paragraphs 1
and 7 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

4

Licensing Act 2003 – Application to Vary a premises licence to specify an
individual as Designated Premises Supervisor for Alisha Supermarket, 116-126
Steelhouse Lane, Wolverhampton, WV2 2AW
An Application to Vary a premises licence to specify an individual as Designated
Premises Supervisor for Alisha Supermarket, 116-126 Steelhouse Lane,
Wolverhampton, WV2 2AW was considered following representations received from
West Midlands Police.
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and invited all those present to
introduce themselves. All parties did so. He outlined the procedure to be followed
and all parties confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Debra Craner, Section Leader Licensing provided an outline of the application. Mr
Adrian Curtis, Solicitor, representing the Applicant, confirmed that the summary was
accurate.
The Chair invited the Applicant to present their application. Mr Adrian Curtis did so
on behalf of his client.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question the Applicant and
their representative in relation to its submission.
No relevant questions were asked.
The Chair invited West Midlands Police to make representations.
Aimee Taylor, West Midlands Police, did so as per Appendix 4 of the report and the
supplementary agenda pack.
The Chair invited all parties present to question West Midlands Police in relation to
its submission.

Page 26

Thursday, 1 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

No questions were asked.
The Chair invited all parties present to make their final address.
Mr Adrian Curtis and West Midlands Police made a final statement.
Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, stated that the Licensing Sub-Committee should
disregarded submissions not disclosed by West Midlands Police until the day of the
hearing. The reason was that the Hearing Regulations provide that the Licensing
Sub-Committee may take into account information produced before the hearing or,
with consent of all other parties, at the hearing. The Solicitor for the applicant did not
consent to the information disclosed on the day of the hearing being used.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer, withdrew from the meeting to enable the SubCommittee to determine the matter.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 11.59 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 12.30 hours.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer re-joined the meeting.
The Chair advised all parties of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was read
out by the Senior Solicitor.
Resolved:
The Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee had taken note of all the written concerns in
respect of the application to vary a premises licence to specify an individual as
Designated Premises Supervisor for Alisha Supermarket, 116-126 Steelhouse Lane,
Wolverhampton, WV2 2AW and had listened to the arguments of those who had
spoken at the hearing, both for and against the application.
Section 39 of the Licensing Act 2003 provided that applications to vary a person
specified as a Designated Premises Supervisor may only be rejected if it was
considered appropriate for the promotion of the Prevention of Crime and Disorder
Licensing Objective.
The Licensing Sub-Committee were not able to consider the impact of the application
on the Protection of Children from Harm licensing objective as this was not relevant
under s39 LA 2003.
The Licensing Sub-Committee had disregarded submissions made by West Midlands
Police. The reason was that the information had been disclosed on the morning of
the hearing. Regulation 18 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005
provided that the Licensing Sub-Committee may take into account information
produced before the hearing or, with consent of all other parties, at the hearing. The

Page 27

Minutes
Page 3 of 4

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Solicitor for the applicant did not consent to the information disclosed on the day of
the hearing being used.
However, the Licensing Sub-Committee did consider sufficient evidence was before
them and were satisfied that to grant the application would undermine the Prevention
of Crime and Disorder Licensing Objective. The application was therefore refused.
All parties had a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of receipt of
the decision in writing.

Page 28

Minutes
Page 4 of 4

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 9

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 6 July 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter
Premises Licence Holder
Leo Charalamabides
Carl Moore
Davinder Dhillon

Barrister from Kings Chambers.
Licensing Consultant
Premises Licence Holder

Applicant for Review
Charlotte Rose
Dave Abel

COVID Business Compliance, Environmental Health
Solicitor

Responsible Authorities
Sgt Steph Reynolds
Francesca Anderson
Amitabh Singh
Michelle Smith
Laura Wallace

West Midlands Police
Solicitor for West Midlands Police
Licensing Authority
Public Health
Public Health (observing)

Officers
Elizabeth Gregg
Robert Marshall
Donna Cope
Jas Kaur

Senior Licensing Officer
Solicitor
Democratic Services Officer
Democratic Services Manager

Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (observing)
Cllr Wendy Dalton (observing)

Page 29

Tuesday, 6 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Licensing Act 2003 - Application for a Review of a Premises Licence in respect
of Rocket Pool Inn, Rocket Pool Drive, Bradley, Wolverhampton, West
Midlands, WV14 8BH
An application for a Review of a Premises Licence in respect of Rocket Pool Inn,
Rocket Pool Drive, Bradley, Wolverhampton, West Midlands, WV14 8BH had been
received from the Service Lead – Covid Business Support within Environmental
Health.
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and members of the Sub-Committee
introduced themselves. He outlined the procedure to be followed and all parties
confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Elizabeth Gregg, Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer provided an outline of the
application. She reported that since the agenda had been published, a further
supplementary agenda had been circulated, containing additional information.
The Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer further reported that since the review
application had been submitted, applications to transfer the premise licence and vary
the Designated Premises Supervisor had been received.
David Abel, Solicitor representing the Service Lead – Covid Business Support
(applicant for review) confirmed that the summary was accurate.
Leo Charalamides, Solicitor representing the Premises Licence Holder, enquired
whether West Midlands Police had submitted any further representations other than
what was detailed in Appendix 4 of the agenda pack.
Elizabeth Gregg, Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer, confirmed that West
Midlands Police had not submitted any further representations or supporting
evidence.
Leo Charalamides, Solicitor representing the Premises Licence Holder, advised the
Sub-Committee that the police therefore had no evidence to rely on and as he and
his client had not given consent for them to submit further evidence during the
Hearing, they were not allowed to do so.
The Chair invited the Licencing Authority to confirm whether they agreed with the
supplementary mediation documents submitted by Environmental Health.

Page 30

Tuesday, 6 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Amitabh Singh, Section Leader Licensing, confirmed that he had seen the mediation
documents and agreed to them.
The Chair invited Public Health to confirm whether they agreed with the mediation
documents submitted by Environmental Health.
Michelle Smith, Principle Public Health Specialist, confirmed that she also agreed to
the mediation documents.
The Chair outlined the situation and stated that all parties except for West Midlands
Police had agreed to the mediation documents submitted by Environmental Health.
He invited West Midlands Police to explain their position regarding the hearing.
Francesca Anderson, Solicitor representing West Midlands Police, stated that the
police were not in a position to withdraw their representations as they did not agree
with the proposed mediation documents from Environmental Health. She stated that
they wanted to continue with the Hearing and sought revocation of the premises
licence, or a suspension for a period of three months pending the outcome of the
transfer application.
Robert Marshal, Solicitor, reminded West Midlands Police that the transfer and
variation of DPS applications were a separate matter entirely and would be
considered through the appropriate channels. He asked her to clarify their position
with regards to the review application and why they didn’t agree to the mediation
documents.
Francesca Anderson, Solicitor representing West Midlands Police, stated that the
premises had been ineffectively managed by the previous Premises Licence Holder
(PLH) and Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS), and the current PLH was not a
suitable person.
In response to this, Leo Charalamides, Solicitor representing the Premises Licence
Holder, stated that West Midlands Police had provided no evidence at all whereas
Environmental Health had provided evidence which all other parties had considered
and agreed to. He further stated that the police could not bring new evidence to the
Hearing.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Solicitor and Democratic
Services Officer, withdrew from the meeting to enable the Sub- Committee to
determine the matter.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 10.22 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 11.02 hours.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Solicitor and Democratic
Services Officer re-joined the meeting.
The Chair advised all parties of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was read
out by the Senior Solicitor.

Page 31

Minutes
Page 3 of 5

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Resolved:
An application was made by Charlotte Rose, Service Lead – Covid Business Support
within Environmental Health as Responsible Authority, for a review of the premises
licence in respect of Rocket Pool Inn, Rocket Pool Drive, Bradley Wolverhampton
WV14 8BH.
At the hearing, the Licensing Sub-Committee carefully considered all representations
received, listened to those who spoke at the hearing, and considered all the evidence
presented.
The Sub-Committee heard and read that the Applicant had agreed terms with the
Premises Licence Holder’s representative that were acceptable to both the Premises
Licence Holder and the Applicant.
The Sub-Committee heard and read representations from all the Responsible
Authorities that supported the review. Public Health and the Licencing Authority
confirmed that they had seen the terms that had been agreed between the Applicant
and Premises Licence Holder, and on the basis of the terms agreed, they had no
further objections.
West Midlands Police expressed objection to the new Premises Licence Holder
(PLH) and Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) being proposed as part of the
agreed terms. The Sub-Committee advised the Police that consideration of the new
PLH and DPS did not come within the remit of the hearing. The only purpose of the
hearing was to consider the review of the licence which had been brought by the
Applicant, and to use the powers given to the Sub-Committee by Section 52 of the
Licencing Act 2003. The Police submitted that the premises had been ineffectively
managed, the new PLH was not suitable, and the licensing objectives had been
undermined. The Police provided no evidence to support their submissions.
Therefore, based upon the evidence presented and having regard to the application,
the relevant representations made, guidance issued under section 182 of the
Licensing Act 2003 and the Council’s own licensing policy, the Sub-Committee
decided to:
A) Modify the conditions of the Licence by incorporating the agreed terms and
conditions attached to the Decision Notice and
B) Removal of the Designated Premises Supervisor.
The decision was considered appropriate and proportionate action for the promotion
of the public safety licensing objective.
Written notice of the determination would be given to the holder of the licence, the
applicant, and any other person who made relevant representations.
An appeal may be made to the Magistrates’ Court against the decision, by the
applicant, the holder of the premises licence, or any other person who made a
relevant representation, within 21 days from the date of receipt of written notice of
this decision.

Page 32

Minutes
Page 4 of 5

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 33

Minutes
Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 10

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 12 July 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter

Premises Licence Applicant
Rob Jephcotes
Rhys Linton

Agent
Applicant

Responsible Authorities
Greg Bickerdike
Aimee Taylor
Dianne Slack
Emma Waites
Andrea Crew

Licensing Authority
West Midlands Police
Trading Standards
Environmental Health
Public Health

Other Persons
Cllr Jonathan Crofts

Employees
Anita Chonk
Donna Cope
Dave Abel
Shelley Humphries

Senior Licensing & Compliance Officer
Democratic Services Officer
Solicitor
Democratic Services Officer (Host)

Page 35

Monday, 12 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Licensing Act 2003 - Application for a Premises Licence in respect of
Irrhysponsible Drinks, 1A Brantley Avenue, Wolverhampton, WV3 9AP
An application for a Premises Licence in respect of Irrhysponsible Drinks, 1A
Brantley Avenue, Wolverhampton, WV3 9AP was considered following
representations received from the Licensing Authority, West Midlands Police, Trading
Standards, Environmental Health, Public Health and Other Persons.
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and invited all those present to
introduce themselves. All parties did so. He outlined the procedure to be followed
and all parties confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Anita Chonk, Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer provided an outline of the
application. Mr Rob Jephcotes, Agent representing the Applicant, Mr Rhys Linton,
confirmed that the summary was accurate.
The Chair invited the Applicant to present the application. Mr Rob Jephcotes did so
as per Appendix 1 of the report. He stated that he and his client had proactively tried
to mediate with the objectors and were happy to work with the Responsible
Authorities to address any concerns they had.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question Mr Jephcotes and
his client in relation to his submission.
In response to questions asked, Mr Linton stated the following:
 A Challenge 25 Policy had been implemented at the premises.
 Age verification posters had been displayed.
 An incident logbook and refusals book were in place.
 Since reading the objections he had realised that his social media advertising
had not been appropriate, and he was learning from experience.
 Parking was available at the premises.
 CCTV was in place outside the premises.
 Mistakes had been made due to his lack of experience, but he was now aware
of his responsibilities.
 He would be happy to reduce the trading hours.
The Chair invited the Licensing Authority to make representations. Greg Bickerdike,
Licensing Manager, did so as per Appendix 3 of the report. He stated that the
mediation document on page 73 of the report had not been agreed and that he had
concerns regarding the underage sale incident and the marketing on social media.

Page 36

Monday, 12 July 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question the Licensing
Authority in relation to its submission. Greg Bickerdike responded to questions asked
and explained his concerns regarding the sale of single bottles.
The Chair invited West Midlands Police (WMP) to make representations. Aimee
Taylor did so as per Appendix 4 of the report. She stated that WMP had not seen an
age verification policy for the premises and had concerns regarding the online sales.
She further stated that the Applicant was not upholding the Licensing Objectives.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question West Midlands
Police in relation to its submission. Miss Taylor responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited Environmental Health to make representations. Emma Waites,
Senior Officer - Food and Health and Safety, did so as per Appendix 6 of the report.
She stated that her objections were regarding noise nuisance and that her concerns
would be alleviated should the Applicant reduce the trading hours as proposed.
The Chair invited all parties present to question Environmental Health in relation to
its submission. Emma Waites, responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited Public Health to make representations. Andrea Crew, Senior Public
Health Specialist, did so as per Appendix 7 of the report. She stated that her
objections were solely regarding the name of the premises.
The Chair invited all parties present to question Public Health in relation to its
submission. Andrea Crew responded to questions asked and following discussions
regarding the premises name, Mr Rhys Linton agreed to change the premises name
to ‘Irrhysistable Drinks’.
The Chair invited Trading Standards to make representations. Dianne Slack,
Tobacco Control Officer, did so as per Appendix 5 of the report. She outlined the
underage sale incident and explained her concerns regarding online sales.
The Chair invited all parties present to question Trading Standards in relation to its
submission. Dianne Slack responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited Other Persons to make representations. Councillor Jonathan Crofts
did so as per Appendix 8 of the report.
The Chair invited all parties present to question Councillor Jonathan Crofts in relation
to its submission. Councillor Jonathan Crofts responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited all parties present to make their final address.
Councillor Jonathan Crofts, Trading Standards, Public Health, Environmental Health,
the Licensing Authority and the Applicant’s Agent made a final statement.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Solicitor and Democratic
Services Officer, withdrew from the meeting to enable the Sub-Committee to
determine the matter.

Page 37

Minutes
Page 3 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Sub-Committee adjourned at 11.45 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 12.01 hours.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Solicitor and Democratic
Services Officer re-joined the meeting.
The Chair advised all parties of the decision of the Sub-Committee and stated that
the full decision notice would be sent to all parties within 5 days.
Resolved:
The Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee had taken note of all representations made
both in writing and given orally by those who attended the hearing regarding the
concerns raised in respect of the application for a Premises Licence for
Irrhysponsible Drinks, 1A Brantley Avenue, Wolverhampton, WV3 9AP.
The Sub-Committee heard from the Applicant that:
1. Irrhysponsible Drinks was a venue intending to sell freshly made bottled
cocktails for consumption away from the premises operating by collection or
by delivery from social media/internet ordering either personally or via
Deliveroo.
2. The premises had previously traded using Temporary Event Notices and
whilst doing so failed an underage test purchase carried out by the Trading
Standards Department.
3. The premises had also sold alcohol whilst no Temporary Event Licence was in
place.
4. The Applicant stated that these errors occurred as a result of his lack of
training and experience, but he was now aware of his responsibilities under
the Licensing Regime and was working with all Responsible Authorities to
address their concerns and those of local residents.
5. Drinks would be pre-ordered and the appropriate ID checks put in place
including a Challenge 25 policy.
6. To address concerns raised regarding the name of the premises, he would
change the name to “Irrhysistible Drinks.”
7. The Applicant proposed conditions by way of a Mediation Document which
included a reduction in the hours for the supply of alcohol.
8. The Applicant would not sell multi-pack drinks.
The Sub-Committee heard from the Licensing Authority as Responsible Authority
that:
1. There was insufficient information within the Operating Schedule to show how
the Applicant would address the Licensing Objectives.
2. The proposed Operating Schedule lacked enforceable conditions and
therefore it was insufficient to uphold the licensing objectives in its current
format.
3. The proposed Mediation document had not been agreed or signed.

Page 38

Minutes
Page 4 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4. The Applicant had admitted selling alcohol whilst not licensed to do so,
despite receiving licensing training.
5. The Applicant had made an underage sale on 11/06/21 as a result of a Test
Purchase Operation carried out by Trading Standards.
6. The Licensing Authority supported the refusal of a Licence to the Applicant.
The Sub-Committee heard from West Midlands Police that:
1. The business was trading online and that the Applicant had not disclosed this
in his Application.
2. No age verification policy had been submitted to the Police for approval.
3. The Applicant had sold alcohol drinks to children when a test purchase
exercise was carried out.
4. There had been no request by the Applicant for the test purchasers to lower
their masks to allow him to assess their age.
5. The Applicant had failed to uphold the Licensing Objective of the Protection of
Children from Harm.
The Sub-Committee heard from Trading Standards that:
1. A test purchase exercise carried out on 11/06/21 yielded the sale of alcohol
(two 500ml bottles of alcohol – Tropical and Cherry 10%ABV) to two sixteen
year old volunteers without them being asked for proof of age or to lower their
face masks as part of the age verification process.
2. An inspection of the premises conducted after the test purchase exercise
discovered that there was no Challenge 25 or similar proof of age scheme in
operation and there were no posters or stickers advertising any age
verification scheme. However, posters had now been put up.
3. There was no refusals records system in place.
4. The Application made no mention of controls over the online sales of the
business and precautions needed to prevent online sales to children.
5. There was no CCTV installed inside the premises.
The Sub-Committee heard from Environmental Health that:
1. The Operating Schedule was insufficient to control noise nuisance at the
premises.
2. The hours of operation were too long in a residential area and would impact
upon residents trying to sleep.
3. There was no actual evidence of noise nuisance or litter in connection to the
premises.
The Sub-Committee heard from Public Health that:
1. Public Health had concerns about the use of the name “Irrhysponsible Drinks”
as it would attract younger age groups to drink alcohol by using the name as a
marketing tool.
2. The proposed Operating Schedule was insufficient to uphold the licensing
objectives.

Page 39

Minutes
Page 5 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3. That the City of Wolverhampton Council wanted to attract businesses to the
City that operated correctly and for the public, but the present Application
failed to do this.
The Sub-Committee heard from Councillor Jonathon Crofts that:
1. He was the local Councillor for this ward and his representations included and
were made on behalf of the local residents and the three ward Councillors and
included the written representations submitted by residents.
2. There were concerns regarding littering, parking and potential noise nuisance
from customers and deliveries to the premises.
3. That social media advertising promoted an irresponsible attitude towards the
Licensing Objectives.
4. That, if the Application were to be granted, conditions would be required to
address these concerns.
The Sub-Committee had regard to both the written and oral evidence that had been
presented and attached appropriate weight.
Having considered the views of all concerned, the Sub-Committee decided that the
application for a premises licence should be granted, subject to the modifications and
terms and conditions detailed below in accordance with section 18 of the Licensing
Act 2018.
It was considered by the Licensing Sub-Committee that the following modifications to
the proposed Operating Schedule and additional conditions should be attached in
support of the licensing objectives:

Modifications to the Premises Name
That the premises name be changed to: Irrhysistible Drinks within 14 days from
receipt of decision notice.

A fee of £10.50 would be payable in order to make this change of name.

Modifications to the operating schedule

Supply of alcohol
From: Monday to Saturday 12:00 – 23:00 Sunday 11:00 – 22:00
To:

Monday to Sunday 12:00 – 21:00

Page 40

Minutes
Page 6 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

General – all four licensing objectives
To remove:
I will ensure that any person selling or supplying alcoholic drink under the authority of
a personal licence holder asks for a photo ID proof of age where they have reason to
suspect that the individual may be under 18 years of age.

The prevention of crime and disorder
To add:
An electronic or written incidents log will be maintained at the premises with a record
of all incidents of crime and disorder reported to or by the premises; all ejections of
patrons; any complaints received; fraudulent ID or other items; any faults in the
CCTV system; any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service. The incidents
log will be produced to an officer of a responsible authority upon request. Where a
crime is believed to have been committed, the incident will be reported to West
Midlands Police. The incidents log will be kept for at least 12 months and will be
produced to an officer of a responsible authority upon request.
Any supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be within a sealed
container.

Public Safety
To remove:
No customers will be admitted or permitted to leave when carrying open or sealed
bottles or glasses.
I will ensure that the consumption of alcohol is restricted to the areas identified on the
plan attached to the operating schedule.

The prevention of public nuisance
To add:
Alcohol shall be delivered to a residential or business address only and shall not be
delivered to a person in a public place, e.g. a car park, a street corner, a bus stop
etc.
Signage will be visible at all premises exits to request that customers leave the
premises and area quietly.

Page 41

Minutes
Page 7 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The protection of children from harm

To replace:
From: I will implement a proof of age policy agreed by the police and local authority.
To:

A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where
the only acceptable forms of identification are the following recognised
photographic identification cards: a driving licence, a passport, a military
identification card or a Proof of Age card carrying a ‘PASS’ hologram.

From: I will display any restrictions on the admittance of individuals according to age
(e.g. Children) on or immediately outside the premises.
To:

Under 18s are prohibited from entering the premises and signage advising of
this will be visible at all entrances.

To add:
The premises licence holder shall maintain an accurate and up to date record of all
sales of alcohol made via remotes means. This information shall be made available
to Police and authorised officers when requested.
Where internet/telephone sales are placed, age verification shall be obtained before
the sale takes place. The customer shall be made aware that acceptable forms of
identification may be checked at the point of delivery. Customers placing orders over
the internet shall be asked to verify their age if unable to pay by credit card.
A refusals record shall be kept at the premises which details all refusals to sell
alcohol. This record shall include:





the date and time of the incident
a description of the person seeking to buy alcohol
the name of the staff member who refused the sale
the reason the sale was refused

All entries must be made within 24 hours of the refusal. The record must be made
available for inspection when requested by an officer of a Responsible Authority.
Records shall be kept for at least 12 months.
Where a delivery is made by the premises staff or by staff employed directly by the
company:



a refusals log shall be maintained by delivery drivers who are unable to deliver
age restricted goods, due to the failure of age identification or if the recipient is
believed to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs
delivery staff shall be over 18 years of age

Page 42

Minutes
Page 8 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Where a delivery driver has concerns further to child protection at any address to
which alcohol has been delivered these concerns shall be made known to the
premises licence holder with a minimum of delay whereupon the premises licence
holder shall report the matter to Wolverhampton’s Emergency Duty Team.
All delivery address labels must state that the package must not be delivered to a
person under 18 years of age. All transactions requiring age verification via your
specified courier are to be documented, detailing the order number, recipient and
delivery address. This document is to be made available to any responsible authority
if requested.
When age-restricted goods are delivered to a customer's address, the person who
takes receipt of the goods must subject to Challenge 25 verification. Where age
verification is required, an original valid photographic identity document must be
provided.
Delivery staff shall have emergency contact numbers for the DPS or the designated
responsible person.
Age verification requirements shall be prominently displayed on the website and in
on all advertising materials including online advertising. There shall be the following
statement on any website through which sales are made: “We operate a Challenge
25 policy and you must be at least 18 years old to purchase alcohol. It is a criminal
offence for anyone under the age of 18 to buy or attempt to buy alcohol. It is also a
criminal offence for anyone to buy or attempt to buy alcohol for persons under the
age of 18. A record is kept of all purchases and attempted purchases. Orders cannot
be collected from the premises.”
All staff, including all delivery drivers, to receive training and refresher training every
six months on their responsibilities with regard to licensing legislation and, in
particular, to underage and proxy sales. Training will also cover Challenge 25 and
conflict management. This training must be documented and produced to an officer
of a responsible authority upon request.

Finally, such conditions as are specified on/or consistent with the operating schedule
will be attached to the licence, together with any mandatory conditions required by
the Act. These conditions are as follows:





The premises shall install and maintain a CCTV system. All entry and exit
points AND all areas that public have access except the toilets will be covered
enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light condition.
The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for
licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on the
premises. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with
date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available
immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the
entire 31-day period.
A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the
CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises is

Page 43

Minutes
Page 9 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

open. This staff member must be able to provide a Police or authorised
council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the absolute
minimum of delay when requested.
 Clear notices will be displayed at all exits requesting patrons to leave the
premises quietly.
 All relevant staff will be trained in the law regarding the sale of alcohol to
underage persons. This training will be documented and made available upon
request of the police or authorised member of the licensing authority.
 All staff shall be trained in
• Challenge 25
• Recognising signs of drunkenness,
• How to refuse service,
• The premises’ duty of care,
• The conditions in force under this licence.





Documented records of training completed shall be kept for each member of
staff. Training shall be regularly refreshed and at no greater than 12 monthly
intervals. Training records shall be made available for inspection upon request
of any RA.
All staff to be trained on the Challenge 25 policy. This training will be
documented and refreshed every 12 months and made available to any
Responsible Authority upon request.
The premises shall display prominent signage indicating at all points of sale
and at the entrance to the premises that the Challenge 25 scheme is in
operation.

A written copy of the decision would be forwarded to all parties forthwith.
All parties had a right of appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of receipt of
the decision.

Page 44

Minutes
Page 10 of 10

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 11

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 15 September 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter

Premises Licence Applicant
Patrick Burke
Allan Roper

Agent
Applicant

Responsible Authorities
Greg Bickerdike
Aimee Taylor

Licensing Authority
West Midlands Police

Employees
Anita Chonk
Donna Cope
Sarah Hardwick
Jas Kaur

Senior Licensing & Compliance Officer
Democratic Services Officer
Senior Solicitor
Democratic Services Officer (Host)

Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Wendy Dalton (Observing)

Page 45

Wednesday, 15 September 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Tracey Homfray, Planning.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Licensing Act 2003 - Application for a Premises Licence in respect of Myla`s
Cocktail Bar, Unit 14 Waterside Industrial Estate, Ettingshall Road,
Wolverhampton, WV2 2RQ
An application for a Premises Licence in respect of Myla’s Cocktail Bar, Unit 14
Waterside Industrial Estate, Ettingshall Road, Wolverhampton, WV2 2RQ was
considered following representations received from the Licensing Authority, West
Midlands Police, Planning and Other Persons.
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and invited all those present to
introduce themselves. All parties did so. He outlined the procedure to be followed
and all parties confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Anita Chonk, Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer provided an outline of the
application. She reported that since the agenda had been published, the Licensing
Authority mediation document at Appendix 3 of the Agenda Pack had now been
agreed and signed.
Mr Patrick Burke, Agent representing the Applicant, Mr Allan Roper, confirmed that
the summary was accurate.
The Chair invited the Applicant to present the application. Mr Patrick Burke did so as
per Appendix 1 of the report. He stated the following:
1. Planning consent had been granted in 2018 for a music studio.
2. Small groups booked the rooms and currently provided their own
refreshments.
3. The purpose of the application was to allow the premises to provide food and
drink, in a controlled manner, to those hiring the premises.
4. The mediation document and revised plan form the Licensing Authority had
been agreed and signed.
5. His client had offered a condition to the Planning Authority but had received
no response from them upon this.
6. It was not clear what West Midlands Police were objecting to.
7. Prior to lockdown, due to Covid-19, the premises had operated without issue.
They had not opened during lockdown so any resident complaints must relate
to a nearby skate park.
8. The applicant was happy to reduce licensable hours so that licensable
activities would cease at 23:00 seven days a week.

Page 46

Wednesday, 15 September 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question Mr Burke and his
client in relation to his submission. Mr Burke responded to questions asked.
The Chair sought legal clarification on the objections submitted by the Planning
Authority.
Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, stated that the representations from the Planning
Authority were not relevant for licensing purposes and that it was the function of the
Planning Authority, not the Licensing Authority, to deal with change of use
considerations.
The Chair invited the Licensing Authority to make representations. Greg Bickerdike,
Licensing Manager, did so as per Appendix 3 of the report. He stated that although
some of his concerns had been alleviated through mediation, he still had concerns
regarding the premises and suggested that, if granted, off sales should be excluded
from the licence and additional conditions should be added.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question the Licensing
Authority in relation to its submission. Greg Bickerdike responded to questions asked
and agreed to produce a list of proposed conditions for all parties to consider.
The Chair invited West Midlands Police (WMP) to make representations. Aimee
Taylor did so as per Appendix 4 of the report. She stated that the mediation between
the Applicant and Licensing Authority had alleviated some of her concerns, but she
still had concerns regarding noise and the sale of alcohol for consumption off the
premises.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question West Midlands
Police in relation to its submission. Miss Taylor responded to questions asked.
Following further questions, Mr Burke agreed that the sale of alcohol for consumption
off the premises would be removed from the licence if granted and confirmed that
licensable activities would only take place inside the premises.
The Chair invited all parties present to make their final address.
Mr Burke, the Applicant’s Agent made a final statement.
Greg Bickerdike, Licensing Manager, presented the additional conditions he would
like added to the licence, if granted, and Mr Burke queried some of the suggestions.
Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, suggested that the hearing be adjourned to allow
the Licensing Authority, West Midlands Police, the Agent and his client sufficient time
to fully consider the proposed conditions.
Members of the Sub-Committee agreed.
Greg Bickerdike, Aimee Taylor, Mr Burke and his client withdrew from the meeting.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 10.44 hours.

Page 47

Minutes
Page 3 of 9

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Hearing reconvened at 11.00 hours.
Greg Bickerdike, Aimee Taylor, Mr Burke and his client returned to the meeting.
Greg Bickerdike outlined the agreement that had been reached between himself,
West Midlands Police, the Agent and Applicant, and stated that he would circulate a
copy of the agreed conditions to all parties.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer, withdrew from the meeting to enable the SubCommittee to determine the matter.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 11.04 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 11.47 hours.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer re-joined the meeting.
The Chair advised all parties of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was read
out by the Senior Solicitor.
Resolved:
The Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee had taken note of all written concerns raised
in respect of the application for a premises licence for Myla’s Cocktail Bar, Unit 14
Waterside Industrial Estate, Ettingshall Road, Wolverhampton WV2 2RQ. They
listened to the arguments of those who had spoken at the hearing, both for and
against the application.
The Sub-Committee had regard to both the written and oral evidence that had been
presented and attached appropriate weight.
The Sub-Committee heard from the Applicant and his legal representative that:
1. The premises currently had planning consent for a music studio.
2. Small groups booked rooms and currently provided their own refreshments.
3. The purpose of the application was to allow the premises to provide food and
drink, in a controlled manner, to those hiring the premises.
4. They had offered a condition to the Planning Authority but had received no
response from them upon this.
5. It was not clear what West Midlands Police were objecting to.
6. Local residents had complained about noise and hours of trading.
7. Prior to lockdown, due to Covid-19, the premises had operated without issue.
They had not opened during lockdown so any complaints must relate to other
premises.
8. The applicant would be content to reduce licensable hours so that licensable
activities would cease at 23:00 seven days a week.

Page 48

Minutes
Page 4 of 9

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Sub-Committee heard from West Midlands Police that:
1. They had made relevant representations in furtherance of the Crime and
Disorder Licensing Objective.
2. They had concerns regarding the lack of conditions on the operating schedule.
The Sub-Committee heard from the Licensing Authority as responsible authority that:
1. They had made relevant representations in furtherance of the Prevention of
Crime and Disorder, Prevention of Public Nuisance, Public Safety, and
Protection of Children from Harm Licensing Objectives.
2. The plan submitted with the application did not suitably explain the layout of
the premises and licensable activities.
3. There was insufficient information within the operating schedule to show how
the applicant would address the Licensing Objectives.
4. Some of the conditions proposed were unenforceable.
5. However, terms had been agreed between the Applicant and the Licensing
Authority as detailed in the report at pages 36 – 38. Further, it is believed off
sales should be excluded from the licence and additional conditions should be
added which were proposed, discussed and agreed between the parties at the
hearing.
The Planning Authority as Responsible Authority were not in attendance at the
hearing, so their written evidence only was considered, and appropriate weight
attached. The evidence stated:
1. Planning consent for a change of use would be required and was unlikely to
be supported.
In their evidence the Planning Authority made no reference to the Licensing
Objectives contained within section 4 Licensing Act 2003 or to how the application
would undermine the Licensing Objectives. Further, it was the function of the
Planning Authority not the Licensing Authority to deal with change of use
considerations. Therefore, the Sub-Committee had disregarded evidence from the
Planning Authority.
The Sub-Committee considered written representations from other persons (local
residents) who were not in attendance. The evidence stated that:
1. They had made relevant representations in furtherance of the Prevention of
Public Nuisance Licensing Objective.
2. That granting the licence would add to the noise pollution already experienced
caused by smoking outside and banging car doors late at night. There was
concern that extended hours, the sale of alcohol and more music would bring
issues and severely impact quality of life for residents in homes on a new
estate nearby.
3. That late night music, alcohol fuelled people, vehicles and alcohol were
definitely not good for a family estate, comprising 300 new homes, with young
children, and would affect the sleep of those who had to get up in the early
hours of the morning for work.

Page 49

Minutes
Page 5 of 9

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4. There were already issues with crime and disorder and safety at the units
where the premises would be located. There had been noise issues already
with people drinking and loud music during the evenings and at night.
5. Also, that public safety and sanity would be affected.
West Midlands Fire Service had not made relevant Representations. However, they
had made recommendations and comments detailed at pages 57- 61 of the report to
the Sub-Committee.
The Sub-Committee could take such steps as it considered appropriate for the
promotion of the Licensing Objectives.
The Sub-Committee were satisfied that with agreed modification the application, if
granted, would not undermine the Licensing Objectives.
The Sub-Committee had considered the evidence presented and had regard to the
application, representations made, guidance issued under section 182 of the
Licensing Act 2003 and the Council’s own Licensing Policy. The Sub-Committee had,
on the balance of probabilities, found that in order to promote the Licensing
Objectives the application for a premises licence should be granted, as applied for,
subject to the terms and conditions detailed below in accordance with section 18 of
the Licensing Act 2003.
It was considered by the Sub-Committee that the following conditions should be
attached in support of the Licensing Objectives:
1. Those conditions agreed between the Applicant and the Licensing Authority as
Responsible Authority and attached to the Report to the Sub-Committee as
follows:
Modifications to the operating schedule
The prevention of crime and disorder
To replace:
From: Staff Training - All staff will be trained on signs of drug abuse both on persons
and how to recognise signs of use on the premises. Training will also be given on
signs of persons drinking to excess. All this training must be recorded on premises
and be made available to responsible authority immediately on request.
Staff will be trained in signs of underage drinking and this will be recorded in the
training book and kept on the premises and can be inspected on request by any
responsible authority.
To: All staff to receive training before their first shift when the premises is open to the
public and refresher training every six months on their responsibilities with regard to
licensing legislation, underage and proxy sales. Training will also cover Challenge
25, conflict management, recognising signs of drunkenness, how to refuse service,
the premises’ duty of care, safe evacuation of the premises, company policies and
reporting procedures, action to be taken in the event of an emergency, including the
preservation of a crime scene and reporting an incident to the emergency services,
the conditions in force under this licence. This training must be documented and
produced to an officer of a responsible authority upon request.

Page 50

Minutes
Page 6 of 9

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

To add:
Alcohol must not be sold less than 30 minutes before the premises' scheduled
closing time.
An electronic or written incidents log will be maintained at the premises with a record
of all incidents of crime and disorder reported to or by the premises; all ejections of
patrons; any complaints received; seizures of drugs, offensive weapons, fraudulent
ID or other items; any faults in the CCTV system; any visit by a relevant authority or
emergency service. The incidents log will be produced to an officer of a responsible
authority upon request. Where a crime is believed to have been committed, the
incident will be reported to the West Midlands Police. The incidents log will be kept
for at least 12 months and will be produced to an officer of a responsible authority
upon request.
Public safety
To add:
The designated premises supervisor shall ensure that tables are cleared of all bottles
and glasses on a regular basis during trading hours to avoid an accumulation of
glassware.
The premises licence holder shall ensure that at all times when the public are
present there is at least one competent and fully trained person able to administer
first aid, that an adequate and appropriate supply of first aid equipment and materials
is available on the premises, and that adequate records are maintained in relation to
the supply of any first aid treatment.
The prevention of public nuisance
To replace:
From: Drinking - No drinking vessels at any time are to be taken beyond the outside
perimeter of the premises and the premises licence holder must ensure notices are
displayed in any designated outside smoking or drinking area to inform patrons of the
restriction.
To: Any supply of alcohol for consumption beyond the outside perimeter of the
premises must be within a sealed container and the premises licence holder must
ensure notices are displayed in any designated outside smoking or drinking area to
inform patrons of the restriction. Open containers of alcohol must be surrendered by
patrons prior to leaving the premises.
To remove:
Wind Down Time – A wind down period will begin 30 minutes before last drinks are
served. This will encourage customers to begin to leave the location as this will
indicate the night is ending. It will also reduce noise leaving the location through the
opening and closing of the main door when customers leave.
The protection of children from harm
To remove:
All staff, WHO ARE NOT PERSONAL LICENSE HOLDERS, working at the premises
involved in the sale of age restricted products including alcohol will receive on-going
training and will be refreshed at least every 6 months. This will be recorded in a staff

Page 51

Minutes
Page 7 of 9

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

training register and will also include a written test of knowledge. The Training
records must be made available to authorised officers of responsible authorities on
request. Records shall be retained at the premises.
2. Those conditions agreed between the Applicant, the Licensing Authority and West
Midlands Police at the hearing on 15 September 2021 as follows:
SEARCH POLICY
A zero tolerance policy to all drugs, with signs placed at key locations informing
patrons of this. These key locations will be all entrance areas, toilets, bar area and
anywhere else the venue feels appropriate.
A clearly visible notice will be placed at each entrance to the premises advising those
attending that it is a condition of entry that customers agree to being searched and
that the police will be informed if anyone is found in possession of controlled
substances or weapons.
A knife arch will be in place on all entrance points and will be used as a condition of
entry into the venue. This knife arch and any knife wands will be maintained in good
working order and if it breaks, West Midlands Police are to be informed and action
taken to repair at the earliest opportunity.
Searching will be a condition of entry if the knife arch indicates that a customer may
be carrying a knife. This is to include all staff, performers, DJ’s and any other
entertainment and entourage.
Search procedure will be as follows: All pockets to be emptied/bags searched, full
body pat down from head to toe and a metal detecting wand will then be used to
scan from head to toe.
There shall be a lockable ‘drugs box’ at the premises to which no member of staff,
except the DPS and/or a single designated role-holder at business, shall have
access. All controlled drugs (or items suspected to be) found at the premises must
be placed in this box as soon as practicable. Whenever this box is emptied, all its
contents must be given to West Midlands Police for appropriate disposal.
The DPS or representative will attend Pubwatch meetings.
At least one Personal Licence Holder will be on the premises when it is open for
licensable activity.
Public Safety:
All staff to be trained in order to carry out a safe evacuation of the premises in an
emergency and training to be implemented on an annual basis. A record of this
training to be kept on the premises for 24 months and be made available to a RA
upon request.
The number of persons permitted in the premises at any one time including staff shall
not exceed West Midlands Fire Risk Assessment, and this number shall be
prominently displayed by each entrance to the premises. The premises licence
holder shall ensure a suitable method of calculating the number of people present
during licensable activities is in place, and bookings are recorded for a period of at
least 12 months.
All staff on duty at the premises shall be trained in the Fire Safety and Evacuation
procedures for the premises and aware of their individual responsibilities.
Documented records of training completed shall be kept for each member of staff.
Training shall be regularly refreshed and at no greater than 6 monthly intervals.

Page 52

Minutes
Page 8 of 9

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Training records shall be made available for inspection upon request by any RA.
A full site check, including internal and external areas to be completed, looking for
any weapons, illegal substances or insecure areas both before and after opening for
business.
Prevention of Public Nuisance:
Deliveries to be conducted not between 23:00 – 05:00 with all deliveries recorded
and records kept for 12 months.
Waste management to be completed during daytime hours, such as emptying the
bottle recycling bins.
3. Off sales shall be excluded from the licence.
4. Licensable hours for the provision of live music, recorded music, anything of a
similar description to live and recorded music or the performance of dance, and
the sale of alcohol shall be 08:00 to 23:00 Monday to Sunday.
5. Opening Hours shall be 08:00 to 23:30 Monday to Sunday.
Finally, such conditions as are specified on/or consistent with the operating schedule
will be attached to the licence, together with any mandatory conditions required by
the Act.
The decision in writing will be sent to all parties forthwith.
All parties have a right of appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of receipt of
this decision in writing.

Page 53

Minutes
Page 9 of 9

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 12

Statutory Licensing SubCommittee
Minutes - 24 September 2021
Attendance
Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
Cllr Phil Page (Chair)
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rita Potter

Premises Licence Applicant
Kuljinder Pahal
Jagdip Pahal
Tajinder Pahal
Leo Charalambides

Applicant
Designated Premises Supervisor
Premises Events Manager
Legal Representative

Responsible Authorities:
Amitabh Singh
Aimee Taylor
Michelle Smith

Licensing Authority
West Midlands Police
Public Health

Other Persons:
Councillor Paul Birch

Employees:
Elizabeth Gregg
Donna Cope
Sarah Hardwick
Jas Kaur

Senior Licensing & Compliance Officer
Democratic Services Officer
Senior Solicitor
Democratic Services Manager (Host)

Page 55

Friday, 24 September 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
There were no apologies for absence.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

3

Licensing Act 2003 - Application for a Premises Licence in respect of Rose
Garden Banqueting Hall, 295 Parkfield Road, Wolverhampton, WV4 6ED
An application for a Premises Licence in respect of Rose Garden Banqueting Hall,
295 Parkfield Road, Wolverhampton, WV4 6ED was considered following
representations received from the Licensing Authority, West Midlands Police, Public
Health and Other Persons.
The Chair welcomed all parties to the hearing and invited all those present to
introduce themselves. All parties did so. He outlined the procedure to be followed
and all parties confirmed that they understood the procedure.
Elizabeth Gregg, Senior Licensing and Compliance Officer, provided an outline of the
application. She highlighted an error on page 4 of the Agenda Pack and noted that
the date the application was received should state 29 July 2021.
Leo Charalambides, Barrister representing the Applicant, Mr Kuljinder Pahal,
questioned the status of Appendix 3 and asked if there were maps for the five
Culminative Impact Zones as he could not find them within the published Statement
of Licensing Policy.
Following a discussion on the matter, it was agreed to continue with the proceedings
and that Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, would provide clarification on the issue
before close of the Hearing.
The Chair invited the Applicant to present the application. Leo Charalambides,
Barrister representing the Applicant, did so as per Appendix 1 of the report. He
stated the following:
1. There was an existing premises licence in place for the ground floor and the
Applicant now wished to extend operations to the mezzanine/first floor area.
2. There would be no overall change to the occupancy restrictions of 600 people
or to the proposed hours of operation.
3. The premises were mainly used as a banqueting hall for weddings.
4. In relation to Cumulative Impact, the City of Wolverhampton Council’s
Statement of Licensing Policy talked about primary activity which for this
premises was food led. The policy further promoted a matrix approach,
supported restaurants, and suggested that they should be allowed to open
until midnight. These premises were only open until 23:00 and alcohol sales
were a minimal part of what the premises did. This type of premises was an

Page 56

Friday, 24 September 2021
Licensing Sub-Committee Minutes

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

exception to none grant under the policy and the responsible authorities had
not objected to that argument.
5. Environmental Health had made no representations and were satisfied with
the Noise Management Plan that was in place.
6. West Midlands Police had withdrawn their representations.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question Mr Charalambides
and his client in relation to his submission. In response to questions asked Mr
Charalambides stated the following:
1. There had been three Temporary Event Notices at the premises in the last
year and no issues had arisen.
2. Additional parking provisions had been agreed with the Planning Authority.
3. The current schedule would be incorporated into the new licence.
4. The premises were not alcohol led.
5. Overparking was not a licensing issue and was being dealt with by the
Planning Authority.
6. Environmental Health were the experts, and they had no concerns regarding
noise.
The Chair invited the Licensing Authority to make representations. Amitabh Singh,
Section Leader Licensing, did so as per Appendix 4 of the report.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question the Licensing
Authority in relation to its submission. No questions were asked.
The Chair invited West Midlands Police (WMP) to make representations. Aimee
Taylor did so as per Appendix 5 of the report. She stated that WMP had not
withdrawn their representations, but the supplementary documents submitted by the
Applicant had alleviated much of their concerns.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question West Midlands
Police in relation to its submission. Miss Taylor responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited Public Health to make representations. Michelle Smith, Principle
Public Health Specialist, did so as per Appendix 6 of the report.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question Public Health in
relation to its submission. Miss Smith responded to questions asked.
The Chair invited Other Persons to make representations. Councillor Paul Birch did
so as per Appendix 7 of the report. He stated the following:
1. His primary concern was noise which had not been adequately addressed by
the applicant.
2. The sound management plan only discussed the exiting of customers and their
vehicles from the venue.
3. The sound emanating from the venue would cause a nuisance to nearby
homes, and residents would complain to him.
4. The application made no reference to preventing the escape of sound noise
from the venue.

Page 57

Minutes
Page 3 of 8

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5. There were no measures taken to attenuate or isolate the noise from recorded
or live music or to take mitigating measures to avoid its occurrence.
6. There had been no attempt in the construction of the building to take any
account of sound isolation and no reference to it in the Noise Management
Plan.
7. The premises did not hold a PPL or PRS licence.
The Chair afforded all parties present the opportunity to question Councillor Paul
Birch in relation to his submission. Councillor Birch responded to questions asked
and stated that Councillor Jas Dehar fully supported his representations.
In response to comments made, Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, confirmed that
PPL and PRS licences were not a matter for consideration, and that members of the
Sub-Committee should only consider the evidence before them, not the possibility of
future issues.
The Chair invited all parties present to make their final address.
Councillor Birch and Mr Charalambides made final statements.
Sarah Hardwick, Senior Solicitor, reported that she had looked at the Statement of
Licensing Policy, and confirmed that the Culminative Impact Policy, containing the
maps, was a separate document and that it would now be made available to the
Applicant and his representative.
Mr Charalambides, for the Applicant, confirmed that provided he was able to see a
copy of the maps he was content for the Licensing Sub-Committee to outline
conclusions drawn, upon the status of Appendix 3 and whether the policy extended
to the premises, in their decision.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer, withdrew from the meeting to enable the SubCommittee to determine the matter.
The Sub-Committee adjourned at 11.45 hours.
The Hearing reconvened at 12.44 hours.
Councillor Page, Councillor Potter, Councillor Inston, the Senior Solicitor and
Democratic Services Officer re-joined the meeting.
The Chair advised all parties of the decision of the Sub-Committee, which was read
out by the Senior Solicitor.
Resolved:
The Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee had taken note of all written concerns raised
in respect of the application for a premises licence for The Rose Garden Banqueting
Hall, 295 Parkfield Road, Wolverhampton WV4 6ED. They had listened to the
arguments of those who had spoken at the hearing, both for and against the
application.

Page 58

Minutes
Page 4 of 8

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Sub-Committee heard from the Applicant and his representative that:
1. The premises consisted of a two storey building, purpose built for use as a
banqueting hall for weddings, parties and events. There was a car parking
surrounding the premises.
2. The premises were near to commercial properties and next to a Health
Centre. There were residential properties opposite the venue and park area to
the rear.
3. In April 2020 the ground floor of the premises only was granted a Premises
Licence subject to conditions. Those conditions, including a Noise
Management Plan, had been complied with. The Applicant now wished to
extend operations to the mezzanine/first floor area.
4. There would be no overall change to occupancy restrictions of 600 people. All
other conditions on the current Premises Licence would be complied with on
grant of this application.
5. The application was submitted following discussions with Environmental
Health and Planning. Environmental Health had made no representations, no
complaints of noise had been reported, and there had been 20 events since
the premises re-opened in July 2021, following Covid-19 restrictions.
6. The premises were within, but on the boundaries of, a Cumulative Impact
Zone. The premises impact on the area had been considered in the April 2020
hearing.
Given that:
a. there was an existing premises licence in place,
b. the application only affected the parts of the already constructed building
not currently in use,
c. there was no change to the proposed hours of operation or capacity limits,
d. there would be proposed extra car parking made available,
e. it was proposed that all conditions on the existing licence would also apply
to this application,
f. the first floor was not previously licenced due to planning issues which had
now been resolved,
g. the premises were a banqueting hall. In relation to Cumulative Impact, the
City of Wolverhampton Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy talked
about primary activity which here was food led. The policy further
promoted a matrix approach, supported restaurants and suggested that
they should be allowed to open until midnight. These premises were only
open until 23:00. Alcohol sales were a minimal part of what the premises
did. This type of premises was an exception to none grant under the policy
and the responsible authorities had not objected to that argument.
It was not considered that the application would have a negative, or any, impact on
the area or the promotion of the Licensing Objectives.
The Sub-Committee heard from the Licensing Authority as Responsible Authority
that:

Page 59

Minutes
Page 5 of 8

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1. They had submitted representations in furtherance of the Prevention of Crime
and Disorder, Prevention of Public Nuisance, Public Safety and the Protection
of Children from Harm licensing objectives.
2. The premises were located within the Dudley Road Cumulative Impact Zone
(CIZ). There was a rebuttable presumption that applications within a C.I.Z
would be refused unless the applicant could demonstrate that there would be
no negative cumulative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives.
3. The current premises licence in place was granted by the Statutory Licensing
Sub-Committee on condition that the licence should only apply to the ground
floor of the premises, specifically excluding the first floor area. The application
in question sought to licence the first floor of the premises.
The Sub-Committee heard from West Midlands Police as Responsible Authority that:
1. They had submitted representations in furtherance of the Prevention of Crime
and Disorder licensing objectives.
2. The premises were situated in the CIZ however there was no mention of what
steps the applicant would take to ensure they did not contribute to the impact
zone.
3. In written submissions it was confirmed that the conditions outlined under the
Prevention of Crime and Disorder heading, were not enforceable and
therefore could not be managed.
4. West Midlands Police had not withdrawn their representations. However,
documentation submitted as part of the application process had resulted in
police concerns being reduced, and verbally, at this hearing, exceptional
circumstances under Cumulative Impact, had been addressed.
The Sub-Committee heard from Public Health as Responsible Authority that:
1. They had submitted representations in furtherance of the Prevention of Crime
and Disorder, Prevention of Public Nuisance, Public Safety and the Protection
of Children from Harm licensing objectives.
2. The premises were located within the Dudley Road Cumulative Impact Zone
(CIZ). There was a rebuttable presumption that applications within a C.I.Z
would be refused unless the applicant could demonstrate that there would be
no negative cumulative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives.
3. The current premises licence was granted by the Statutory Licensing SubCommittee on condition that the licence would only apply to the ground floor of
the premises, specifically excluding the first floor area. The application in
question sought to licence the first floor of the premises, contrary to the
conditions of licence.
The Sub-Committee heard from other persons, (Councillors Paul Birch was in
attendance at the hearing), that:
1. They had submitted representations in furtherance of the Prevention of Public
Nuisance and Protection of Children from Harm licensing objectives.

Page 60

Minutes
Page 6 of 8

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2. The representation was in respect to the music licence. The primary concern
was noise which had not been adequately addressed by the applicant.
3. The premises had applied for licensing hours 11.00 am to 11.00pm, 7-days a
week for an alcohol and entertainment licence to include recorded music, live
performance, and dancing on the ground and this was for the ground and upper
floor. The premises argued that it had a sound management plan in operation,
however, the sound management plan only discussed the exiting of customers
and their vehicles from the venue.
4. The sound emanating from the venue would cause a nuisance to nearby
homes, as the application made no reference to preventing the escape of sound
noise from the venue. There were no measures taken to attenuate or isolate the
noise from recorded or live music or to take mitigating measures to avoid its
occurrence.
5. The premises construction was a steel framework and glass. There had been
no attempt in the construction of the building to take any account of sound
isolation and no reference to it in the noise management plan.
6. Consideration had been given to how it could be established whether noise was
likely to be a concern. Noise had no adverse effect so long as the exposure did
not cause any change in behaviour, attitude, or other physiological responses of
those affected by it.
7. With increased exposure to noise, it caused changes in behaviour and attitude
and would start to have an adverse effect, and consideration needed to be
given to mitigating and minimising those effects. Details of the effects of
differing levels of noise exposure had been provided.
8. Children were at risk if their sleep was interrupted. NHS advice upon creating a
good sleeping environment for children had been provided.
9. Who would residents call if there were noise complaints at night. Reference was
made to guidance principles relating to access to remedy.
10. There had been 20 events since the premises re-opened in July 2021,
following Covid-19 restrictions however, the premises were only half filled and if
you elevated activity to the first floor it would increase the potential for issues.
The West Midlands Fire Authority had not made a relevant representation. However,
the applicant had entered into a voluntary undertaking with them which was
supplementary to the application and dealt with public safety.
The City of Wolverhampton Council had five Special Policies or Cumulative Impact
Zones (CIZ’s)
Within the City of Wolverhampton Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy,
Cumulative Impact was defined as the potential impact upon the promotion of the
licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one
area.
The special policy would only be overridden in exceptional circumstances. The effect
of this special policy was that applications for new premises licences within the area
which were likely to add to the existing Cumulative Impact, would be refused
following relevant representations. This presumption could be rebutted by the

Page 61

Minutes
Page 7 of 8

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

applicant if they could show that their application would have no negative Cumulative
Impact.
Exceptional circumstances may include: consultation with and meeting requirements
of responsible authorities, an appropriate corporate social responsibility policy,
community contribution to offset impact, community support, and alcohol sales
ancillary to business activity. Evidence had been provided that the primary function of
the premises was food led, a restaurant, and that alcohol sales formed a small part of
the premise’s activity.
Having considered the City of Wolverhampton Council’s Statement of Licensing
Policy and associated Cumulative Impact policy the Sub-Committee were satisfied
that Cumulative Impact applied and therefore the Sub-Committee needed to consider
whether the application for a new premises licences was likely to add to the existing
Cumulative Impact and if so, whether the applicant had been able to rebut the
presumption of non-grant and show that their application would have no negative
Cumulative Impact.
The Sub-Committee considered the views of all concerned together with all relevant
information before them and were satisfied that sufficient evidence had been
provided by the applicant to show that their application would have no negative
Cumulative Impact and that exceptional circumstances existed and therefore, these
premises were an exception to non-grant under the Statement of Licensing policy.
The Sub-Committee therefore determined that, in accordance with s18 LA 2003, the
premises licence was granted, as applied for.
Finally, such conditions as were specified on/or consistent with the operating
schedule would be attached to the licence, together with any mandatory conditions
required by the Act.
All parties would receive a copy of the decision in writing forthwith.
All parties had a right of appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of receipt of
the decision in writing.

Page 62

Minutes
Page 8 of 8

This report is PUBLIC

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 13

Statutory Licensing
Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Cumulative Impact Policy Review

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director for City Housing and
Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Paul
Dosanjh
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

None

Service Manager: Trading Standards
& Licensing Act
01902 556056
Paul.Dosanjh@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for decision:
The Statutory Licensing Committee is recommended to:
1. Authorise the postponement of the review of the current Cumulative Impact Policy until
2023 to allow for sufficient time, after the pandemic, to collect meaningful evidence to
enable an effective review of the policy.

Page 63

This report is PUBLIC

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To obtain the Statutory Licensing Committee’s approval for a postponement to the review
of the Cumulative Impact Policy under the Licensing Act 2003.

2.0

Background

2.1

Cumulative Impact Policies (CIP) were introduced as a tool for licensing authorities to
limit the growth of licensed premises in problem areas (Cumulative Impact Zones-CIZ).
The policies do not arise directly out of the Act but from the statutory guidance issued
under it by section 182.

2.2

The CIP policy, attached at Appendix 1, is revisited every three years and was last
renewed in 2018 (until 2021) and is reviewable independently of the overarching
Statement of Licensing Policy at Appendix 2.

2.3

The CIP is triggered when a responsible authority makes a representation in relation to a
licensing application which then prompts a Licensing Committee hearing.

2.4

The effect of the CIP is to create a rebuttable presumption that applications in respect of
the sale or supply of alcohol and/or Late Night Refreshment for new Premises Licences,
Club Premises Certificates or Provisional Statements and applications for variations of
existing Premises Licences, Club Premises Certificates where the premises are situated
in the Cumulative Impact Zone will be refused.

2.5

To rebut this presumption the applicant would be expected to show through the operating
schedule, and where appropriate with supporting evidence, that the operation of the
premises will not add to the cumulative impact already being experienced. Crucially this
policy does not act as an absolute prohibition on granting new licences in the Cumulative
Impact Zones and nor is it used to revoke an existing licence or certificate and will not be
applicable to the review of existing licences.

2.6

At present, the policy of this authority identifies five cumulative impact zones: the City
Centre, Bilston, Wednesfield, Dudley Road and the Avion Centre.

2.7

The Guidance specifies four steps to be followed in considering whether to adopt a
Cumulative Impact Policy:


Identification of serious and chronic concern from a responsible Authority or
representatives of residents about nuisance or disorder.



Assessment of causes.

Page 64

This report is PUBLIC

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]


Where it can be demonstrated that disorder and nuisance is arising as a result of
customers of licensed premises, identifying the area from which problems are arising
and the boundaries of that area.



Adopting a policy about future licence applications from that area.

3.0

Proposal

3.1

Whilst the policy is due for renewal in 2021 the effect of pandemic on the hospitality trade
generally and the night time economy in particular has posed a number of practical
problems.

3.2

The pandemic has adversely affected both footfall and visitor numbers in both the City
Centre and commercial areas in the cumulative impact zone areas. Business, shops and
hospitality venues closed or restricted their customer numbers. This disruption has
resulted in an atypical reduction in crime and anti-social behaviour and disorder.

3.3

The gradual easing of lockdown has led to a phased increase in visitor numbers with all
licensed premises having a smaller number cap than is ordinarily required.

3.4

As the City emerges from the last lockdown our Police colleagues say that “..crime
figures are now reaching those seen in 2019 and demand for service is at a sustained
high level.”

3.5

It is the judgement of the Licensing Services and the Police that the disruption to ‘normal
business’ during 2020 and 2021 affects our ability to analyse, review and predict future of
the night time economy and the effect or not of licensed premises upon it. The Council
and its partners require more time to establish whether the policy is needed or requires
any amendments such as to the number and scope of the CIZ’s. This can be better
established once the relevant information is available.

3.6

Additionally, the Statement of Licensing Policy (SoLP) is due for renewal in 2023. The
authority is required to produce a SoLP and our current document, issued in 2020,
makes reference to the current CIP.

3.7

By delaying the CIP until 2023 we will hopefully have a better evidential base in terms of
crime, disorder, the number and type of licensed premises to produce a both considered
CIP and the overarching SoLP that better reflects the actual situation in the City and our
approach to it.

3.8

The existing CIP and SoLP would continue to effect until that date and there would no
adverse effect on the administration and regulation of licensed premises

Page 65

This report is PUBLIC

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]
4.0

Financial implications

4.1

There are no financial implications arising from this recommendation.
[SB/01112021/R]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

Advice has been sought from Legal Services and their view is that paragraph 13.31 of
the s182 Guidance states that once adopted “special policies “should be reviewed
regularly to assess whether they are needed. This leaves it open to each individual
Council. Based upon this Legal services see no issue with delaying the review until 2023
as this would coincide with a review of the Statement of Licensing Policy which has to be
undertaken every 3 years.
[ JB/26102021/D]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

The recommendation to postpone raises no equalities implications

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

The recommendation to postpone raises no climate change and environmental; Human
Resources; Corporate Landlord; Health and Wellbeing or Covid-19 implications

8.0

Background papers

8.1

Statutory Licensing Committee 6 June 2018 – Review of Cumulative Impact Policy [
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s75857/Review%20of%20Cumulativ
e%20Impact%20Policy.pdf ]
Licensing Committee 25 March 2015
Licensing Committee 12 November 2014

9.0

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1 – Cumulative Impact Policy
Appendix 2 – Statement of Licensing Policy

Page 66

APPENDIX 1
Official

Total Recorded Crime, Violence,
Public Safety Welfare and Antisocial Behaviour within the
Cumulative Impact Zones in
Wolverhampton
V1
June 2017

28 January 2014

Official

Page 67

Official

Page 2

Contents

1.0

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................3

2.0

Analysis...................................................................................................................................................5
2.1

City Centre Cumulative Impact Zone..........................................................................................................................5

2.2

Dudley Road Cumulative Impact Zone.......................................................................................................................8

2.3

Avion Centre Proposed Cumulative Impact Zone.....................................................................................................10

2.4

Bilston High Street Proposed Cumulative Impact Zone............................................................................................12

2.5

Wednesfield High Street Proposed Cumulative Impact Zone...................................................................................14

Document Control
Version
1.0
2.0

Date

Author

Department

Comments

01st June 2017

CSP Analyst

Partnerships

Completed

CSP Analyst

Partnerships

Updated figures from version 1.0

29th January
2018

Copyright & Restrictions
Any maps within this report are reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of
Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead
to prosecution or civil proceedings. West Midlands Police Licence No. 100022494 (2018)

Official

Page 68

Official

Page 3

1.0 Introduction
The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of total recorded crime, with a focus on violence, within the five
cumulative impact zones in the City of Wolverhampton. Public safety welfare and anti-social behaviour data is also
included for each zone.
The areas outlined in red on the map below show the cumulative impact zones currently in operation within the City of
Wolverhampton:

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
West Midlands Police Licence No. 100022494 (2018)

Official

Page 69

Official

Page 4

Methodology
Data used in this report is sourced from West Midlands Police Crimes system. All data refers to the date on which an
offence was recorded, and was downloaded for the period 1st October 2016 to 30th September 2017. In previous reports,
data around the involvement of alcohol was used, but as this relied on the accurate use of markers and was often found
to not present a true picture of offending, this report will use offences that fall within the category of Violence instead to
assess performance within the cumulative impact zones.
For the City Centre cumulative impact zone only, offences that were committed during the night time economy (NTE)
were determined by comparing the Date and Time First Committed to the Date and Time Last Committed for offences
committed between the hours of 21:00hrs and 06:00hrs the following morning, or where the offence times fell just
outside this range but the majority was within the range.
Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) and public safety welfare (PSW) data is sourced from the OASIS command and control
system, where all logs finalised as anti-social behaviour or public safety welfare and recorded as first occurring between
1st October 2016 to 30th September 2017 were retrieved for analysis.

Official

Page 70

Official

2.0 Analysis
2.1 City Centre Cumulative Impact Zone

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
West Midlands Police Licence No. 100022494 (2017)

As would be expected in a city town centre there is a high transient population who frequent the area for varied reasons,
working, shopping or for the entertainment venues. A total of 5 years data has been collated from within the CIZ in the
town centre. It shows that the Total Recorded Crime (TRC) reported within the area has remained stable throughout this
period with a slight increase from 14/15 to 15/16. A 10% reduction has then followed in 16/17 from the previous year.

Total Recorded Crime(TRC)

Year
1st October 2012 30th September 2013
1st October 2013 30th September 2014
1st October 2014 30th September 2015
1st October 2015 30th September 2016
1st October 2016- 30th
September 2017

Official

Within
Cumulative
Impact Zone

Within CIZ
during Night
Time Economy

998

Violence

% Within CIZ
during NTE

Within
Cumulative
Impact Zone

Within CIZ
during Night
Time Economy

% Within CIZ
during NTE

365

37%

300

185

62%

Total

896

317

35%

310

182

59%

Recor

914

359

39%

300

183

61%

ded

972

371

38%

310

186

60%

871

335

38%

315

160

50.8%

Page 71

Crime
(TRC)

Official

Page 6

Violence
Violence has remained stable in Wolverhampton Town Centre over the 5 year data period. Violence recordings in
2016/17 have seen an increase from the previous year by 1.6% and also the highest volume of incidents over the 5 year
period.
In 2015/16 there were 310 violent offences in the CIZ area (not NTE). The CIZ area saw the same pattern of offences
making up the picture of violent crime in this area as the previous year. 86 were Assault Occasion ABH (27.7%),
Gorgeous Bar and Yates Wine Lodge having the highest number of offences. Common Assault accounted for 46
offences (14.8%), with Yates Wine Lodge and Gorgeous Bar again being the highest locations. There were 36 Malicious
Wounding offences (11.6%), with Gorgeous Bar having the most offences. These 3 crime types equal 54.1% (168) of
the violent offences in the CIZ area for the year.
In 2016/17, there have been a total of 315 violent offences recorded within the CIZ area (not NTE). The top offence
recorded was Assault Occasion ABH (29.2%). Common Assault accounted for 12.4% of the total violence recordings
followed by Malicious Wounding at 8%. Again, following on from the previous year, the hotspot locations of offences can
be seen in Gorgeous Bar and Yates Wine Lodge.

Violence (NTE)
The NTE is between 21:00hrs and 06:00hrs.
There has been a 14% reduction in violence within the night time economy with 186 offences in 2015/16 down to 160
offences in 2016/17.

Official

Page 72

Official

Page 7

The table below shows anti-social behaviour (ASB) and public safety welfare (PSW) levels within the cumulative impact
zone during the last 3 years analysed:

Antisocial Behaviour
Year
1st October 2014 30th September 2015
1st

October 2015 30th September 2016

1st

October 2016September 2017

30th

Public Safety Welfare

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within CIZ
during
Night Time
Economy

% Within
CIZ during
NTE

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within CIZ
during
Night Time
Economy

107

51

47.60%

442

189

42.70%

241

99

41%

1129

517

45.80%

223

87

40%

1222

423

34.60%

% Within
CIZ during
NTE

The table shows the figures for ASB and PSW within the CIZ area for a 3 year period. It can be seen that there is an
increase in ASB from 2014/15 to 2015/16 which has been followed by a decrease in ASB in 2016/17 by 7.5% from the
previous year. An increase in PSW recordings can be seen in 2016/17 by 8.3%, however; a decrease the NTE PSW
recordings has been seen since the previous year with a decrease of 18%.

Official

Page 73

Official

Page 8

2.2 Dudley Road Cumulative Impact Zone

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
West Midlands Police Licence No. 100022494 (2018)

The Dudley Road is one of the main arterial routes in the Wolverhampton Borough. It runs from the City Centre to the
North toward the Dudley Borough boundary. It is densely populated with retail premises such as jewellers, grocers and
clothing shops that are generally owned and operated by members of the Asian community. A number of these stores
have off licences.

The cumulative impact zone sits within the Blakenhall Ward, and is also situated within the All Saints and Blakenhall red
Priority Area. Issues identified during Priority Area work include business crime, prostitution, illegal immigration and
domestic violence.

Official

Page 74

Official

Page 9

The table below shows levels of total recorded crime (TRC), violent crime, anti-social behaviour and public safety welfare
within the cumulative impact zone, broken down by year, since October 2011:

Total
Recorded
Crime

Violence

AntiSocial
Behaviour

Public
Safety
Welfare

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

124

39

26

178

October 2012 30th September 2013

139

48

29

188

1st October 2013 30th September 2014

105

39

56

209

114

51

24

207

October 2015 30th September 2016

137

53

27

248

1st October 2016- 30th
September 2017

109

52

51

164

Year
1st October 2011 30th September 2012
1st

1st

October 2014 30th September 2015

1st

TRC in 2016/17 has seen a decrease of 20% in offences compared to the previous year. The highest crime type was
Assault Occasion ABH (14%), followed by Burglary Other Building (8.3%).
Since the same period in 2015/16, ASB has increased from 27 recorded offences; up to 51 recorded offences an
increase of 88%.11 reports (21.2%) of ASB incidents were located at Phoenix Park.
However; PSW has decline from 248 offences down to 164, a decrease of 151%. 11 reports of ASB were located at
Phoenix Park.

Official

Page 75

Official

Page 10

2.3 Avion Centre Proposed Cumulative Impact Zone

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
West Midlands Police Licence No. 100022494 (2017)

The Avion Centre in Whitmore Reans sits across two wards; Park and St Peter’s. It is also situated within one of the red
Priority Areas and was highlighted as one of the main issues for this area. Drug dealing and nuisance drinking along with
associated anti-social behaviour have been highlighted as problematic by both residents and agencies. There are both
off licences and public house premises within the vicinity, as well as a bookmaker where issues are often reported.

Official

Page 76

Official

Page 11

The table below shows levels of total recorded crime (TRC), violent crime, public safety welfare and anti-social behaviour
within the cumulative impact zone, broken down by year, since October 2011:

Total
Recorded
Crime

Year

Violence

AntiSocial
Behaviour

Public
Safety
Welfare

Within
Cumulative
Impact Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

60

29

28

159

77

24

44

127

60

22

43

129

73

22

21

150

98

39

32

134

89

45

48

138

1st October 2011 30th September 2012
1st October 2012 30th September 2013
1st October 2013 30th September 2014
1st October 2014 30th September 2015
1st October 2015 30th September 2016
1st October 2016- 30th
September 2017

TRC within the period 2016/17 has decreased by 9% since the same period the previous year, 98 offences down to 89
offences. The highest recording offences were Assault Occasion ABH (13.5%), Theft from Shop or Stall (12.5%),
followed by Common Assault (11.2%).
Violence has increased by 6 (15%) offences over the 12 month data period resulting in the highest number of offences
recorded over the last five year period.

ASB has increased by 16 incidents (66.6%) compared to the previous 12 month period. 30 of the 48 ASB incidents
recorded in 2016/17 occurred in the Avion Centre Bargate Drive.

There were 138 incidents of PSW recorded in the CIZ area during 2016/17. This is an increase of 4 (3%) incidents
compared to the previous year.

Official

Page 77

Official

Page 12

2.4 Bilston High Street Proposed Cumulative Impact Zone

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
West Midlands Police Licence No. 100022494 (2017)

The Bilston High Street cumulative impact zone is situated within the Bilston East ward in the South East of the Borough.
The area is mostly devoted to retail, with a large indoor and outdoor market that is visited by people from outside the
area. There is a large Morrison’s supermarket within the zone, and also off licences and public houses in the vicinity.

Official

Page 78

Official

Page 13

The table below shows levels of total recorded crime (TRC), violent crime, public safety welfare and anti-social behaviour
within the Bilston High Street cumulative impact zone, broken down by year, since October 2011:

Total
Recorded
Crime

Violence

Anti
Social
Behaviour

Public
Safety
Welfare

Within
Cumulative
Impact Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

1st October 2011 30th September 2012

468

64

58

406

1st October 2012 30th September 2013

514

86

91

391

432

67

94

371

October 2014 30th September 2015

381

84

78

425

1st October 2015 30th September 2016

481

98

75

429

618

107

100

439

Year

1st

October 2013 30th September 2014

1st

1st

October 2016 –
September 2017

30th

Total recorded crime within Bilston High Street cumulative impact zone has increased by 137 (28.5%) offences when
compared to previous 12 months. The highest crime type within the CIZ was Theft from Shop/Stall, there 186 offences
in the 12 months, 2016/17. 71 of these offences occurred at Morrisons, Bankfield Road, 76 at Iceland, Church Street.

Violence has increased from 98 in 2015/16 to 107 in 2016/17 resulting in an increase of 9.2% and again being the
highest count during the last five year period.
There has been an increase in ASB incidents within the CIZ when compared to the previous 12 months. The numbers of
incidents have risen by 25 (33%).
Public safety welfare has been stable within the CIZ over the past 5 years. A slight increase has been noted in the
recording during 2016/17 of 10 (2.3%).

Official

Page 79

Official

Page 14

2.5 Wednesfield High Street Proposed Cumulative Impact Zone

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
West Midlands Police Licence No. 100022494 (2017)

The Wednesfield High Street cumulative impact zone sits on the Bentley Bridge Neighbourhood in the Wednesfield
South Ward, and covers both the High Street area and Bentley Bridge. The High Street contains a number of retail
stores as well as public houses, while Bentley Bridge has an entertainment area comprising leisure facilities, restaurants
(licensed) and fast food retailers. On the other side are large retail units, and a Sainsbury’s supermarket. While the
resident population within the cumulative impact zone is low, there are residential areas close by to the North.

Official

Page 80

Official

Page 15

The table below shows levels of total recorded crime (TRC), violent crime, public safety welfare and anti-social behaviour
within the cumulative impact zone, broken down by year, since October 2011:

Total
Recorded
Crime

Violence

Anti
Social
Behaviour

Public
Safety
Welfare

Within
Cumulative
Impact Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

Within
Cumulative
Impact
Zone

452

63

82

325

448

53

75

302

October 2013 30th September 2014

457

41

88

297

1st October 2014 30th September 2015

472

63

104

318

566

61

83

324

484

74

166

375

Year
1st October 2011 30th September 2012
1st

October 2012 30th September 2013

1st

1st

October 2015 30th September 2016

1st October

2016 –
September 2017

30th

TRC within the cumulative impact zone has decreased by 82 (14.5%) offences when comparing this 12 month period to
last year. There were 254 Theft from Shop/Stall offences, 104 occurred in Boots, Bentley Bridge Retail Park with 98
offences at Sainsbury’s, Kenmare Way.

Violence offences in this CIZ have remained stable throughout the 5 year period studied. However; an increase has
been seen during the last 12 months up to 74 offences, an increase of 21% from the previous 12 months.

An increase in ASB can be seen in this area when comparing 2015/16 with the current year, 83 incidents increase in the
current year.
There were 375 incidents recorded as PSW; this is an increase on last year’s figures of 50 (15.7%) incidents.

Official

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF
LICENSING POLICY
COMMENCING APRIL 2020

Page 83

1|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy
2020 to 2025
CONTENTS
Introduction (Statement of Licensing Policy)

4

Purpose and Scope of the Licensing policy

6

Vision Statement

7

The Licensing Objectives

8

•
•
•
•

Prevention of Crime and Disorder
Public Safety
The prevention of public nuisance
The protection of children from harm
Additional Considerations

• Public Health
Operating Schedule Considerations

13

Duration of review

14

Consultation

15

Partnership Approach – Responsible Authorities

16

• Environmental health
• Fire – West Midlands Fire Service
• Health and Safety
• Home Office
• Licensing Authority
• Planning
• Police – West Midlands Police (WMP)
• Public Health
• Safeguarding Children
• Trading Standards
Applications (General) Making an Application

22

• Directly from the council
• From the Government Website GOV.UK
• Online Applications
Operating Schedules

22

•
•
•

Principles of Good Management of Premises
General Information
Licensing best practice measures

Page 84

23
24
29

2|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Special Policies and Initiatives

33

• Cumulative Impact Zones
• Special Consideration Areas
• The Matrix Approach
Delegations

43

List of Responsible Authorities

45

Conditions Applicable to Licences – 3 methods of application

48

•
•
•

Mandatory conditions
Operating schedule conditions
Conditions applied by the Licensing Sub-Committee

Table of Suggested Conditions
•
•
•
•

49

Prevention of Crime and Disorder
Public Safety
The Prevention of Public Nuisance
The Protection of Children from Harm

Enforcement and Reviews
•
•
•

73

Prosecution of breaches
Reviews of licence
Expedited Reviews (The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006)

Annual Fees/Licence Suspensions for non-payment

76

….
….

Page 85

3|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

INTRODUCTION (statement of licensing policy)
2020 sees the 15-year anniversary of the implementation of the Licensing Act 2003
The changes have brought new opportunities, flexibilities and freedoms to businesses
across the city, balanced by responsibilities and accountability to their local
communities, under a regime administered by the council with a duty to promote the
licensing objectives.
We are mindful of the balance that we have to strike between the needs of our
residents and those of our business community, which may sometimes conflict. We
must ensure our residents can peacefully enjoy their homes and environment whilst
also encouraging responsible and positive investment and economic growth.
We are committed to working in partnership with our Responsible Authorities to
provide a responsive licensing approach to those who live, visit and work in
Wolverhampton. We hope that this revised Statement of Licensing Policy is clear and
easy to understand and reflects the needs of all our communities. We have worked
with all of the responsible authorities, councillors and residents in compiling our new
Statement of Licensing Policy and thank them for contributing their extensive
experience and knowledge in formulating this Statement, as we aspire together to
enhance our reputation as a safe and vibrant City, that welcomes responsible
drinkers.Q2
The relentless demand for licences, has required us to balance the competing
aspirations which inevitably arise. Whilst continuing to promote the growth of the local
economy we cannot allow the city to become a licence free for all, and conscious of
our responsibilities to all sectors of the city we are an essential buffer to residential
interests and concerns.
Through this revised policy we intend to continue to apply this balance in a fair and
transparent manner in the interests of all. We recognise the significant contribution
that licensed premises can make to the city and acknowledge that the majority of these
premises are well run businesses.
Alongside our partners, we encourage and support the Responsible Authorities to use
the control mechanisms within the Licensing Act to regulate the irresponsible actions
of a few utilising the review process.
Responsible businesses are sensitive to the communities in which they operate and
seek to minimise any negative impact they may have on their neighbours. We will
continue to work alongside responsible owners who fulfil their responsibilities in
promoting the licensing objectives. We also encourage those businesses who
promote responsible licensing by supporting their commitment and accountability
through membership of organisations such as Pub Watch.
With continuing financial pressure on the council and the other Responsible
Authorities, the partnership approach is increasingly important. Our joint working with
West Midlands Police, Public Health, Trading Standards and the Home Office in

Page 86

4|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

particular, as well as with the other responsible authorities lies at the heart of our work,
whilst our engagement with local businesses and residents continues to flourish.
City of Wolverhampton Council continues to consider the empowerment of individuals,
families and local communities at the heart of decisions which determine local
licensing. We remain committed to that aim and I believe that this policy will continue
to build on our success in promoting our City for the benefit of businesses, residents
and visitors.
The Council’s vision is that Wolverhampton will be a place where people come from
far and wide to work, shop, study and enjoy our vibrant nightlife. It will be transformed
while still retaining all of those attributes that give our city its unique identity. A thriving,
international, ‘smart city’ renowned for its booming economy and skilled workforce,
rich diversity and a commitment to fairness and equality that ensures everyone has
the chance to benefit from success.
That success is based on collaboration across the city and beyond, using an approach
that recognises we are far more effective when we pool our resources and ideas and
work together creating a place where we all play our part in creating a confident,
buzzing city that’s synonymous with ambition, innovation and inclusion.
This is The Council’s fifth Statement of Licensing Policy under the provisions of the
Licensing Act 2003. Since the introduction of the first policy in 2005 the City has
changed, and the night time economy has developed significantly. The Licensing
Authority has a much more comprehensive knowledge of our local issues and this
policy is being produced to be much more responsive and relevant to the Council’s
local areas, problem parts and more focussed on what we are trying to achieve.
The policy aims to promote a positive pattern of licensing and move from an alcohol
led culture dominated by a mostly younger age group to create a greater cultural
diversity with a wider family friendly age mix where people will feel safe and
businesses can continue to thrive.
The role of this policy is both regulatory and advisory. The policy sets out management
standards and controls that will help to achieve the Council’s vision and promote the
licensing objectives and encourages applicants to consider these in their operating
schedules when making new applications or variations to existing applications.
The Licensing Authority will give consideration to these standards and controls when
making decisions on applications and reviews. Applicants should refer to the council's
licensing policy so that their applications are less likely to attract representations.
The policy also informs operators on the Licensing Authority’s views on enforcement
and what to expect. The Licensing Authority will establish partnership opportunities
with all interested groups and agencies including the licensed trade.
The Licensing Authority believes that local improvements in standards and reduction
in crime and disorder and antisocial behaviour will come as a result of multi-agency
partnerships and initiatives.

Page 87

5|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

The Council’s vision seeks to support and promote a successful and vibrant City and
encourage a variety of uses whilst avoiding over-concentration of particular uses (e.g.
night time uses) where this use may erode local amenity.

PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF THE LICENSING POLICY
This is the fifth Statement of Licensing Policy (SLP) issued by Wolverhampton City
Council (the Council) in accordance with the requirements of Section 5 of the Licensing
Act 2003 (the Act).
This statement has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Licensing
Act 2003 (the Act) and having regard to Guidance issued by the Home Office under
Section 182 of the act. The licensing authority is City of Wolverhampton Council. The
purpose of this statement is to promote the licensing objectives and set out a general
approach to making licensing decisions.
The discretion of the licensing authority in relation to applications under the act are
only engaged if ‘relevant representations’ are made by other persons or responsible
authorities. This policy will inform the approach to be taken when deciding applications
and imposing conditions when relevant representations are received.
It is also intended as a guide for applicants as to what to include in their operating
schedules, always recognising that if no representations are received, the application
must be granted.
The licensing authority must carry out its functions with a view to promoting the
licensing objectives and this policy is framed around those objectives. Each application
will be given individual consideration on its merit.
This was approved by Full Council on 1 April 2020 and effective as of 3 April 2020.
The Statement sets out in broad terms, how the Council will implement the Act during
this five-year period, taking into account the Regulations and Guidance issued by
Government. We are under a legal obligation to review this statement every five years.

Page 88

6|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

VISION STATEMENT
Through this policy, we seek to unite the relationships with the Responsible
Authorities, the Businesses that we licence and the people that we represent. A
difficult task but one that we believe that we can achieve together.
Alcohol is an integral part of most peoples lives and connects many people in social
situations. Alcohol in itself is not bad, but the way that it is sometimes used, can be.
Wolverhampton City Council, through this policy do not aim to secure exclusion and
want to include responsible alcohol sales and usage. This requires all premises to
work together to promote responsible alcohol sales and be a part of the network which
seeks to improve our area for all.
We recognise that the majority of licensed premises operate responsibly. We believe
that the minority should not undermine the majority as we recognise that this
encourages problem premises.
Through careful selection and inclusion of alcohol licenced premises, we want to
encourage well run premises to make the best of their businesses whilst dissuading
or excluding undesirable premises.
We all have a right and a duty to create the city that we want to see and believe that
this can be accomplished if we all work together to achieve this.

Page 89

7|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

THE LICENSING OBJECTIVES
The Statement of Licensing Policy focuses on the four Licensing Objectives which will
be promoted by the Council when undertaking its duties under the Licensing Act 2003.
This will be the focus for all decision making.
The Licensing Objectives are:
•
•
•
•

The prevention of crime and disorder.
Public safety.
The prevention of public nuisance.
The protection of children from harm.

The aim of the licensing process is to regulate licensable activities so as to promote
the licensing objectives.
Each of the four objectives is of equal importance and will be considered in relation to
matters centred on the premises or within the control of the licensee and the effect
which the operation of that business will have on the area surrounding their location.

Prevention of Crime and Disorder
We are committed to reducing Crime and Disorder across the city and ensuring that
Wolverhampton is a safe place.
National and local crime statistics and research indicate that alcohol is often a
significant contributory factor to levels of crime and disorder. Different premises
impact upon the night time economy in different ways according to their style and
characteristic. Nightclub venues contribute disproportionately highly to alcohol related
violent crime in comparison to other licensed venues.
Crime and disorder may occur external to the premises such as people queueing
outside a premises, persons exiting the premises, outdoor smoking and associated
drinking on the highway and the potential for noise issues. Inside the premises matters
of concern would be drugs, psychoactive substances, weapons and violence.
The type of event being held might also increase the possibility of violence and or
disorder occurring within or near the premises. Some externally promoted live music
events carry an increased risk of violent crime and disorder.
It may be a requirement to carry out a risk assessment of the activities proposed and
share them with West Midlands Police before the event is booked and agreed.
Public Safety
We expect visitors and performers to be kept safe on licensed premises. Where
legislation does not provide suitable protection to ensure public safety, the Authority
will address any shortcoming through the licensing process.

Page 90

8|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

The permitted capacity is a limit on the number of persons who may safely and
comfortably be allowed on the premises at any time. Your application should indicate
your proposed maximum capacity figure for each room / area and the measures you
intend to take to ensure that this capacity is not exceeded. Your Fire Risk Assessor
should be able work out your safe capacity for emergency evacuation procedures and
there is also information on how to do this contained in the government guidance
referred to on page 6 of the Fire Authority Guidance to applicants. You should be
aware however, that Environmental Health or other agencies may set their own
occupancy figures (based around the provision of toilets/wash room facilities, comfort
etc,) and this figure may be greater or less than that required for Fire Safety Purposes.
The lowest figure calculated, must be adopted.
Conditions may be imposed in accordance with operating schedules to protect public
safety including where justified:
(a) provision of closed-circuit television and panic buttons.
(b) use of shatterproof drinking vessels; bottles requiring use of toughened
glass or plastic should normally be required unless applicants can show
exceptional reasons why this should not be so.
(c) use of door supervisors, licensed by the Security Industry Authority.
(d) requirement of a minimum of a licensed door supervisor for every 100
customers in nightclubs and large city centre pubs or as indicated by risk
assessment.
(e) the provision of designated and suitably trained first aiders.
Where appropriate, licence holders or their authorised representatives will submit
event management and safety plans and operating manuals, attend Safety Advisory
Groups and similar meetings prior to large events and host Event Liaison meetings
during such events. Due regard shall be had to relevant guidance and publications
including, for example: HSE approved code of practice for events.
Prevention of Public Nuisance
We expect the operation of licensed premises not to unreasonably interfere with the
personal comfort or amenity of immediate neighbours or the nearby community.
It is important to note that Public Nuisance can include low-level nuisance, perhaps
affecting a few people locally, as well as larger scale nuisance affecting the whole
community.
In determining applications when relevant representations have been received for new
and varied licences, regard will be made to the location of premises, the type and
construction of the building and the likelihood of nuisance and disturbance to the
amenity of nearby residents by reason of noise from within the premises, as a result
of people entering or leaving the premises or from individuals or groups of customers
gathered outside (e.g. in order to smoke).

Page 91

9|Page

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Applications for new licences or for the extension in size of licensed premises
submitted by way of a variation, providing relevant representations have been
received, should not normally be granted if the premises will use amplified or live music
and operate within or abutting known noise-sensitive premises containing residential
accommodation except that occupied by staff of the licensed premises. A condition
may be imposed on new licences that entertainment noise shall be clearly audible in
any residence. Noise emanating from within licensed premises should not normally
affect those nearby. In such circumstances, applicants will be encouraged to supply
an acoustic report confirming that there will be no noise breakout from the premises
likely to cause a public nuisance to persons living or working near the licenced
premises.
Installation of sound limiting equipment and sound insulation may be required to
minimise disturbance to the amenity of nearby residents by reason of noise from the
licensed premises. This may be added as a condition where relevant representations
have been received.
Generally, regulated entertainment in the open-air including tents and marquees
should have a maximum closure hour of 2300. Earlier hours may be imposed in
sensitive open spaces or near residential areas. The Licensing Authority will have
regard to relevant updated guidance.
In determining applications for new licences or extensions in hours or terminal hours
of licensed premises, regard will be had to late night public transport availability and
location of taxi ranks to aid dispersal of customers.
Reasonable controls are available to all premises operators to minimise the impact of
noise from customers outside.
Protection of Children from Harm
We expect the applicant to consider the following matters and measures to address
them to ensure the protection of children from harm. Harm includes emotional and
physical harm which may be associated with licensed premises and certificated club
premises (for example the exposure too early to strong language and sexual
expletives, e.g. in the context of film exhibitions or where adult entertainment is
provided). It is intended that the admission of children to premises holding a premises
licence or club premises certificate should normally be freely allowed without
restricting conditions (unless the 2003 Act itself imposes such conditions or there are
good reasons to restrict entry or to exclude children completely).
Licensees should note the concern of the authority that drink related disorder
frequently involves under 18’s. To prevent illegal purchases of alcohol by such
persons, all licensees should work with a suitable ‘proof of age’ scheme and ensure
that appropriate identification is requested prior to entry and when requesting alcohol,
where appropriate. Appropriate forms of identification are currently considered to be
those recommended by police, trading standards officers and their partners in the
Licensing Strategy Group (e.g. passport, photo driving licence or pass card).

Page 92

10 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

It is the licensing authority’s expectation that all staff responsible for the sale of
intoxicating liquor receive information and advice on the licensing laws relating to
children and young persons in licensed premises. Licensed premises staff are required
to take reasonable steps to prevent under age sales. The licensing authority will not
seek to limit the access of children to any premises unless it is necessary for the
prevention of emotional or psychological harm to them.
To reduce alcohol-induced problematic behaviour by under 18 year olds, to enforce
underage purchase and drinking laws and to assist in the protection of children from
harm, the licensing authority supports the following measures: •
•
•
•
•

Police should exercise powers (Confiscation of Alcohol (Young Persons) Act
1997) to remove alcohol from young people on the street
Police and trading standards should implement test purchasing to reduce sales
to under 18s in on and off sales licensed premises
Further take-up of proof of age schemes will be promoted
In-house, mystery shopper type schemes operated by local businesses will be
supported
Providers of events specifically catering for unaccompanied children should
consider whether all staff at such events need to be DBS checked

The licensing authority will not seek to expect that access to any premises is given to
children at all times – under normal circumstances this will be left to the discretion of
the licensee. The following areas give rise to concern in respect of children, who will
normally be excluded from premises:
•
•
•
•
•

where there have been convictions for serving alcohol to minors or with a
reputation for underage drinking;
with a known association with drug taking or dealing;
where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises;
where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is commonly provided;
where premises are used primarily or exclusively for the sale and consumption
of alcohol and there is little or no seating for patrons.

Options may include:
•
•
•
•
•

limitations on the hours when children may be present;
age limitations (below 18);
limitations or exclusions when certain activities are taking place;
requirements for an accompanying adult;
full exclusion of people under 18.

Licensees of premises giving film exhibitions will be expected to include in their
operating schedules arrangements for restricting children from viewing age restricted
films. Such premises will be subject to a mandatory condition requiring that access will
be restricted to only those who meet the required age limit in accordance with any
certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification, or in specific cases where
such certificates have not been granted, the licensing authority.

Page 93

11 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Trading standards and the police undertake ongoing enforcement operations around
under-age sales and test purchasing including proxy sales. Trading standards have
a programme of business support including training for local businesses to avoid
under-age sales.
ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS
Public Health
Protecting and improving Public Health is not a licensing objective. However, Alcohol
related harm is a concern for our district which has the highest level of licensed
premises per kilometre than any other district within the West Midlands. We will, as
far as the legislation will allow, always consider health related harms when they are
relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives. Accordingly, when making
representations, Public Health will demonstrate a link between health concerns and
the licensing objectives and may provide information such as ambulance call outs,
hospital admissions and other incidents which are specifically related to alcohol.
We recognise that licence holders are generally supportive of the need to address
health issues relating to alcohol. We expect applicants to consider the health impacts
of their proposed activities in relation to the licensing objectives and set out below
some best practice proposals which we expect responsible licensed premises to
consider including into their operating schedules.
Public Health will also use the powers available to them as a responsible authority to
work with our partners to promote sensible drinking messages and support the
approach to managing the local availability of alcohol ensuring the links between the
density of licensed premises, alcohol availability and indicators of health-related harm
to inform licence decisions.
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

restricting special offers such as cheap shots, ‘happy hours’, ‘buy one, get one
free’, ‘buy two glasses of wine and get the whole bottle’. This slows down
consumption, the rate at which blood alcohol concentrations increase and the
peak levels are reached by drinkers. Rapidly ascending and high blood alcohol
concentrations are shown to be associated with violence and uninhibited
behaviour.
aligning price with alcohol by volume (ABV), and ensure that non-alcoholic
drinks are much cheaper than alcoholic drinks
increasing seating for customers to reduce intensive drinking
reducing the volume of music as loud music can increase alcohol consumption.
actively promoting designated driver schemes where a driver is offered
discounted or free non-alcoholic drinks
making food available in late venues
starting the sale of alcohol later in the day and not aligning it purely with opening
hours
not advertising alcohol in the shop window
storing alcohol behind the shop counter
not using display boards or other advertising on the shop floor
not selling single cans of alcohol

Page 94

12 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

•
•
•

not selling single bottles of beer, and other alcohol beverages such as cider,
under 1 litre
not selling beer or cider over 5.5% ABV
not selling alcohol where they could attract under age purchasers

OPERATING SCHEDULE CONSIDERATIONS
This Policy also supports the other key aims of the legislation which include:
•
•
•
•
•

Better and more proportionate regulation of the sale of alcohol and public
entertainment.
Greater choice for consumers.
Encouragement of more family friendly premises.
Further development of live music, dancing and theatre.
Better protection for local residents and businesses.

The Statement of Licensing Policy also identifies what is required of those applying for
licences under the Act. Broadly this will cover:
•

Premises Licences.

•

Club Premises Certificates.

•

Temporary Permitted Activities.

•

Personal Licences.

This policy covers licensable activities within the jurisdiction of the City of
Wolverhampton Council as defined by the Licensing Act 2003. These are: •

The sale of Alcohol

•

The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club

•

The provision of regulated entertainment

•

The provision of late-night refreshment

Advice may be sought from the licensing team regarding whether or not a licence is
required for a premise or an event.
The Council will help and support those applying for licences whilst protecting the
rights of those affected by the issue of such licences. There is an expectation that
premises will be responsibly operated, and this Statement of Licensing Policy
addresses how those affected by troublesome and poorly managed licensed premises
can expect the Licensing Committee to deal with them.
Applicants should assess what matters, if any, need to be included within the operating
schedule to address the licensing objectives. If an application is correctly and lawfully
made and no relevant representation are received, then the council must grant the

Page 95

13 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

application as applied for. Only if relevant representations are made will the Council’s
discretion be engaged.
Any conditions applied to licences will focus on matters which are within the control of
licence holder. Each application will be considered on a case by case basis.
Nothing in this policy shall undermine the right of any individual to apply under the
terms of the act for a variety of permissions and to have any such application
considered on its individual merits. Similarly, nothing in this policy shall override the
right of any person to make representations on an application or seek a review of a
licence or certificate as provision has been made for them to do so in the Act.
Applicants for premises licences should be aware of the expectations of the licensing
authority and the responsible authorities, as to the steps that are appropriate for the
promotion of the licensing objectives, and to demonstrate knowledge of their local area
when describing the steps that they propose to take to promote the licensing
objectives. In particular, applicants are encouraged to demonstrate through the
application process, their knowledge of the areas included within the already
established Cumulative Impact Zones and the Special Consideration Areas.
This policy seeks to provide advice to applicants about the approach that they should
take to making applications (new, minor or full variations) and the view that the council
is like to take on key issues where representations have been made. Consideration
should be given to the included Matrix approach when submitting applications in the
Cumulative Impact Zones and the Special Consideration Areas.

Duration of Review
The policy takes effect from 3 April 2020 and will remain in force for a period not
exceeding five years. During this time, it may be the subject of review and updating
or modification as appropriate or required by legislative changes.
The policy of this Authority is subject to s182 Guidance, legislative changes and
Regulations issued by the government. It will include any issued after the date of
publication of this statement.

Page 96

14 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

CONSULTATION
Local people and members of the council can have their say and their opinion heard
through public consultation on this policy. Furthermore, this is strengthened by the
ability to make representations about applications for premises licences or requesting
reviews of licences if they are affected by problem premises.
Before revising or determining policy for any five-year period, the licensing authority
must consult:
(a) the chief officer of police for the licensing authority area;
(b) the fire authority for that area;
(c) the Director of Public Health
(d) such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of
holders of premises licences issued by that authority;
(e) such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of
holders of club premises certificates issued by the authority;
(f) such persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative of
holders of personal licences issued by that authority; and
(g) such other persons as the licensing authority considers to be representative
of businesses and residents in its area.
In relation to this statement of licensing policy, the licensing authority has consulted
the following persons or bodies:
West Midlands Ambulance Service
Accident & Emergency Services
The council’s Transport Planning, Planning Policy, Community Safety, Tourism,
Drug & Alcohol Awareness and Economic Development departments
Ward Councillors
Individual premises and personal licence holders and club premises certificate
holders
Residents’ Associations
The general public via the licensing pages of the council’s website

Page 97

15 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

PARTNERSHIP APPROACH – RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES
City of Wolverhampton Council encourages partnership working with other authorities
and agencies. Organisations and groups such as the Responsible Authorities Forum,
Business Improvement District, Night Safe Radio and Pub Watch, are encouraged to
share information and facilitate exclusion of troublemakers.
Additional groups who wish to support the City of Wolverhampton in addressing
problematic or irresponsible drinking and associated concerns, will be encouraged to
combine their efforts into improving our district.
The policy recognises the need to balance economic prosperity with community
protection. Good regulation at a local level provides fair trading conditions. This
creates a fair-trading environment, discourages irresponsible practices and promotes
community well-being. Local regulation is attuned to supporting the local economy and
local businesses who all have a part to play in balancing good business with social
responsibilities.
The Authority regard it as acceptable practice, where appropriate, for a responsible
authority to act in a supporting role as regards the evidence of another responsible
authority. All representations from responsible authorities and interested parties must
be received in 28 days. If not, they cannot be considered. However, we can receive
reasonable amplifications to those representations already made in the stipulated
timeframe, for consideration after that deadline.
Environmental Health
Operating schedules are expected to contain sufficient information for officers to form
a view as to whether noise from licensable activities is likely to cause a problem.
Applicants should also provide details of any proposed noise control measures
intended to be put in place, particularly for premises in largely residential areas where
regulated entertainment is being applied for between the hours of 11 pm and 8 am.
If licence conditions are imposed they will be specific to the premises in question and
will relate to the type of licensable activity proposed.
As far as licensing hours are concerned each application will be considered on its own
individual merits but it should be recognised that restricting the hours of operation in
some cases can play an important role in preventing public nuisance, especially in
residential areas where there is a history of noise complaints relating to a premise
from those living nearby.
Fire – West Midlands Fire Service
The Fire Authority is dedicated to assisting with the process of applications and the
safe management of premises. Guidance has been produced which is designed to

Page 98

16 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

assist applicants and responsible persons in achieving and maintaining a safe
environment within licensed premises.
We will assist premises licence applicants if they feel that the guidance provided does
not address their specific concerns.
Health and Safety
The main objective is to ensure the health, safety and welfare of employers,
employees and members of the public working at or attending licensed premises.
Applicants applying for a premises licence or Club Premises Certificate should
therefore be able to demonstrate a safe environment. Operating schedules will be
expected to also set out what steps are being taken to ensure that electrical and gas
installations are in good order, as well as being checked and maintained on a regular
basis.
Although existing health and safety legislation will primarily be used it may be
appropriate to apply for the review of a licence in the following circumstances:
•

serious or regular contraventions of health and safety legislation

•

failure to comply with Improvement or Prohibition notices

•

service of a prohibition notice where a significant risk to public safety exists

•

prosecution for failure to comply with health and safety legislation

The Council (Environmental Health) and the Health and Safety Executive are jointly
responsible for enforcing health and safety. As a rule, the Council is responsible for
the majority of premises, but the Health and Safety Executive is responsible in the
case of Council-owned premises
Home Office
Immigration Enforcement carry out enforcement operations as part of a team of
officers looking to detect, apprehend and remove persons unlawfully present in the UK
in line with Immigration legislation. We undertake a range of activities which supports
this work, visiting anywhere where immigration offenders can be found. Our visits are
intelligence led operations. We can use Section 179 powers to enter a premise where
there is a licensable activity or where licensing officers are not present.
Applications are considered by Immigration and used to establish if applicants are
living in the UK, are entitled to be in the UK and entitled to work in a licensable activity.
Enforcement activities are conducted in conjunction with other responsible authorities
in the spirit of co-operative working.
Licensing Authority
The Authority regard it as acceptable practice, where appropriate, for a responsible
authority to act in a supporting role as regards the evidence of another responsible
authority.

Page 99

17 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Additionally, where representations are received, and the Licensing Authority are
aware of matters likely to affect the running of a premises, the Authority may operate
in a stand-alone capacity to ensure that the Licensing objectives are upheld.
Planning
Planning, building control and licensing will be properly separated to avoid duplication
and inefficiency. Granting of licences will not relieve applicants of the need to apply
for planning permission or building control consent and there is an expectation that
these issues will have been explored before licensing applications are submitted.
Applicants are recommended to obtain correct planning consents prior to applying for
a licence to avoid potentially inoperative licences.
Matters for consideration in licensing applications will not duplicate matters considered
as part of any planning application.
The granting of planning permission does not automatically entitle the occupant to
consider that their licence application will be successful. There are many factors to
consider and a number of responsible authorities who may make comment on an
application.
Similarly, the fact that a licence application may be granted, does not override the
need to have the relevant planning consent or permission to operate the business.

Police - West Midlands Police (WMP)
West Midlands Police is the primary authority for matters of crime and disorder and
serious crime and disorder. Additionally, WMP may hold key intelligence which relates
to any of the four licensing objectives. Where appropriate, representations will be
made relating to any of the additional licensing objectives.
West Midlands Police is one of the two authorities who may respond to temporary
event notices considering all four of the licensing objectives. Applicants serving notice
can expect their previous temporary event history to be taken into consideration when
assessing any new notice served.
The Police have experienced increasing demand for resources further into the early
hours of the morning. Increases in ‘pre-loading,’ when individuals coming into the
City’s night time economy have already consumed alcohol purchased at home. These
trends provide obvious challenges to both the licensed on-trade and the police when
assessing and responding to levels of drunkenness.
Dispersal from the city centre during the late evening and early morning continues to
provide policing challenges. Over recent years, there has been a proliferation of offlicences and late-night refreshment venues. This has led to incident ‘hot spots’ where
patrons from the night time economy continue to interact, albeit away from any safety
measures afforded by on-licences. As such, West Midlands Police support the
Council’s Special Consideration Area Policy in offering guidance to both applicants

Page 100

18 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

and the Licensing Committee in relation to off-licences and late-night refreshment
licences.
West Midlands Police have a growing concern that, despite staff training in agerestricted sales, under age individuals are still being served alcohol in some of the
city’s licensed premises. As such, regular intelligence-led ‘test-purchase’ operations
are conducted utilising the services of Trading Standards.
Policing the night time economy continues to provide a challenge and in the climate of
limited resources and newly emerging problems, Police support maintaining the
Council’s Special Policy which defines cumulative impact and special consideration
areas. West Midlands Police also recognise and support businesses which are aware
of their social responsibilities and as such, actively contribute towards keeping our City
a safe and enjoyable city to live, work and visit.
Public Health
Public Health England and the Local Government Association recognise that the
Statement of Licensing Policy provides an important opportunity to incorporate
relevant local public health concerns within the wider policy context of the local
licensing authority and that as a responsible authority, the Director of Public Health
has a key role in identifying and interpreting health data and evidence.
Public health functions are now embedded into licensing considerations. We seek to
tailor local solutions to local problems and to promote the Authority’s duty to improve
health and reduce inequality.
Where a local authority’s Director of Public Health exercises its functions as a
responsible authority and wishes to make representations, the DPH will need to decide
how best to gather and coordinate evidence from other bodies which exercise health
functions in the area, such as emergency departments and ambulance services.
Health bodies may hold information which other responsible authorities do not, but
which would assist a licensing authority in exercising its functions. This information
may be used by the health body to make representations in its own right or to support
representations by other responsible authorities, such as the police. Such
representations can potentially be made on the grounds of all four licensing objectives.
Safeguarding Children
The Licensing Authority will not seek to limit the access of children to any premises
unless it is appropriate for the prevention of physical, moral or psychological harm. In
all other cases, it will be left to the discretion of the licensee. If children are to be
permitted on the premises, consideration must be given to CSE (child sexual
exploitation) training for staff who regularly come into contact with children.
This policy does not attempt to anticipate every issue that may arise in respect of
children and each application will be considered on its merits. However, there are
particular areas that will give rise to concern in respect of children.
The Licensing Authority acknowledges that in certain instances children’s access to
premises should be limited. Suggested alternatives in such instances are as follows:

Page 101

19 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Restrictions on the hours when children may be present;
Restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain ages when
particular specified activities are taking place;
Restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have access;
Age restrictions;
Restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place;
Requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a combination
of requirements which provide that children under a particular age must be
accompanied by an adult); and
Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable
activities are taking place.

In relation to the exhibition of film, a mandatory condition will apply, requiring access
to be restricted to those who meet the required age limit in accordance with any
certificate granted by the British Board of Film Classification.
Any theatres which are incorporating adult entertainment in their productions should
consider limiting access to children during these performances.
In the case of theatrical entertainment specifically for children, applicants should
consider what steps they will take and outline them in their operating schedule to
ensure the wellbeing of children during an emergency.
Applicants should consider ‘Challenge 25’ provisions and the type of proof they will
accept with regard to proof of age. The Licensing Authority strongly recommends all
licensed premises accept PASS accredited proof of age cards in addition to other
appropriate photographic proof of age.
Proxy Sales. Adequate procedures must be in place to ensure that all members of
staff working at the premises are routinely trained and regularly reminded of their
responsibilities in relation to the issue of proxy sales of alcohol and shall ensure that
all reasonable steps and procedures are in place and implemented to prevent adults
purchasing alcohol for those underage or those that have been refused a sale due to
being drunk.
Steps must be in place to ensure that any designated premises supervisors and
members of staff involved with the delivery of alcohol to residential addresses are
made fully aware of their responsibilities to ensure that no alcohol is sold to persons
who are underage.
Trading Standards
The sale of age restricted products, in this case alcohol, remains a priority for Trading
Standards.
Their aim is to ensure that;
•

Owners of licensed premises, Premises Licence Holders and Designated
Premises Supervisors are aware of their obligations in law and those
associated with this policy.

Page 102

20 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

•
•

That non-compliant licensed premises are helped to achieve compliance.
That there is restricted access to cheap alcohol by removing from sale
counterfeit, illicit and non-duty paid alcohol and tobacco.

Trading Standards will
•
•
•
•

Operate a risk rating scheme for licensed premises, so that those premises of
highest risk can be focussed on.
Maximise the use of intelligence to target non-compliant premises, areas where
anti-sociable behaviour is linked to the sale of alcohol and areas of high alcohol
misuse.
Work with businesses and partner agencies in areas where anti-social
behaviour is linked to the sale of alcohol by proxy sales, to raise awareness,
increase compliance and reduce associated anti-social behaviour.
Trading Standards are promoting Challenge 25 for all age restricted products
including alcohol and tobacco

The sale of illicit/counterfeit and non-duty paid alcohol and tobacco products are
having a very serious impact on the local economy. Legitimate retailers are struggling
to compete with the small minority of dishonest traders who operate within the shadow
economy.
Licence holders found to be selling illicit alcohol and/or tobacco may be liable to
prosecution and could have their licence to sell alcohol reviewed by the Licensing Sub
Committee under the prevention of crime and disorder objective.
Under these circumstances the authority will also consider amending licence
conditions as well as whether the revocation of the premise license is also appropriate.
Licence holders should be aware that they may be subject to test purchasing by
Trading Standards if there is cause for concern about the sale of alcohol to young
persons.

Page 103

21 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

APPLICATIONS
Applications (General) Making an Application
Directly from the Council
The relevant application forms and associated documents are available from the
Council directly or via our Website at:
https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/licences/alcohol-licences
From the Government Website GOV.UK
In the event of our website being unavailable, generic application forms are available
via the Gov.UK website at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/premises-licence-application
Online Applications
Applicants may also make applications online and make payment online via this link
https://www.gov.uk/premises-licence

Operating Schedules
The operating schedule is a key document and, if prepared comprehensively, will
form the basis on which premises can be licensed without the need for additional
extensive conditions. All applicants for the grant or variation of a premises licence
or club premises certificate are required to provide an operating schedule as part
of their application. The Licensing Authority expects an operating schedule to
indicate the positive steps that the applicant proposes to take to promote the
Licensing Objectives.
In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to
this statement of licensing policy and to demonstrate suitable knowledge of the
local area when describing the steps that they propose to take in order to promote
the Licensing Objectives.
The Licensing Authority will provide general advice on the drafting of operating
schedules and applicants are strongly recommended to discuss their operating
schedules with the Licensing Authority and other Responsible Authorities prior to
submitting them.
The complexity and detail expected in the operating schedule will depend upon the
nature and use of the premises concerned. For premises such as a public house
where regulated entertainment is not provided, only a relatively simple document
may be required. However; for an operating schedule accompanying an application

Page 104

22 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

for a major entertainment venue or event, it will be expected that issues such as
public safety and the prevention of crime and disorder will be addressed in detail.
The operating schedule must be set out on the prescribed form and include a
statement of the following: •
•
•
•
•
•
•

Full details of the licensable activities to be carried on at and the intended use
of the premises;
The times during which the licensable activities will take place;
Any other times when the premises are to be open to the public;
Where the licence is only required for a limited period, that period;
Where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and
address of the individual to be specified as the designated premises supervisor;
Whether alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the premises or both;
The steps which the applicant proposes to promote the Licensing Objectives.

For some premises, it is possible that no measures will be appropriate to promote
one or more of the Licensing Objectives, for example, because they are adequately
covered by other existing legislation. It is however important that all operating
schedules should be precise and clear about the measures that are proposed to
promote each of the Licensing Objectives.

PRINCIPLES OF GOOD MANAGEMENT OF PREMISES
The licensing authority acknowledges that training and good management play a key
part in preventing alcohol and drug related crime. The authority expects that all
licensees of on-licensed premises attend training programmes which will raise their
awareness of the issues relating to drugs and violence in licensed premises, and that
suitable training be extended to all bar staff and door supervisors so that drug dealers
and users will be deterred from using licensed premises for illegal purposes and that
incidents of violence in licensed premises will be reduced.
Licensees are also encouraged to attend training programmes to help identify children
at risk and issues of basic child protection. It is the duty of the designated premises
supervisor (DPS) to train staff on induction concerning conditions on their premises
licence.
It is expected that the DPS will spend a significant amount of time on the premises.
When not on the premises it will be essential that the DPS is contactable, particularly
should problems arise with the premises and that staff are authorised by the DPS.

Page 105

23 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

GENERAL INFORMATION –
STANDARD PREMISES LICENCES AND OUTDOOR EVENTS
Enforcement
The Enforcement of licensing law and inspection of licensed premises will be a joint
approach between West Midlands Police, West Midlands Fire & Rescue Service and
City of Wolverhampton Council.
The Licensing Authority will have regard to its published Licensing Enforcement Policy
https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pdf/Black_Country_enforcemen
t_policy_2016.pdf written in conjunction with other Black Country Authorities of
Walsall, Dudley and Sandwell, when making enforcement decisions in accordance
with our Statement of Licensing Policy.
In order to better target enforcement resources, inspections may be undertaken
outside of normal office hours and the sharing of information between all enforcement
agencies will be encouraged through joint meetings such as the Responsible
Authorities Forum (RAF) or similar arrangements. Where specific operations are
considered appropriate, an operational order will be produced for these targeted
events.
Fire Safety
Premises and their operators will be regulated by general duties under current fire
safety regimes and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 rather than
licensing provisions.
Health and Safety: Certain premises will be the subject of health and safety
enforcement by the local authority or the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). If other
existing law already places certain statutory responsibilities on an employer or
operator of premises, for example the Management of Health and Safety at Work
Regulations 1999, it will not be necessary to impose the same or similar duties on the
premises licence holder or club. However, existing duties will not always adequately
cover specific issues that arise on the premises in connection with, for example,
certain types of entertainment, and where additional and supplementary measures are
necessary to promote the licensing objectives, necessary, proportionate conditions will
need to be attached to a licence.
Integration of Strategies
The licensing authority shall, as far as reasonably practicable, secure the proper
integration of this policy with local crime prevention, planning policy, transport, tourism
and cultural strategies. Ongoing liaison with police, public Health, Fire and Rescue,
The Safety Advisory Group, Planning, Highways, local businesses, Private Security
Industry Act 2001 changes and our Trading Standards Team with matters such as
Test Purchasing codes of practice.

Page 106

24 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

The licensing authority will consider any dispersal policies recommended and will
incorporate matters such as this in their decision-making process.
Live Music, Dancing & Theatre
This policy recognises the need to encourage live music, dancing and theatre for the
wider cultural benefits of the community generally. In addressing such issues, the
potential for limited disturbance in neighbourhoods will always be carefully balanced
with these wider benefits, particularly for children. The impact of licensing on regulated
entertainment, particularly live music and dancing, will be monitored to ensure that this
policy is not a deterrent to community events.
The Licensing Sub-Committee represents the general interests of a community in
determining what conditions should be attached to licences and certificates as a matter
of necessity for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
All members of the Licensing Committee must be trained and fully conversant with the
Licensing Act 2003 and S182 Guidance. The Licensing authority is aware of the need
to avoid measures which deter live music, dancing and theatre - such as imposing
indirect costs out of proportion to the income of the licence holder and to the risks
presented. Only appropriate, proportionate and reasonable licensing conditions
should impose any restrictions on such events.
It is the aim of the licensing authority to promote cultural and community
events where possible and to balance the promotion of such events with
the effects on the wider community.

Noise
Statutory and public nuisances are dealt with by the local authority’s Environmental
Health department under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Noise Act 1996 and
associated legislation. Noise from commercial premises may often fall under review
powers set out in licensing provisions and closure powers in antisocial behaviour
provisions.

Other regulatory regimes
This policy avoids duplication with other regulatory regimes wherever possible. The
following notes are made with regard to specific regimes:

Responsible Authorities Forum (RAF)
Matters which are drawn to the attention of the Licensing Authority or any of the other
Responsible Authorities, will be the subject of discussion amongst the board of
Responsible Authorities as defined under the Licensing Act 2003.

Page 107

25 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Premises which have been the subject of complaints, incidents or intelligence will be
considered for action and will be visited by the relevant authority or authorities. Advice
will be given in the first instance but may result in formal action being taken by any of
the authorities if the errant premises does not undertake to address the matters
requiring remedial action.
Where premises have been flagged onto the RAF system, it may be the subject of a
multi-agency visit with our partners to seek to ensure compliance with the licence and
its conditions. This visit and any intelligence gleaned may form evidence to support a
review of the premises if remedial action is not taken.

Reviews
Reviews represent a key protection for the community. Where the licensing authority
considers action necessary under its powers it will take necessary steps to support the
licensing objectives. Any Responsible authority who seek to apply for a review, is
likely to be supported by other responsible authorities. We envisage co-operative
working and a shared and supportive approach to reviews and enforcement.

Safety Advisory Group (SAG)
Co-ordinated by the Local Authority and involving Responsible Authorities as defined
by the licensing act. Bodies such as environmental health, licensing, emergency
services such as police, fire and rescue and ambulance departments (some of these
might be private organisations employed by the event organiser), other relevant bodies
and the event organiser. They may be event or location specific but otherwise tend to
be based on local authority boundaries.
The role of SAG is to provide advice to individuals and organisations planning a public
event and involve matters such a public safety and concerns at an event. The advice
provided utilises the expertise of each of the constituent members based upon their
experience of dealing with events. This is in addition to any legal requirements and
government guidance. The recommendations given by SAG are advisory only and it
is for the event organiser to take such steps that are necessary to ensure an event is
undertaken safely. Should any concerns be raised, it is the event organiser’s
responsibility to take any appropriate action to alleviate these concerns. SAG
participants nor any of its constituent members or their respective organisations act in
an advisory capacity and accept no liability for the safety of events which remains the
responsibility of the event organiser.
Attendance of the event organiser at SAG meetings may be voluntary or required by
the Local Authority as a condition of using their land. There are significant benefits to
be gained from engagement in the SAG process from the outset.
Event organisers may be asked to extend their duty past the boundaries of an event
site to include the impact on the local transport network and civil contingencies in the
event of an emergency.

Page 108

26 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

For the City of Wolverhampton Council’s webpage for Outdoor Events including links
to the Industry-recognised Purple Guide and the HSE Event Guidance information,
please follow this link - www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/pesag.
Smoking Advice
Premises licence holders will be expected to:
•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•

Develop a management plan on how to manage smoking on your premises and
ensure that all staff are aware of the contents of this plan, and that it is
effectively implemented. Noise from people smoking and talking can be
intermittent, vary in character and volume and be intrusive. An effective
smoking management plan will help prevent neighbours being disturbed.
Comply with any planning conditions restricting the use of outdoor areas.
Ensure that any structures used by smokers comply with the design criteria
detailed in the Heath Act 2006 and that any structures, awnings, retractable
canopies, etc. have the relevant planning permission.
Ensure any new lighting to outdoor areas must be designed so as not to cause
a light nuisance to neighbours and again have the relevant planning permission
and building control consent.
Ensure that the conditions on the premises licence are complied with. There
may be conditions restricting the hours of use of gardens and outdoor areas.
Having reviewed the contents of the premises licence you may find it necessary
to request a variation of your licence.
Licence tables and chairs on the Public Highway under the provisions of the
Highways Act 1980. These licences may have conditions restricting the times
that the area can be used.
Ensure drinks, glasses and bottles are not taken onto the highway unless there
is a tables and chairs licence permitting use. A system should be adopted to
prevent theft and ‘spiking’ of drinks and reminding customers not to leave
unattended items.
Discourage smokers remaining in gardens and outdoor areas and determine
terminal hours.
Discourage smokers remaining outside by removing/disabling tables and chairs
or prohibiting their use after a certain time. Lights and heaters will also be turned
off.
Introduce a system that after a certain time the number of smokers outside are
restricted to a maximum number. Staff will be needed to manage this restriction.
Employ staff and/or SIA registered door supervisors to manage doors and
control customers and smokers entering and leaving the premises. Staff
positioned on the doors can help to encourage customers not to cause a noise
problem. It may be that staff are required to manage doors after a certain time,
particularly during the hours when neighbouring residents are trying to sleep.
Ensure door supervisors maintain order outside venues and protect customer
safety. The use of NightSafe radio, other pager systems and pub watch
schemes can be used to provide for rapid police response and alert other
venues where customers and staff are endangered.

Page 109

27 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

•

•
•

Position signs to remind customers that the premises is in an area where people
live. It is not always obvious in busy commercial streets with flats above. By
changing the design and wording of signs customers do not forget. Signs can
be located in and outside the premises and on tables.
Use CCTV to manage outside areas.
Licensed premises should normally display prominent, legible signs at exits
reminding customers to leave in a quiet, peaceful, orderly manner.

Street drinking
This licensing authority will have regard to Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs).
This is a citywide drinking restriction order linked to anti-social behaviour and on-street
drinking. There is also a complete street drinking ban in the St Peter’s and Park
Wards. Fixed Penalty Notices will be issued for any breaches within those wards.
These hot spot areas are considered high risk for street drinkers and the Licensing
Authority will have regard to prevention of crime and disorder by virtue of street
drinking and anti-social behaviour when considering applications in this area.

Temporary Event Notices
The Licensing Authority will encourage bona fide community events. Applications for
TENs at existing licensing premises will not be encouraged where the proposal is
simply to extend the existing hours of operation and applications made in cumulative
impact areas will be subject to increased scrutiny by Police and Environmental Health.
Licensing Guidance recognises that TENs are a light touch process, not requiring
specific authorisation. The role of the licensing authority is purely administrative.
However, the licensing authority with take into account the history. If the police or EHA
believe that allowing the premises to be used in accordance with the TEN will
undermine the licensing objectives, they must issue an objection notice.
Where it seems apparent to the licensing authority that TEN’s might be used instead
of utilising the formal licensing process, this will be highlighted to the police and
environmental health.

Page 110

28 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

LICENSING BEST PRACTICE MEASURES
These Best Practice Measures are the sorts of things that the Authority would look to
be included in applicants operating schedules. Information such as this would be
particularly expected to be found in applications within the Special Consideration
Areas:
Matters that would normally be expected in operating schedules:
•

the adoption of a policy (e.g. Challenge 25) with acceptable proof of id as per
existing Statement of Licensing Policy

•

all off sales to be made in sealed containers for consumption away from the
premises
a smoking policy which includes an assessment of noise and litter created by
premises users
the use of plastic or polycarbonate drinking vessels and containers, especially
in outside areas or after specified hours
a policy in relation to searching customers and for drugs, weapons, seized or
lost and found property
use of a refusals book for registering attempts to buy alcohol by under-age
persons or refusals to those intoxicated
the installation of a digital CCTV system by liaison with, and to a standard
approved by, West Midlands Police
policies for dispersal of customers which may include signage regarding taxi
services’ telephone numbers and advice to respect neighbours and minimize
noise
The DPS of the premises to maintain a list of all persons who have been
approved/authorised to sell alcohol and for this to be readily available on
request of West Midlands Police or an authorised officer of the Council.

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Matters to which positive consideration would be given:
•

membership of any group whose aims are to reduce unwanted incidents such
as disturbance, reducing business crime, Pubwatch, Neighbourhood Watch or
other similar schemes

•
•

use of ‘NightSafe’ radio system or similar accredited scheme
regular training and reminders for staff in respect of licensing legislation,
policies and procedures; records of which should be properly recorded and
available for inspection
records of regular checks of all parts of the premises in relation to drug use
systems in place to ensure details of barred or excluded clients are exchanged
with other operators

•
•

Page 111

29 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

•

•

giving an agreed minimum notice of special events (screening of major sports
events, birthday parties, adult entertainment, etc.) to relevant authorities and
use of appropriate additional measures at such events.
Attendance at a SAG (Safety Advisory Group) meeting to

Recommend best practice for both on and off premises
•
•
•
•
•
•

Staff must be aware of the risk of the problem of proxy sales and offer
assistance to responsible authorities to deter offences
Signage on premises should set out legal duties
Voluntary restriction of high strength alcohol – operating schedules may be
used to limit high ABV beers and ciders
Staff training – in addition to personal licence holders training, staff must be
adequately trained for duties
Challenge 25 would be the norm, particularly in the off-licence trade
Signage – proxy sale – deterrence

Care, control and supervision of premises
The Licensing authority supports the Night-Safe radio scheme which is normally
expected as an operational requirement for city centre bars, clubs and pubs and is an
example of good practice in achieving the aim of reducing crime and disorder and
improving public safety. Well managed pub-watch schemes provide information
exchange between the premises licence holders and responsible authorities that
reduce and deter violent crime and disorder. The council will always support
responsible licensing schemes.
The effective management and supervision of a venue is a key factor in reducing crime
and disorder, both within it and outside. The police will consider the applicants,
objecting to the application where appropriate. The police may suggest crime
prevention measures in relation to, for example, the internal layout of the premises,
closed-circuit television, help points, lighting and security staff. The police may ask for
conditions which support such measures to be imposed when licensing applications
are granted, such as the type of licence, capacity, operating hours restrictions.
Following the grant of a licence, the management and supervision of the premises, in
so far as it might impact on crime and disorder, will continue to be monitored. Particular
attention will be paid to any licensed premises where there is evidence of criminal
activity or any association with crime. Where licensed premises are found to cause
nuisance or be associated with disorder or unreasonable disturbance, the review
process may be invoked, and powers of revocation or the imposition of conditions may
be considered. The Licensing Authority will support other partners in addressing
breaches of the licensing objectives. Conditions may include use of closed-circuit
television, properly licensed SIA registered door supervisors and earlier closing times.
This policy promotes and recognises the use of registered Door Supervisors who must
be licensed by the Security Industry Authority.

Page 112

30 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Night-time Economy Safeguarding Initiatives
The SAFE HAVEN, run by City of Wolverhampton Council, currently operational in the
city centre, runs throughout the year on the first and last Saturday of the month.
Throughout December, it is open on every Friday and Saturday to provide a safe place
for users of the night time economy who are rendered more vulnerable due to alcohol
and/or drug use. First aid and first responder type assistance is available at the Safe
Haven and staff will, where appropriate, signpost referrals to other agencies.
These strands of work aim to speak to workers such as pub and bar staff, door staff,
fast food outlets, taxi firms and hotels to encourage them to look out for signs of sexual
exploitation and inform or assist them as to how to report incidents of concern.
Off licences
In recent years there has been a noticeable shift towards more people buying alcohol
from shops and drinking at home before going out prior to going into premises such
as pubs and clubs otherwise known as “pre-loading”. The council is concerned that
alcohol pre-loading from off-licence sales is a significant problem in the city and
adversely affects the licensing objectives as it gives rise to problems of drunkenness,
disorderly behaviour and a higher risk of alcohol sales to children and other vulnerable
people. Representations from the police, local residents and the director of public
health at licensing panel hearings have testified to these problems.
The cumulative impact policy and the Special Consideration Areas apply to offlicences as explained in the matrix approach. In general, where applications are
made for new premises or variations to existing licences, and where the police or
others make representations against the grant of a further licence for off sales, the
council will give specific consideration to restricting the number, type, and the hours
of premises selling alcohol exclusively for consumption off the premises. The council
will want to be assured that the operating schedule of premises, and their overall
management, training and levels of staffing, are appropriate to ensure that the
licensing objectives are promoted in what may be challenging circumstances.
Applicants may seek to include the below into their operating schedules to help to best
support their applications. Areas of best practice that may be included in an Operating
Schedule include:
•
•
•
•
•

the installation of a digital CCTV system by liaison with, and to a standard
approved by West Midlands Police
Challenge 25 policy
Refusals system
Documented staff training including underage sales, drunkenness and proxy
sales
Voluntary restriction of high strength alcohol - operating schedules may be used
to limit high ABV beers and ciders

Page 113

31 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

•
•
•

BCRP membership (or other accredited scheme)
No sale of single cans
Displays should not be located at the entrance/exit points or near check outs

Promoters and irresponsible drinks promotions and installation of Front-ofHouse Managers
The Licensing Act 2003 makes no mention or provision for the use of promoters within
licensed premises. Many of the late-night bars and clubs within the City of
Wolverhampton hire promoters to sell nights at their venues. In recent years with the
introduction of promoters within the night time economy, several issues have arisen.
This includes promoters vouching for underage customers to get them inside licensed
premises where they can access alcohol, providing flyers to passers-by who throw
them on the floor and irresponsible promotions for their nights. Many premises now
have an agreement with their promoter for acceptable promotions and behaviour
which includes the signing of a written contract of expectations. This shows premises
evidencing their due diligence and ensures that promotion companies know what is
expected of them. The contract could include, obligations to pick up self-generated
litter, verification of ages of their customers and users of their social media, promoters
being over the age of 18 and responsible advertising on social media.
The Licensing Authority expect licensed premises to develop staff policy and training
on recognising signs of drunkenness and vulnerability, for example, offering drinking
water and tips for refusing customers who appear drunk. Also, to discourage company
polices that promote bonuses and sales incentives for selling alcohol. Licensing
Authority will expect necessary precautionary processes to restrict drunkenness, e.g.
Licensing Guidance states happy hours should not be designed to encourage
individuals to drink excessively or rapidly.
Demonstration of this type of agreement, contracts of expectation and consideration
will assist a premises licence holder to prove due diligence. Overall responsibility for
the licence always lies with the premises licence holder.
Similarly, where a Front-of-House Manager is installed to deal with and manage a
premise, the responsibility still lies with the Premises Licence Holder to ensure that
their licence, any conditions and stipulations are complied with. This Authority will not
view favourably any attempt to apportion blame to a third party for breaches of the
licence and the licence conditions.

Page 114

32 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

SPECIAL POLICIES AND INITIATIVES
City of Wolverhampton Council - Cumulative Impact Zones, Special
Consideration Areas and Special Policy for the creation of a more diverse and
balanced representation of premises within the City
The City of Wolverhampton Council have, over the fifteen years of alcohol and
entertainment licensing, developed a sound understanding of our district and
recognised where problems are arising and the concentration of premises which have
exacerbated existing areas of concern.
To this end, we have worked with our partners to establish how we might address
these concerns. Initially implementing Cumulative Impact Zones which enabled us to
address areas of concern and help prevent furtherance of problems within a specified
area.
We recognise the power of partnership working and with the other acknowledged
experts in our field, have developed a strategy to attend to other concerning patterns
and behaviours in an attempt to make the City of Wolverhampton a better place for all
of its inhabitants and visitors.
It is not our intention to inhibit progress or to stifle businesses and opportunities.
However, we have to balance the growth of successful business propositions with the
rights and comfort of people living within our district. We do not propose to further
constrain business through the implementation of a citywide cumulative impact zone,
but have proposed a ‘Special Consideration Area’ surrounding and bordering our
existing CIZ’s in order to minimise the impact of potentially problematic premises but
to also promote the types of businesses which we believe will enhance our district
instead of those which we know, through our experience, will potentially intensify
problems.

CUMULATIVE IMPACT
Cumulative Impact Zones
In acknowledging the concerning matters of crime and disorder, street drinking and
anti-social behaviour, City of Wolverhampton Council have introduced five cumulative
impact zones to help control and reduce these incidents. The CIZ policy is revisited
every three years and was renewed in 2018 until 2021 and is reviewable
independently of this Statement of Licensing Policy.
To further strengthen this policy with a view to reducing incidents, the Authority has
sought advice to introduce a protected zone to enable all of the responsible authorities
to more readily manage the escalation of incidents in our district and from where it can
reasonably be considered to have an impact on the existing problem areas.

Page 115

33 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Certain areas within Wolverhampton have been identified as problematic for crime,
street drinking and antisocial behaviour. Over recent years problems associated with
street drinking have been experienced across the city but particularly by the Avion
Centre, giving rise to the introduction of a Cumulative Impact Zone.
Part of the ongoing methods adopted to address such issues were to obtain the cooperation of off licenses within the problem areas to voluntarily amend their premises
licence conditions to restrict the sale of super-strength beers and to not permit single
can or bottle sales. This encourages all local premises to demonstrate their social
responsibilities to address street drinking and antisocial behaviour. There has been
limited uptake from some off licences to voluntarily participate in this responsible
practice and therefore a firmer footing is sought to restrict premises looking to operate
in the already acknowledged problem areas.
The licensing authority, after careful consideration of Police evidence, determined that
the concentration of licensed premises in an area of the city centre is causing problems
of crime and disorder and public nuisance, and that therefore an approach to
‘Cumulative Impact’ is necessary as part of its statement of licensing policy. City of
Wolverhampton Council have five Special Policies or Cumulative Impact Zones (CIZ’s)
which are kept under review every three years. The Licensing Committee resolved to
retain the current CIZ’s as defined in this Statement of Licensing Policy.
Cumulative Impact is defined as the potential impact upon the promotion of the
licensing objectives of a significant number of licensed premises concentrated in one
area.
Through effective coordination of relevant strategies and policy areas (eg licensing,
policing and public safety), the council will seek to improve safety by encouraging a
more balanced range of complementary evening and night-time economy uses
appealing to a wider range of age and social groups and discouraging the activities
which have proven to be problematic to manage. This will be in addition to the five
existing ‘Cumulative Impact Zones’ within Wolverhampton and will afford much greater
powers to control the number and type of acceptable licensed premises in the city.
This special policy will refer to five Cumulative Impact Zones within the district, At
present, the policy of this authority identifies five cumulative impact zones. The City
Centre, Bilston, Wednesfield, Dudley Road and the Avion Centre.
The special policy will only be overridden in exceptional circumstances. The effect of
this special policy is that applications for new premises licences or club premises
certificates within the area, or variations which are likely to add to the existing
Cumulative Impact, will be refused following relevant representations. This
presumption can be rebutted by the applicant if they can show that their application
will have no negative Cumulative Impact.
This special policy also applies to all new premises licences and club premises
certificates, for example pubs, restaurants and take-away establishments. Off licences
also come within this policy as they can contribute to problems of street drinking, proxy
purchasing, dispersal issues, preloading and excessive drinking and related disorder.
The presumption of refusal does not relieve responsible authorities or other persons

Page 116

34 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

of the need to make a relevant representation. If there are no representations, the
licensing authority must grant the application in terms consistent with the operating
schedule submitted.
Furthermore, this special policy is not absolute. Upon receipt of a relevant
representation, the licensing authority will always consider the circumstances of each
case and whether there are exceptional circumstances to justify departing from its
special policy in the light of the individual circumstances of the case. If an application
is unlikely to add to the cumulative impact of the area, it may be granted. The impact
can be expected to be different for premises with different styles and characteristics.
For example, while a large nightclub or high capacity public house might add to
problems of cumulative impact, a small restaurant, theatre or live music venue (where
alcohol is not the primary activity) may be considered exceptional circumstances.
If the licensing authority decides that an application should be refused, it will still need
to show that the grant of the application would undermine the promotion of one of the
licensing objectives and that conditions would be ineffective in preventing the
problems involved.
Cumulative Impact Policy Application
It is difficult to demonstrate what exceptional circumstances might mean. Examples
of what would not be considered to be exceptional circumstances are:
•
•
•
•
•

The fact that a premise will be or is well managed
That the applicant is well qualified
no residential premises nearby
that the increase in hours applied for is only small
that the increase in capacity applied for is only small

The policy of this licensing authority is that applications for certain premises types will
be refused if relevant representations are received. These premise types are detailed
in the Matrix Approach on pages 38 to 40 of this policy.
•
•

The policy will be strictly applied
It will be overridden only in exceptional circumstances

The intention of this Authority is that the policy is intended to be strict in order to
address the issues of concern experienced since the implementation of this Act. This
policy is directed at the overall impact of licensed premises within the CIZ areas,
exceptional circumstances must be directed at showing that the likelihood of granting
a licence will not cause any additional impact on the licensing objectives.
Exceptional circumstances may include: consultation with and meeting requirements
of responsible authorities, an appropriate corporate social responsibility policy,
community contribution to offset impact (such as membership of BID and Pubwatch),
community support, alcohol sale ancillary to business activity (demonstrable to
responsible authorities and licensing authority, for instance by licence condition
allowing authorised officers access to sales accounts).
By their nature, “exceptional circumstances” will be rare.

Page 117

35 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Applicants who wish to claim that their application is considered exceptional, are
expected to set out their case for this within their operating schedule so that this can
be evaluated by each of the responsible authorities and other persons deciding
whether or not to make a representation on the application.
The types of premises which would be more favourably considered within the CIZ are
Restaurants, Café Bars, Non-alcohol led premises (e.g. theatres).
Where there are no representations received, the application must be granted.
Special Consideration Areas
We do not wish to specify or name streets which will fall into the SCA’s. Where a
problem exists and a CIZ is implemented, allowing a premises licence to be granted
in close proximity to that CIZ has the potential to impact upon the area and therefore
to be of concern. However, we encourage businesses to propose a different type of
alcohol licensed premises such as a cinema, theatre, café bar or restaurant.
Consideration of problem areas is a matter of shared responsibility for the local
authority, responsible authorities, businesses and inhabitants of the district. This is a
concern for every person that wishes to see the district improvement and work to
ensure the success and regeneration of our area.
These protected zone areas will be known as Special Consideration Areas. Whilst
they do not appear within the CIZ themselves, the premises are in such close proximity
to a cumulative impact area that they should be more carefully considered as to the
potential impact that their proximity has against the already recognised problem zone.
Again, consideration will be given to the type of premises the application refers to.
(See the Matrix Approach)
This is to ensure that objections are neither frivolous nor vexatious and that there is
an evidential basis for the statutory licensing sub-committee to reach a decision.

Applications - Within the Cumulative Impact and Special Consideration Areas
Applications which fall within the City of Wolverhampton’s Cumulative Impact Zones
or Special Consideration Areas will be subject to the Matrix Approach to Licensing.
Details of the Matrix Approach can be found at pages 37-39 onwards within this policy.
In cases where either responsible authorities or other people seek to establish that an
application should be refused on the grounds that it would result in, or further
contribute to, a cumulative impact in an area not designated as a cumulative impact
area, which would undermine one or more of the licensing objectives, they shall:
•
•
•

Identify the area where problems are arising or reasonably anticipated problem
areas – for example areas immediately outside a CIZ
Identify the licensing objective which it is considered will be undermined
Identify the type of licensable activity likely to exacerbate the problem (e.g. sale
of alcohol, late night refreshment)

Page 118

36 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

•

•

Provide full details and evidence to show the manner and extent to which it is
alleged that the licensing objectives are being, or are at risk of being,
undermined in the area
Provide evidence to show that the undermining of the objective is caused by
the patrons of licensed premises in the area.

Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates – Variation applications for
within the CIZ and SCA will be subject to the presumption of refusal, but operators will
be expected to pay special attention when drawing up their operating schedules and
to make positive proposals to ensure that their operation will not add to the problems
faced in these areas. New public houses within the CIZ are unlikely to be granted
where relevant representations are received, unless the applicant can demonstrate
there are exceptional circumstances, eg specialist importers or other unique features
which would warrant special consideration. A well-managed public house or a
previous good track record at other licensed premises would not be considered
exceptional circumstances.
Café Bars - the licensing authority may be prepared to look favourably upon an
application for the grant of a licence, subject to the following conditions that will prevent
the premises becoming a public house.
•
•

The sale of intoxicating liquor and other beverages shall be waiter/waitress
service for consumption by persons seated at tables.
Substantial food shall be available at all times.

Restaurants - the licensing authority may be prepared to look favourably upon an
application for the grant of a licence, subject to the following restaurant condition.
•

Intoxicating liquor shall not be supplied or sold on the premises otherwise than
to persons taking table meals there and for the consumption by such a person
as an ancillary to their meal. There will be no vertical drinking.

•

Restaurants with outside service - the licensing authority will also consider
applications from restaurants that request to serve alcohol to areas adjacent to
or immediately outside their premises. In addition to the above conditions for
café bars, the licensing authority will expect to see evidence that the applicants
have an agreement with the local authority to use the area as defined on a plan
provided. The following condition may also apply:
The sale and supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall be
restricted to an area licensed by the Local Authority for use of the public
highway as shown on the plan deposited and such area shall be defined by a
physical barrier acceptable to the licensing authority.

•

Late Night Takeaways – Statistics demonstrate links between late opening takeaways, particularly when in close proximity to late night venues, and breaches of the
crime and disorder licensing objective. This can often be associated with drunkenness,
queueing and perceived queue-jumping.

Page 119

37 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Members Club (Club Premises Certificates) – The siting of a new members club
will be considered in any area but anticipated restrictions on numbers and restrictions
on opening times if the application is within a CIZ or SCA would be more likely to be
successful.
Night Club - the siting of a night club in any of our five cumulative impact zones will
need to be robustly supported with the applicant’s reasons with supporting evidence if
appropriate, detailing how such premises will not have an impact on the CIZ. Normally
applications of this nature in an already identified stress zone, will be unsuccessful.
Non Alcohol-Led Premises (E.G. Theatres) – applications for non alcohol-led
premises such as a theatre, would be viewed favourably even within the CIZ or SCA
as detailed in our matrix approach. The applicant would still be expected to show how
they had considered the impact of their premises, but being predominantly nonalcohol, is less likely to receive representations and therefore more likely to succeed.
Off Licence - As a result of our comprehensive knowledge regarding our district, any
application for an off-licence within any of our CIZs or SCAs will be unlikely to succeed
where relevant representations have been made. Applications within the City centre
or any other area (outside of CIZ and SCA) will be expected to contain information
provided by the applicant to demonstrate why they would not have any negative impact
on one or more of the licensing objectives.
Public House - the siting of a new public house in any of our five cumulative impact
zones will be expected to be robustly supported with the applicant’s reasons with
supporting evidence if appropriate, detailing how such premises will not have an
impact on the CIZ. Normally applications of this nature in an already identified stress
zone, will be unsuccessful where relevant representation are received.
All applications will be the subject of a 28-day consultation period and if relevant
representations are received which cannot be mediated with the responsible
authorities or any other person, then it will be necessary to hold a hearing for the
statutory licensing sub- committee to consider. The need for a hearing can only be
avoided with the agreement of the licensing authority, where the applicant and all of
the persons who made relevant representations have given notice to the authority that
they consider a hearing to be unnecessary. The authority will then give notice to all
interested parties that the hearing has been dispensed with.

Page 120

38 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

THE MATRIX APPROACH
The Licensing Authority will support:
Diversity of premises: ensures that there is a mix of the different types of licensed
premises and attracts a more diverse range of customers from different age groups,
different communities and with different attitudes to alcohol consumption.
This will enable City of Wolverhampton Council the potential to positively change the
ambience of the city and specific areas of it. The resultant effect will be to provide a
positive effect in reducing people’s fear of crime and in increasing the number of
evening visitors to the district.
City of Wolverhampton recognise that patrons turning out onto the streets at the same
time may generate increased opportunities for violent crime and public disorder and
we therefore support the idea of mixed-use venues encouraging a wider age balance.
A “matrix” approach to licensing decisions included in this policy is set out below. It
provides a framework of what the licensing authority would like to see within its area
and gives an indication of the likelihood of success or otherwise to investors and
businesses making applications within this district. The matrix approach will only be
implemented where there are relevant representations to the application.
The Matrix Approach, like a Cumulative Impact Zone is not absolute. The Authority
will not fetter its discretion by excluding consideration of an application but will look at
each application on a case-by-case basis. Where the committee procedure is
instigated (through the receipt of relevant representations), the onus will be upon the
applicant to show the Licensing sub-committee why he feels that this application
warrants departure from the policy.
DEFINITIONS
Cumulative Impact Zone - Those areas defined by separate policy which have given
rise to concerns over crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour and street drinking.
Special Consideration Area – Those areas just on the curtilage of the Cumulative
Impact Zones which may give rise to concerns due to the close proximity to these
zones.

Page 121

39 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Matrix approach for licensing decisions in City of Wolverhampton Council’s
Statement of Licensing Policy (times relate to licensable activities)
SPECIAL
CITY
CONSIDERATION CENTRE
AREA
Yes (Midnight)
Yes

OTHER
AREAS

RESTAURANT

CUMULATIVE
IMPACT
AREA
Yes (Midnight)

CAFÉ BAR

Yes– 11:30pm

Yes (Midnight)

Yes

Yes
(Midnight)

LATE
NIGHT No
TAKEAWAYS

Yes (Midnight)

Yes

Yes
(Midnight)

NIGHT CLUB

No

Yes

No

PUBLIC HOUSE No

Yes (11pm)

Yes

Yes
(Midnight)

NON
ALCOHOL-LED
PREMISES
(E.G.
THEATRES)

Yes
(favourable)

Yes (favourable)

Yes

Yes
(favourable)

OFF LICENCE

No

No

Yes

Yes – up to
11pm but if
in densely
residential
areas,
closure time
may
be
earlier

Yes
(100 capacity)
11pm closure

Yes

Yes

No

MEMBERS
Yes
CLUB
(CLUB (100 capacity)
PREMISES
11pm closure
CERTIFICATES)

Page 122

Yes
(Midnight)

40 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Notes on The Matrix Approach
Subject to the following notes, the policy, as represented in the matrix, will be strictly
adhered to:
1) Each application will be considered on its own individual merits. The suggested
terminal hours for different application types may be varied if exceptional circumstances
are demonstrated.
2) Applications within the CIZ are subject to the special policy on cumulative impact. There
is a strong presumption against the success of applications within the CIZ and a need for
exceptional circumstances to be presented. Directly outside this documented zone are
areas which shall be defined as Special Consideration Areas. Applications in close
proximity to, but outside the CIZ, will be more carefully vetted for potential detrimental
impact upon the designated CIZ areas. There is a presumption against the grant of
applications within the special consideration areas.
3) Departure from the matrix policy is expected only in exceptional circumstances.
4) Exceptional circumstances will not include quality of management or size of venue
except where explicitly stated in policy matrix.
5) Exceptional circumstances may include: consultation with and meeting requirements of
responsible authorities, an appropriate corporate social responsibility policy, community
contribution to offset impact (such as membership of BID and Pubwatch), community
support, alcohol sale ancillary to business activity (demonstrable to responsible authorities
and licensing authority, for instance by licence condition allowing authorised officers
access to sales accounts).
6) The following licensing activities are encouraged and valued by the licensing authority:
outdoor regulated entertainment, community-based street parties, members clubs,
traditional pubs outside the city centre and non-alcohol led licensable activities,
particularly within city centre.
7) Other Areas; consideration will be given to the nature of the area and location in relation
to any application. In a residential area for example the knowledge of Public Health, the
Police and Councillors with local knowledge, together with the concerns of local residents
will be relevant when considering applications for off-licences, pubs or café bars,
especially if there is evidence of anti-social behaviour, street drinking or underage
drinking. Earlier closing times may be appropriate. Keen regard will be given to
representations of responsible authorities such as the data provision of Public Health and
other specialist representative knowledge of problematic areas when assessing alcohol
licensing.
8) In an area where there are already several existing off-licences and where
representations are received about negative cumulative impact on the licensing objectives
of a further premises, the application may be refused on these grounds. Wolverhampton
has a recognised problem area for street drinking and anti-social behaviour and for these
reasons any additional applications or variations for off licences are likely to be refused
unless there are significant demonstrable circumstances.
9) Outdoor events will be supported where arranged through the council’s event planning
process. Generally, regulated entertainment in the open-air including tents and marquees

Page 123

41 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

should have a maximum closure hour of 2300. Earlier hours may be imposed in sensitive
open spaces or near residential areas. The Licensing Authority will have regard to
specialist guidance and advice.

LOCAL AUTHORITY DECISION MAKING PROCESS
Where representations are received and not mediated beforehand, the Local Authority
decision making process will be engaged.
This Authority has a body of councillors appointed as a Statutory Licensing Committee
who take decisions on licensing matters. As required by the Act, these councillors will
meet as a Committee or a delegated sub-committee comprising three Licensing
Councillors, one of whom is nominated as Chairperson.
The professional development and competence of licensing councillors will be
provided and maintained to support the need to act as a professional licensing
authority, meeting lawful standards of good administrative decision making. Decisions
made will be after careful consideration of information provide by all of the attendees
at the hearing.
Licensing Act 2003
All decisions are made in accordance with the legislative requirements of the Act,
including Regulations, Guidance made under s182 of the Licensing Act 2003 and this
Statement of Licensing Policy.
Additionally, The Licensing Committee or Sub-Committee will be guided by a specialist
Legal Representative and will have regard to other legislation, case-law, updates and
amendments.
Human Rights
The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the European Convention on Human Rights
and makes it unlawful for a local authority to act in a way that is incompatible with a
Convention right. The licensing authority will have particular regard to the following
relevant provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights: •
•

•

Article 1 of the First Protocol that everyone is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment
of his possessions (including for example possession of a licence).
Article 6 that in the determination of civil rights and obligations everyone is
entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent
and impartial tribunal established by law.
Article 8 that everyone has the right to respect for private and family life and
his home.

Page 124

42 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

DELEGATIONS
The national scheme of delegation for determinations is set out below.
MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH

FULL
LICENSING
COMMITTEE

SUBCOMMITTEE

OFFICERS

Application for personal licence

If
a
police If no relevant
objection
representation
made

Application for personal licence
with unspent convictions

If
a
police
objection

Application
for
premises If discretion If a relevant If no relevant
licence/club premises certificate engaged for representation representation
major
made
made
applications
Application
statement

for

provisional

If a relevant If no relevant
representation representation
made
made

Application to vary premises
licence/club premises certificate

If a relevant If no relevant
representation representation
made
made

Application to vary designated
premises supervisor

If
a
police All
objection
cases

Request to be removed as
designated personal licence
holder
Application for
premises licence

transfer

other

All cases

of

If
a
police All
objection
cases

other

Application for interim authorities

If
a
police All
objection
cases

other

Application to review premises
licence/club premises certificate

All cases

Decision on whether a complaint
is irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious,

All cases

Decision to object when local
authority is a consultee and not
the relevant authority considering
the application

All Cases

Page 125

43 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Decision of a Police/EHO
objection to a Temporary Event
Notice
Policy Decisions

All cases

All Cases

Decision whether to consult other
responsible authorities on minor
variation applications

All cases

Determination of minor variation
applications

All cases

Page 126

44 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

LIST OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES

https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/licences/alcohol-licences/responsibleauthorities-alcohol

West Midlands Police - Licensing
wv_licensing@west-midlands.pnn.police.uk
01902 649085
Bilston Street Police Station
Bilston Street
Wolverhampton
WV1 3AA
West Midlands Fire Service
firesafety.admin@wmfs.net
0121 380 7500
West Midlands Fire Service Headquarters
Protection Admin
99 Vauxhall Road
Birmingham
B7 4HW

Environmental Health
environmentalhealth_responsibleauthority@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 554320
Environmental Health
Wolverhampton City Council
Civic Centre
St Peter’s Square
Wolverhampton
WV1 1DA

Page 127

45 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Local Planning Authority
building.control@wolverhampton.gov.uk
planning@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 551155
Development Control
Wolverhampton City Council
Civic Centre
St Peter’s Square.
Wolverhampton
WV1 1RG

The Home Office
alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
Alcohol Licensing Team
Lunar House
40 Wellesley Road
Croydon
CR9 2BY

Protection of Children from Harm
dawn.williams@wolverhampton.gov.uk
paul.cooper@wolverhampton.gcsx.gov.uk
01902 550661
Safeguarding Children
Wolverhampton City Council
Priory Green Building
Whitburn Close
Pendeford
Wolverhampton
WV9 5NJ

Page 128

46 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Trading Standards
paul.dosanjh@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 556056
Trading Standards
Wolverhampton City Council
Civic Centre
St Peter’s Square
Wolverhampton
WV1 1DA

Director of Public Health
parpinder.singh@wolverhampton.gov.uk
publichealth@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 555475
Director of Public Health
Public Health
2nd Floor
Civic Centre
St Peters Square
Wolverhampton
WV1 1RT

Licensing Authority
licensing@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 551155
Wolverhampton City Council
Civic Centre
St Peter’s Square.
Wolverhampton
WV1 1DA

Page 129

47 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

CONDITIONS APPLICABLE TO LICENCES – 3 METHODS OF APPLICATION
The conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate set the parameters
within which premises can lawfully operate. Conditions are attached to licences and
certificates in three ways:
1. Mandatory Conditions, as set out in the Licensing Act 2003, stipulated on all licences
and certificates.
2. Operating Schedule Conditions, where the completed operating schedule submitted
by the applicant is translated into conditions which apply to the licence or certificate.
These will be taken from completed applications for new premises licences or club
premises certificates or variation applications.
3. Conditions applied by the Licensing Sub-Committee.
Where relevant
representations have been made by the Responsible Authorities (such as the police,
Environmental Health and Trading Standards, or other parties such as local residents),
the licensing authority may impose such conditions it considers appropriate to address
these representations in order to promote the licensing objectives.
These model conditions are intended to provide a consistent approach for all parties
by specifying suggested appropriate conditions that could be included on any licence
or certificate granted; this could be by the applicant in designing the operating
schedule, by responsible authorities or other parties in seeking to address concerns
associated with the application, or ultimately, by the licensing authority when imposing
conditions considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.
All relevant standards are expected to be addressed through the operating schedules
and it is the Council’s policy that the licensing authority will attach conditions in line
with the standards where appropriate and proportionate to promote the licensing
objectives.
As stipulated in the legislation, these model conditions should not be regarded as
standard conditions that apply in all cases. They should be regarded as a suggested
conditions which may be tailored as appropriate to the size, type, location and
characteristics of – and activities taking place at – the premises concerned.
The model conditions are not constrained to only addressing the issues they are listed
against, and they may be used to address other relevant matters. The conditions are
not intended to be, nor can they be, an exhaustive list, and they do not restrict the
ability of any party to propose, or the Committee to impose, any reasonable or
proportionate condition they consider appropriate for the promotion of the licensing
objectives.
It is the intention of this licensing authority that our statement of licensing policy
suggested conditions, conditions applied by a licensing sub-committee or multiagency proposed minor variations, will as far as possible, not include conditions
which duplicate or are imposed by other regulatory regimes.

Page 130

48 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

TABLE OF CONDITIONS

Prevention of crime and disorder (CD)
Implementation of effective security measures at the premises
Issue to be addressed
Appropriate conditions
There should be a defined policy that The premises licence holder will arrange for a
documents the security measures in crime prevention audit to be conducted by
place for the premises.
West Midlands
Police or independent company approved by
the
licensing
authority,
and
the
recommendations of the audit shall be
implemented within three months.
A defined policy should ensure a All staff shall be briefed and be aware of their
consistent approach and explain the responsibilities and relevant company
standards expected of staff.
operating procedures before they commence
paid duty at the premises.
It is expected that premises hold
security review meetings on a regular
basis to help identify and resolve
issues and ensure that staff are fully
aware of important issues. Relevant
issues could include the prevention of
thefts, or identifying problematic
individuals.

The premises licence and/or Designated
Premises Supervisor (DPS) shall carry out
reviews of security incidents at the premises.
Such reviews shall be documented and
conducted at least [monthly] [quarterly] and
include details of any remedial action
identified and implemented. Copies of the
security review shall be made available upon
inspection by a responsible authority, police
officer, or authorised officer.

The effective Management of queues outside the premises
Queues should be managed effectively The designated queuing area shall be
to prevent any nuisance or disorderly enclosed within appropriate barriers to ensure
behaviour.
that the footway is kept clear.
Any queue to enter the premises that forms
outside the premises shall be kept orderly and
supervised by licensed door supervisors to
ensure that there is no public nuisance or
obstruction to the public highway.
Queuing outside the premises shall be
restricted to a designated area located at
[specify location].
The control of entry and egress from the premises, including assessing the need for
door supervisors

Page 131

49 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Consideration should be given to how Any person who appears to be intoxicated or
capacity will be controlled and how who is behaving in a disorderly manner shall
already drunk or disorderly individuals not be allowed entry to the premises
will be prevented from being admitted.
A Clubscan/IDSCAN or similar system shall
be operated at the premises. All persons
entering the premises must provide verifiable
ID and record their details on the system.
The need for security staff will be
determined by documented risk
assessment. Where door supervisors
are provided, it is expected that
licensees have consideration of the
following:

The premises licence holder shall ensure that
the provision of door supervisors at the
premises is appropriate to ensure the safe
control of the premises, and shall review this
on a regular basis and upon request from
WMP.

High-visibility identification – It is
expected that door supervisors shall All staff engaged outside the entrance to the
be easily identifiable by wearing
premises, or supervising or controlling
high-visibility clothing.
queues, shall wear high-visibility
[jackets or vests] [armbands].
Appropriate number of staff – Door
supervisors should be employed at A minimum of [2] Security Industry Authority
specified times with regard to the SIA-licensed door supervisors shall be on duty
individual circumstances of the at the entrance of the premises at all times
premises. The need for door staff while it is open for business.
should also be regularly reviewed and
risk-assessed,
and
appropriate Door supervisors shall be employed at the
security employed.
ratio of [XX] door supervisor for every 100
customers (or part thereof).
At least [XX] female door supervisor(s) shall
be on duty at the premises at such times as
door supervisors are required to be provided.
When the premises are carrying on licensable
activities after [XX:XX] hours, at least [XX]
The role of door supervisors in registered door supervisor(s) Is (are) to be on
ensuring effective dispersal of patrons duty at each door used for entry or exit.
from the premises at the end of the
night – Door supervisors should be A minimum of [XX] SIA-licensed door
instructed to encourage persons supervisors shall be on duty at the exit from
leaving the premises to do so without the premises to ensure orderly dispersal from
causing disturbance and in an orderly [XX] hours until the area immediately outside
fashion.
the premises is clear of customers at the close
of business.
SIA Approved Contractor Scheme
Companies

Page 132

50 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Holding security briefings at the start
and end of duty.
Any door supervisors on duty at the premises
must be supplied by an SIA-Approved
Contractor Scheme company
All door supervisors shall be briefed on their
responsibilities and relevant company
operating procedures before they commence
duty.

Maintaining a register of door
An incident log (which may be electronically
supervisors on duty on any occasion recorded) shall be kept at the premises for at
they are employed at the premises.
least six months, and made available on
request to WMP or an authorised officer of the
licensing authority, which will record the
following incidents including pertinent details:
the times on duty, names and the licence
numbers, of all licensed door supervisors
employed by the premises.
The need for searches will be
determined by risk assessment.

The premises licence holder and/or DPS shall
carry out a documented risk assessment on
the need for searching patrons entering the
premises. The risk assessment shall be
reviewed regularly and no less than every six
months.

Any search policy is expected to A written policy that aims to prevent customers
include provision for the following or staff bringing illegal drugs, weapons or
circumstances:
other illegal items onto the premises at any
time shall be in place and operated at the
premises.
a. Records maintained of searches
and seized items – Records should be An incident log (which may be electronically
maintained of any searches where recorded) shall be kept at the premises for at
prohibited items are seized and least six months, and made available on
removed. Records should be made
request to the police or an authorised officer of
available to the police.
the licensing authority, which will record the
following incidents including pertinent details:
seizures of drugs, offensive
b. Circumstances under which fraudulent ID or other items.
searches will be conducted – Risk

Page 133

weapons,

51 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

assessments should be conducted to A clearly visible notice shall be placed at each
consider
when
searches
are entrance to the premises advising those
appropriate.
attending that it is a condition of entry that
customers agree to being searched and that
c. Location of where searches will take the police will be informed if anyone is found
place – Areas should be covered by
in possession of controlled substances or
CCTV and not be in isolated areas.
weapons.
d. Use of detection devices to detect
weapons and drugs and when and
where they will be used –
Consideration for appropriate
detection devices should be
risk-assessed and employed
as appropriate.

All persons entering or re-entering the
premises shall be searched by an SIA-trained
member of staff [in an area monitored by
premises CCTV].

No patron shall be admitted or readmitted to
the premises after [XX:XX} hours unless they
have passed through a metal detecting search
e. Putting procedures in place for the arch and, if the search arch is activated or at
seizure and retention of recovered
the discretion of staff, been physically
drugs and other prohibited items –
searched in accordance
Items recovered should be kept in a with a procedure agreed with West Midlands
secure location and the police notified. Police, which will include a ‘pat down search’
and a full bag search.
There shall be a policy agreed with West
Midlands Police for the premises relating to
illegal drugs, weapons or other prohibited
items found on persons attempting to enter or
on the premises.
The premises should have a
documented policy that includes
searches before the premises open,
during hours of operation and at
closing.

The DPS and/or a nominated member of staff
shall carry out searches of the premises
before the premises open, during hours of
operation and at closing. Any relevant items
recovered, eg. illegal drugs, lost property,
shall be managed accordingly, in accordance
with company procedures.

Late-night premises in the city centre The Night-Safe Radio shall be operated [from
are expected to consider subscribing [XX:XX] hours until the premises have closed]
to the Night Safe Radio System.
[at all times the premises are open to the
public]. The radio shall be kept in good
working order, operated by a responsible
member of staff and used to report incidents
of crime and disorder to the CCTV control
room and other radio users from the base at
the Mander Centre.

Page 134

52 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Important and relevant incidents that
occur at the premises should be
recorded.
Such records should be made
available upon request by a
responsible authority.
Recordable incidents could include:
– Accidents
– Lost and found property
– Refused sales of alcohol
– Thefts
– Banned and ejected persons
– Other incidents
– Injuries
– Allegations against staff.

An incident log (which may be electronically
recorded) shall be kept at the premises for at
least six months, and made available on
request to the police or an authorised officer of
the licensing authority, which will record the
following incidents including pertinent details:
(a) all crimes reported to the venue, or by the
venue to the police
(b) all ejections of patrons
(c) any complaints received
(d) any incidents of disorder
(e) seizures of drugs, offensive weapons,
fraudulent ID or other items
(f) any faults in the CCTV system, searching
equipment or scanning equipment
(g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol
(h) any faults in the CCTV system, searching
equipment or scanning equipment
(i) any visit by a relevant authority or
emergency service
(j) the times on duty, names and the licence
numbers of all licensed door supervisors
employed by the premises.

Promoters are expected to notify West
Midlands Police in writing to
wv_licensing@westmidlands.pnn.police.uk
and the licensing authority no later
than 28 days before the event.

28 days’ notice shall be given to West
Midlands Police of any events held that are
organised by an external promoter, including
full details of the nature of the event and of the
promoter.
There shall be no events at the premises that
are organised by an external promoter.

Documented staff training should be
conducted relevant to the prevention of
crime and disorder issues on the
premises, to include (but not limited
to):
– Age restrictions in respect of
products
– Responsible Alcohol Service,
including
recognising
signs
of
drunkenness, refusal skills, drugs
awareness
– Company policies and reporting
procedures (see above)
– Managing and resolving conflict
– Action to be taken in the event of an
emergency, including the report of a

All staff shall be trained in:
[relevant age restrictions in respect of
products],
[recognising signs of drunkenness],
[how to refuse service],
[the premises’ duty of care],
[company policies and reporting procedures],
[ action to be taken in the event of an
emergency, including
the preservation of a crime scene and
reporting an incident
to the emergency services],
[the conditions in force under this licence].
Documented records of training completed
shall be kept for each member of staff.

Page 135

53 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

crime, fire, or request for emergency
medical attention
– Licence conditions
– Relevant obligations and offences
under the Licensing Act 2003,
including those associated with the
sale of alcohol.

Training shall be regularly refreshed and at no
greater than [4] [6] [12] monthly intervals.
Training records shall be made available for
inspection upon request by a police officer or
an authorised officer of City of Wolverhampton
Council.

Records of all training should be
documented and kept on the premises
available for inspection by the
responsible authorities.

The designated premises supervisor shall
attend a formal training course on [avoiding
underage sales] [responsible alcohol sales]
such as the National Certificate for Designated
Premises Supervisors or the BIIAB Award in
Responsible Retailing and provide evidence of
attendance if requested.

The premises should have a written
policy in relation to drunkenness.
Premises should not admit persons
who are visibly intoxicated and staff
should
be
trained
regarding
responsible alcohol sales, identifying
drunkenness and preventing alcohol
sales to them.

All staff shall be trained in recognising signs of
drunkenness, how to refuse service and the
premises duty of care. Documented records of
training completed shall be kept for each
member of staff. Training shall be regularly
refreshed and at no greater than [4] [6] [12]
monthly intervals. Training records shall be
made available for inspection upon request by
a police officer or an authorised officer of City
Alcohol of Wolverhampton Council.

Use of the ‘Responsible
Service’ Guide.
http://www.iard.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/01/TK-ServersGuide.pdf

There shall be no self-service of spirits on the
premises.
The premises shall have a documented Duty
of Care policy for managing intoxicated and
vulnerable customers at the premises. The
policy shall also include provision for persons
refused entry to the premises who are also
considered vulnerable by staff.
The premises shall display prominent signage
indicating [at any point of sale] [at the entrance
to the premises] [in all areas where alcohol is
located] that it is an offence to sell alcohol to
anyone who is drunk.
The supply of alcohol shall only be to a person
seated taking a table meal there and for
consumption by such a person as ancillary to
their meal.

Page 136

54 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

The sale of alcohol shall only be by waiter
service to seated customers, and there shall
be no sales of alcohol at the bar.
Substantial
food
and
non-intoxicating
beverages, including drinking water, shall be
available in all parts of the premises where
alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on
the premises during the periods when alcohol
is sold.
A log (which may be electronically recorded)
shall be kept detailing all refused sales of
alcohol. The log should include the date and
time of the refused sale and the name of the
member of staff who refused the sale. The log
shall be available for inspection at the
premises by the police or an authorised officer
of City of Wolverhampton Council at all times
while the premises are open.
Consideration should be given to how
any promotions could impact upon the
mandatory licence condition for onlicensed
premises
prohibiting
irresponsible
promotions.
It
is
expected
that
licensees
have
reference to recognised codes of
practice in respect of the responsible
sale and promotion of alcohol
products, such as those codes issued
by the British Beer and Pub
Association, Portman Group and
Drinkaware Trust.
http://beerandpub.com/wpcontent/uploads/2017/Briefings/HomeOffice-Good-Practise-On-MandatoryConditions.pdf

*Voluntary Only* No super-strength beer,
lagers or ciders (including perries) of 6.5%
ABV (alcohol by volume) or above shall be
sold at the premises.

It should be demonstrated how the
premises will be effectively monitored,
eg. patrols by staff, which areas will be
covered by CCTV, whether security
staff will be employed (and, if so,
where), as well as any other
appropriate measures.
Additionally, appropriate monitoring of
external areas, eg. immediately
outside the entrance to the premises,

The premises shall install and maintain a
comprehensive digital [colour] CCTV system.
All public areas of the licensed premises,
including all public entry and exit points, and
the street environment will be covered,
enabling facial identification of every person
entering in any light condition. The CCTV
cameras shall continually record while the
premises are open to the public and recording
shall be kept available and unedited for a

Any promotional activity shall comply with the
most current Portman Group Code of Practice
on the Rules for Naming, Packaging and
Promotion
of
alcoholic
drinks.
http://www.portmangroup.org.uk/docs/defaultsource/code-of-practice/code-of-practice--as-on-website.pdf?sfvrsn=2

Page 137

55 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

smoking shelters and beer gardens, minimum of [28] days with the date and time
should be addressed where relevant.
stamping.
A staff member who is conversant with the
Details of CCTV cameras should be operation of the CCTV system shall be
provided (both internal and external).
present on the premises at all times when they
are open to the public and must be able to
CCTV should be installed in liaison produce/download/burn CCTV images upon
with, and to a standard approved by request by a police officer or an authorised
West Midlands Police.
officer of the licensing authority.
Any footage must be in a format that can be
played back on a standard personal computer
or standard DVD player. Where the recording
is on a removable medium (ie. compact disc,
flash card etc), a secure storage system to
store those recording mediums shall be
provided. (Note: this condition may be
scaled back as appropriate for smaller
premises.)
The position of CCTV cameras at the
premises shall be to the satisfaction of West
Midlands Police and a plan showing the
cameras shall be provided for the licensing
authority and West Midlands Police.
A TV monitor shall be positioned at the
entrance/exit to the premises, showing live
footage of persons entering and leaving.
CCTV installed, monitored and 24-hour
recordings kept for 28 days and made
available to constables and persons
authorised under the 2003 Act to help identify
attempted proxy purchasing.

The licensing authority considers it There shall be a personal licence holder on
good practice for alcohol-licensed duty on the premises at all times when the
premises to ensure that there is a premises are authorised to sell alcohol.
personal licence holder on site at all
times the premises are open for the
sale of alcohol.
Depending on the size of the premises,
it may be appropriate for multiple
personal licence holders to be on duty,
eg. if the premises have more than one
bar or are particularly large.

The Designated Premises Supervisor shall
ensure that a written notice of authority is kept
at the premises for all staff who sell alcohol.
The notice shall be made available for

Page 138

56 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

inspection upon request of the police or an
authorised officer of the licensing authority
and all staff selling alcohol must be in
possession of formal identification to verify
their identity against the notice.
A zero-tolerance policy should be
implemented regarding the use of
illegal drugs on the premises. A drugs
policy should be in writing and include
how drugs will be prevented from being
brought into the premises, what action
the venue will take should anyone be
caught with drugs on the premises,
and how the drugs will be disposed of.
The use of toilet attendants, regular
documented
toilet
checks
and
searches of the premises could be
conducted.
Licensees for on-licensed premises
should also consider what action will
be taken to prevent the spiking of
drinks at the premises. This could
include encouraging customers to
ensure that drinks are not left
unattended, and the use of publicity
material to ensure customers remain
vigilant.

There shall be a policy agreed with West
Midlands Police for the premises relating to
illegal or ‘recreational’ drugs (including ‘legal
highs’) found on persons or on the premises.

A documented risk assessment should
be conducted for the use of glassware
on the premises, and safer drinking
vessels, such as toughened glass or
polycarbonate should be used when
appropriate. Risk assessments should
also include the use of glass in external
areas (if appropriate) as well as how
glass collections will be managed
throughout the premises, including the
frequency of such collections.

Alcohol is to be served in polycarbonate,
plastic or shatterproof glasses [on specified
days or events] [upon reasonable notice by
West Midlands Police].
No drinks shall be served in glass containers
at any time.
Open containers of alcohol shall not be
removed from the premises, except for
consumption in any delineated external area
as shown on the plan attached to the licence.
The designated premises supervisor shall
ensure that tables are cleared of all bottles
and glasses on a regular basis during trading
hours to avoid an accumulation of glassware.

Where businesses are selling alcohol
for consumption off the premises, the
following may be appropriate to
impose as a self-regulating measure or
applied by the licensing sub-committee
in circumstances where alcohol sales

Designated single items – beer, alcopops and
cider – must not to be sold to any person. A
minimum of 4 units of beer, alcopops or cider
to be sold as a multi-pack only.

There shall be a lockable ‘drugs box’ at the
premises to which no member of staff, except
the DPS and/or [designated roleholder at
business], shall have access. All controlled
drugs (or items suspected to be, or containing
controlled drugs) found at the premises must
be placed in this box as soon as
practicable. Whenever this box is emptied, all
its contents must be given to West Midlands
Police for appropriate disposal.

Page 139

57 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

are problematic amongst children or
drunken persons.
Premises which are known to sell
alcohol to children to be conditioned to Products to be labelled (a label stuck to the
label stock thereby providing evidence bottle or can) to show the details of the shop
of unlawful sales if product found making the sale.
commonly in possession of persons
under 18.

Page 140

58 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Public safety (PS)
Issue to be addressed

Appropriate conditions

Capacity should be managed effectively
and in accordance with an appropriate
risk
assessment
to
prevent
overcrowding.
Advice should be sought from West
Midlands Fire and Rescue in relation
to the safe capacity for premises and
how it should be managed.

The number of persons permitted in the
premises at any one time including staff
shall not exceed [XX] persons, and this
number shall be prominently displayed
by each entrance to the premises. The
premises licence holder shall ensure a
suitable method of calculating the
number of people present during
licensable activities is in place, and that
the results are securely recorded in a
logbook for a period of at least 12
months.

Licensed premises should:
– Conduct a Fire Risk Assessment for
the premises, which is reviewed as
required, and as a minimum every
12 months.

All external fire exit doors shall be fitted
with sensor alarms and visible indicators
to alert staff when the doors have been
opened.

– Ensure all fire equipment is inspected All firefighting equipment is inspected
and serviced annually and documented. and serviced in line with the appropriate
British Standard.
Consideration should be given to
implementing such checklists as they
can help ensure that all appropriate
and routine actions are conducted
consistently, ensuring good practice.

The premises shall operate a preopening and closing checklist to ensure
all appropriate steps have been taken
before the premises are open to the
public and at the close of business each
day. These checks shall be recorded and
kept for a minimum of six months and
made available for inspection upon
request by a responsible authority, police
officer or authorised officer.

Documented staff training should be
provided to ensure adequate public
safety on the premises, including
(but not limited to):

The premises licence holder shall ensure
that at all times when the public is
present there is at least one competent
person able to administer first aid, that an

Page 141

59 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

adequate and appropriate supply of first
– First aid
aid equipment and materials is available
– Fire safety procedures
on the premises, and that adequate
– Evacuation procedures
records are maintained in relation to the
– Terrorist threats (predominantly city- supply of any first aid treatment.
centre venues)
The designated premises supervisor
shall attend a formal public safety type
– Overcrowding.
training course, provided by West
Midlands Fire Service, (responsible
person course) where such training is
available, and provide evidence of
attendance if requested.
All staff on duty at the premises shall be
trained in the Fire Safety and Evacuation
procedures for the premises and aware
of their individual responsibilities. This
includes
any
door
supervisors.
Documented
records
of
training
completed shall be kept for each
member of staff. Training shall be
regularly refreshed.
Training records shall be made available
for inspection upon request by a police
officer or an authorised officer of City of
Wolverhampton Council.
Licensed premises, particularly those
located in the city centre, should have
regard to the Crowded places Guidance
2017
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/820082/170614_crow
ded-places-guidance_v1b.pdf

Staff training shall include procedures to
deal
effectively
with
emergency
incidents, including:
i) reporting an emergency to the relevant
emergency service
ii) safe evacuation of customers
iii) dealing with terrorist threats or
incidents.

Premises licensed for the sale of alcohol
for consumption on the premises should
have a policy and procedure in place to
ensure effective and efficient collection
of glasses and the cleaning up of
spillages throughout the premises.

The designated premises supervisor
shall ensure that tables are cleared of all
bottles and glasses on a regular basis
during trading hours to avoid an
accumulation of glassware.

Page 142

60 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

The prevention of public nuisance (PN)
Issue to be addressed

Appropriate conditions

This relates to both internal and external
areas. Measures such as doubleglazing, the use of an acoustic lobby,
noise-limitation
devices
and
soundproofing for internal areas may be
relevant.
Licensees should demonstrate the
measures taken to address such issues.

All windows and external doors shall be
kept closed between [XX:XX] hours and
[XX:XX] hours, or at any time when
regulated entertainment takes place,
except for the immediate access and
egress of persons.
No noise shall emanate from the
premises nor vibration be transmitted
through the structure of the premises that
gives rise to a nuisance.
A tamper-proof noise-limiting device
shall be fitted to the sound system within
the premises and all amplified music
played at the premises must pass
through this sound limiter at a level
agreed by the Council’s Environmental
Health section. The noise limiter shall not
be altered without prior agreement with
the Council’s Environmental Health
section.
Speakers shall not be located/operated
in the entrance lobby or outside the
premises, nor shall they be located or
positioned in such a manner as to cause
a nuisance outside the premises.
While live or recorded music takes place,
the licensee or management shall
undertake regular monitoring of noise
levels at the nearest noise-sensitive
locations. A record shall be kept of any
monitoring, including the date, time and
location of monitoring; the name of the
monitor; and any action taken. Records
shall be kept for no less than six months
and shall be made available upon
request by a police officer or an
authorised
officer
of
City
of
Wolverhampton Council.

Page 143

61 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

Staff shall monitor customers smoking
outside the premises on a regular basis
and ensure patrons do not cause a public
nuisance.
Consideration should be given to a There shall be no admittance or
curfew on entry times, which can reduce readmittance to the premises after
the possibility of persons who may have [XX:XX] hours.
been attracted to the premises causing
noise and disturbance late at night.
Licensees are expected to communicate
with local residents and businesses to
address and resolve relevant problems.
This could include giving contact
telephone numbers to local residents so
they can report any issues to the
premises for them to be dealt with. It is
expected that contacts at the premises
would be persons in a position of
responsibility who are contactable
whenever the premises are open to the
public so that any issues can be
addressed without delay. Licensees
could also arrange regular meetings with
neighbours to ensure good relations.

A direct telephone number for the
manager of the premises shall be
publicly available at all times the
premises are open. This telephone
number is to be made available to
residents in the vicinity.

Where the premises include any exterior
areas, licensees should demonstrate
what measures are in place to prevent
issues that may give rise to problems.
Relevant considerations should include:
– A limit on the number of patrons in such
areas
– Whether there is a curfew
– How they will be delineated, if relevant
– How premises will be kept clean and
litter free, particularly at the end of
trading
– What supervision will be in place?
– Will the premises be covered by
CCTV?
– Will glasses be allowed outside?
– What glass collection arrangements
will be in place?
– How to avoid customers causing
noise disturbance
– How the premises will prevent

There shall be a documented smoking
policy, as agreed with the City of
Wolverhampton Council Environmental
Health section, implemented at the
premises and a copy lodged with the
Council’s Licensing Unit.

Local residents shall be invited to
quarterly residents’ meetings held by the
premises licence holder to resolve any
problems associated with the carrying on
of licensable activities at the premises.
The minutes of the meeting and any
action to be taken shall be lodged with
the Council’s Licensing Department by
the premises licence holder within seven
days of the meeting.

Notices shall be prominently displayed at
any area used for smoking, requesting
patrons to respect the needs of local
residents and use the area quietly.
Staff shall monitor customers smoking
outside the premises on a regular basis
and ensure patrons do not cause a public
nuisance.
Outside tables and chairs (in the beer
garden) shall be rendered unusable by
[XX:XX] hours each day.

Page 144

62 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

begging at, and in the immediate
exterior of, the premises.

All tables and chairs (in the beer garden)
shall be removed from the outside area
by [XX:XX] hours each day.
Alcohol consumed outside the premises
shall only be consumed by patrons
seated at tables.
Patrons permitted to temporarily leave
and then re-enter the premises, eg. to
smoke, shall not be permitted to take
drinks or glass containers with them.

Where the licensable activities could
give rise to litter being dropped in the
vicinity of the premises, the measures in
place to prevent this occurring and/or to
tidy it up should be demonstrated. Such
measures could include regular litter
inspections during the hours of operation
and at the close of business, the placing
of litter bins in prominent areas of the
premises, reducing packaging, and the
use of branded packaging.

At the end of trading each day, the
pavement from the building line to the
kerb edge immediately outside the
premises, including gutter/channel at its
junction with the kerb edge, shall be
swept or washed, and litter and
sweepings collected and stored in
accordance with the approved waste
storage arrangements.
All takeaway packaging and wrappers
shall clearly identify the premises, ie. by
way of company logo or name.
The
premises
and
immediate
surrounding area shall be kept clean and
free from litter at all times the premises
are open to the public.
Litter bins shall be provided at the
premises in sufficient capacity to ensure
that customers can adequately dispose
of any litter.

Any use of flyers and other promotional No unauthorised advertisement of any
material should be done in a responsible kind (including placard, poster, sticker,
and appropriate manner.
flyer, picture, letter, sign or other mark)
shall be inscribed or affixed upon the
surface of the highway, or upon any
building,
structure,
works,
street
furniture, tree, or any other property, or
distributed to the public, that advertises
or promotes the establishment, its
premises, or any of its events, facilities,
goods or services.
Adequate and secure storage for refuse No rubbish, including bottles, shall be
should be provided that is appropriate for moved, removed or placed in outside

Page 145

63 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

the nature of the business. Particular
regard should be given to the
management of glass bottles to prevent
them being taken outside the premises
as potential weapons, and to the
emptying of bottles into refuse
containers at times that could disturb
local residents and businesses.

areas between [XX:XX] and [XX:XX]
hours.
No bottles, glasses or similar items may
be disposed of in outside receptacles
between [XX:XX] and [XX:XX] hours.
All waste shall be properly presented and
placed out for collection no earlier than
30 minutes before the scheduled
collection times.

Consideration should be given to how
and at what times deliveries are made to
the premises to avoid disturbance to
local residents and businesses and
avoid any obstruction. Equally, this
would apply to any collections from the
premises, eg. refuse collections by
private contractors.

All deliveries to the premises must be
made via the rear of the premises.
No deliveries must be made to the
premises between [XX:XX] and [XX:XX]
hours.
Delivery drivers shall conduct the
delivery in a manner that will not cause a
noise disturbance to the occupiers of any
residential properties surrounding the
delivery address. This includes the
avoidance of slamming doors, playing
loud music, shouting, overrevving
engines and sounding horns to signal
their arrival. The driver shall turn the
engine off immediately upon arrival at the
delivery address and will park
considerately without causing any
obstruction to the highway.
All deliveries of alcohol shall only be
delivered to a premises address with a
valid postcode and will only be delivered
directly to that property.
Customers must be instructed when
placing the order that they will not be
able to collect the order from the vehicle.
All deliveries will only be made directly to
the property address and customers will
not be permitted to take orders from the
vehicle.

Licensed premises need to ensure the
orderly exit and dispersal of customers
from
the
premises.
Relevant
considerations could include:

There shall be a documented dispersal
policy, as agreed with the relevant
responsible authorities, implemented at
the premises and a copy lodged with the
Council’s Licensing Unit.

Page 146

64 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

– Prominent display of notices requiring
courtesy for neighbours
–
Preventing
customers
from
congregating outside
– Directing to and advising on available
public transport
– Providing contact details for
taxi/private hire firms and provision of a
call-back service
– Use of a dedicated taxi/private hire
service
– Implementing a dispersal policy based
upon good practice
– Use of a winding-down period
– The role of door supervisors in
managing persons leaving.

Notices shall be prominently displayed at
all exits requesting patrons to respect the
needs of local residents and leave the
area quietly.
The licence holder shall enter into an
agreement with a hackney carriage
and/or private hire firm to provide
transport for customers, with contact
numbers made readily available to
customers, who will be encouraged to
use such services.
A call-back system must be operated,
and drivers instructed not to sound their
horns when collecting customers.

Page 147

65 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

The protection of children from harm (CH)
Issue to be addressed

Appropriate conditions

Regard should be had to specific risks
that may arise when children are on
the premises. The risk assessment
should be documented and available
for inspection by the responsible
authorities upon request.
Relevant considerations could include:

Entry by children under the age of 18 [to
the premises] [a specified part of the
premises] is prohibited [whilst the
following licensable activities take place:]
[between the hours of [XX] and [XX]]
[unless accompanied by an adult over
the age of 18].

– Will access be restricted to certain
areas of the premises?
– Is there adequate supervision?
– Are the areas covered by CCTV?
– Will alcohol sales be restricted in
areas where children are permitted?
– How will children be prevented from
accessing alcohol?
Special consideration is expected to be
given to promoted events in licensed
premises aimed at, or likely to attract,
persons under 18. The licensing
authority expects robust measures to
be in place to address potential risks
associated with such an activity.

No events solely for those under the age
of 18 will be permitted on the premises.
The premises licence holder must
ensure that there is a minimum of one
member of staff on duty for every [[XX]
– number to be confirmed by
Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children’s
Board] children in the premises at any
one time to assist in the evacuation of
children in an emergency. Such number
of staff may include licensed door
supervisors.
The premises licence holder shall ensure
that adequate arrangements, including
transport, are implemented for ensuring
the wellbeing of children at the
conclusion
of
any
regulated
entertainment under this licence.

Where adult-only entertainment is
provided, children should be prevented
from being on the premises when such
entertainment is taking place.

No persons under 18 shall be permitted
on the premises at any time that adult
entertainment is provided at the
premises.

Premises licensed for the sale of
alcohol should take proactive steps to
prevent this occurring.
Possible measures include:
– Regular checks around and/or
outside the premises for underage
persons encouraging adults to purchase
alcohol for them
– Use of CCTV, particularly in

The premises shall display prominent
signage indicating [at any point of sale]
[at the entrance to the premises] [in all
areas where alcohol is located] that it is
an offence to buy, or attempt to buy,
alcohol for a person under the age of 18.

Page 148

66 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

external areas
– Displaying prominent notices in
the premises explaining the law in
relation to purchasing alcohol on
behalf of persons under 18 and the
penalties involved.
It is expected that any child performers
are properly licensed with the Council’s
Juvenile Employment Department and
a nominated adult is present to act in
a supervisory capacity.

Where
age-restricted
films
are
displayed, appropriate and effective
measures must be in place to ensure
relevant age restrictions are complied
with.

Effective and appropriate measures
must be taken to ensure age restrictions
are enforced at the premises. Relevant
considerations include:
– Details of what forms of ID are
acceptable
– The use of till prompts
– The maintenance of refusal logs
– Staff training.

The licence holder and/or DPS shall
ensure that any child performer is
licensed with City of Wolverhampton
Council’s
Licensing
Unit
and
accompanied by a registered chaperone.
Documented records should be kept for
six months, including the child’s name,
their licence number and chaperone
details.
The Challenge [21] [25] scheme must be
operated to ensure that any person who
appears to be under the age of [21] [25]
shall provide documented proof that
he/she is over 18 years of age. Proof of
age shall only comprise a passport,
photo card driving licence, an EU/EEA
national ID card or similar document, an
HM Forces warrant card, or a card
bearing the PASS hologram.
The Challenge [21] [25] scheme must be
operated to ensure that any person who
appears to be under the age of [21] [25]
shall provide documented proof that
he/she is over 18 years of age. Proof of
age shall only comprise a passport,
photo card driving licence, an HM Forces
warrant card, or a card bearing the PASS
hologram.
The premises shall display prominent
signage indicating [at any point of sale]
[at the entrance to the premises] [in all
areas where alcohol is located] that the
Challenge [21] [25] scheme is in
operation.
A log shall be kept at the premises to
record all refused sales of alcohol for the
reasons that the person(s) is/are, or
appear(s) to be, under 18 years of age.
The log shall record the date and time of
the refusal and the name of the member

Page 149

67 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

of staff who refused the sale. The log will
be available on request by the police or
an authorised officer of City of
Wolverhampton Council.
The log shall be checked on a regular
basis by the Designated Premises
Supervisor to ensure that it is being used
by staff and each check shall be
recorded in the log.
There shall be a policy for the premises
agreed with West Midlands Police on the
handling of fraudulent identification used
to attempt to purchase alcohol or gain
entry to the premises.
The premises shall display prominent
signage indicating [at any point of sale]
[at the entrance to the premises] [in all
areas where alcohol is located] that it is
an offence to buy or attempt to buy
alcohol for a person who is under 18 and
for a person under the age of 18 to buy
or attempt to buy alcohol.
Designated checkout(s) for alcohol sales
(supermarket).
Personal licence holder/DPS to be on
site at all times during sales of alcohol.
Personal
licence
holder/DPS
to
supervise and authorise every individual
sale of alcohol.
SIA registered security staff to be
present at points of sales to support staff
refusing sales to u-18s and drunks.
Alcohol sales only to be made only by
person aged 25 years or over

Documented staff training is expected,
particularly in relation to activities
consistent with the licensing objectives,
including (but not limited to):
– Identification and refusal of
underage sales
– Age-restricted products

CCTV installed at all points of sale and
recorded.
In addition to any other training, the
premises licence holder shall ensure that
all staff are trained to prevent underage
sales, are aware of and prevent proxy
sales, maintain the refusals log, enter
sales correctly on the tills so the prompts
show as

Page 150

68 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

– Any access restrictions to the
premises by children.

appropriate, and that they monitor staff to
ensure their training is put into practice.
Documented
records
of
training
completed shall be kept for each
member of staff. Training shall be
regularly refreshed and at no greater
than (4) (6) (12) monthly intervals.
Training records shall be made available
for inspection upon request by a police
officer or an authorised officer of City of
Wolverhampton Council.

Where children are allowed on the
premises,
information
should
be
available on what to do if there is a cause
for concern regarding a child’s
welfare. This can include reporting to
Wolverhampton Safeguarding Board
telephoning the Contact Centre for or
NSPCC Helpline (0808 800 500), or
dialling 999 in the event of an immediate
threat.

Where children are allowed on the
premises, information shall be displayed
[location] on what to do if there is a cause
for concern regarding a child’s welfare.
This shall include reporting to City of
Wolverhampton Council via its Contact
Centre or dialling 999 in the event of an
immediate threat.

– The licensing authority expects
licensees
to
consider
additional
measures in their operating
schedule when applying to provide adult
entertainment if they are considered
appropriate for the promotion of the
licensing objectives:

No entertainment, performance, service,
or exhibition involving nudity or sexual
stimulation that would come within the
definition of a sex establishment in
Schedule 3 to the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1982 shall be provided.

The exclusion of under-18s from the There shall be no striptease or nudity,
premises
and all persons shall be decently attired
at all times.
– A code of conduct for customers
– A code of conduct for dancers and
performers
– Documentary checks for dancers and
performers, including proof of age,
identity and (where appropriate) proof of
permission to work
– How the entertainment
advertised and promoted
premises.

will be
at the

Page 151

69 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

City of Wolverhampton Council has
implemented Public Space Protection
Orders in several areas throughout
Wolverhampton in order to help address
and prevent numerous problems caused
by public consumption of alcohol. Street
drinking can be a major cause of
antisocial behaviour, often involving
underage persons, which gives rise to
disorder, concerns over public safety
and harm to children.
Additionally, it is widely reported that
consumption of alcohol by persons on
the way to on-licensed premises gives
rise to problems of drunken and
disorderly behaviour.

All sales of alcohol for consumption off
the premises shall be in sealed
containers only and shall not be
consumed on the premises.

Concealment of alcohol when not Outside the hours authorised for the sale
authorised for sale (not included in of alcohol, all alcohol within the trading
policy).
area is to be secured behind locked
grills, locked screens or locked cabinet
doors to prevent access to the alcohol by
customers or staff.
Sale of alcohol at food takeaway
premises (not included in policy).

Sales of alcohol for consumption off the
premises shall only be supplied with, and
ancillary to a takeaway meal.

Alcohol delivery service
(not included in policy).

The premises licence holder shall
provide the following information in
writing to the licensing authority before
any sale of alcohol is carried out:
a) The trading name of any company that
will operate under the licence
b) All telephone numbers that will be
used to accept orders
c) The URL/website address that will be
used to accept orders
Any change to this information must be
notified to the licensing authority within
seven days.
Any promotional material and/or any
website home page used as part of the
business operating under this licence will
clearly state the premises licence
number. For the avoidance of doubt, this

Page 152

70 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

includes flyers, leaflets and business
cards promoting the business.
Restaurant condition

The premises shall only operate as a
restaurant
(i) in which customers are shown to their
table
(ii) that provides food in the form of
substantial table meals prepared on the
premises and served and consumed at
the table using non-disposable crockery
(iii) that does not provide any takeaway
service of food or drink for immediate
consumption
(iv) where intoxicating liquor shall not be
sold, supplied or consumed on the
premises otherwise than to persons who
are diners taking substantial table meals
Odours and noise from kitchen extract and
provided
always
that
the
equipment
consumption of intoxicating liquor by
such persons is ancillary to taking such
meals.
Not included in Policy

There shall be no noise or odours
caused by the kitchen extraction
equipment that gives rise to a nuisance.
Any special effects or mechanical
installations shall be arranged and
stored so as to minimise any risk to the
safety of those using the premises. The
following special effects will only be used
if 10 days’ prior notice is given to the
licensing authority where consent has
not previously been given:
– dry ice and cryogenic fog
– smoke machines and fog generators
– pyrotechnics, including fireworks
– firearms (eg. blank firing pistol)
– lasers
– explosives and highly flammable
substances
– real flame
– strobe lighting.

Restricting alcohol sales in relation to Prior to any [designated special event by
designated special events, eg. Football West Midlands Police] [‘designated
matches.
sporting event’ (as defined in the
Sporting Events Control of Alcohol Act

Page 153

71 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

1985)] the premises licence holder shall
ensure that:
(i) Alcohol sales in respect of cans of
beer or cider are limited to no more than
four cans per person for a minimum of
four hours before the commencement of
the relevant designated [special]
[sporting] event
(ii) No sales of alcohol in bottles or glass
containers are made in the period four
hours before the commencement of the
designated [special] [sporting] event
(iii) Alcohol sales cease for a period of
one hour immediately before the
commencement
of
the
relevant
designated [special] [sporting] event
(iv) On any day where there is a relevant
designated [special] [sporting] event
taking place, the premises will not
externally advertise as a result of a local
store promotion the availability of beer or
cider in such a way as to be likely to be
the sole inducement to attract persons to
the premises who are either attending
the designated [special] [sporting] event
or in the vicinity of the premises as a
result of the designated [special]
[sporting] event
(v) All members of staff working at the
premises are informed of this condition
prior to taking up employment
(vi) On the day of the relevant designated
[special] [sporting] event, upon the
direction of a police officer, using the
grounds of the prevention of crime and
disorder or public safety, the premises
will immediately cease to sell alcohol
until further directed.
Gene

Page 154

72 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

ENFORCEMENT AND REVIEWS
The 2003 Act does not require inspections to take place save at the discretion of those
charged with this role. Principles of risk assessment and targeted inspection (in line
with the Regulators’ Code) should prevail and, for example, inspections should not be
undertaken routinely but when and if they are judged necessary. This should ensure
that resources are used efficiently and for example, are more effectively concentrated
on problem premises. Licensing authorities should also remind operators of licensed
premises that it is incumbent on them to provide appropriate training for their staff to
ensure the promotion the licensing objectives.
The Licensing Act contains measures to ensure that the council, and responsible
authorities, are able to deal with premises that wilfully and persistently undermine the
licensing objectives. The council and responsible authorities are committed to
encouraging a thriving day time and evening licensed economy but will not tolerate
those premises whose activities infringe upon the quality of life for local residents and
businesses.
The council has established a multi-agency risk-based enforcement of the Licensing
Act 2003 This involves carrying out joint inspections with the police, the fire authority,
trading standards and other relevant agencies.
The purpose of enforcement is to protect the public, interested parties and the
environment from harm caused as a result of activities made licensable by virtue of
the Licensing Act 2003.

Prosecution of breaches
The council adopts a multi-agency approach to the prosecution of offences under the
Licensing Act. The Council also has a joint enforcement policy in conjunction with the
other Black Country Authorities of Dudley, Sandwell, and Walsall.
Consideration will be given to the appropriate powers needed to address a problem.
Each of the responsible authorities such as the police, fire authority, environmental
protection and trading standards have their own enforcement powers under their own
enabling legislation. The Licensing Act 2003 provides its own schedule of offences
as well as prosecutable offences to be dealt with via the court.
Formal enforcement will be a last resort and proportionate to the degree of risk. To
this end the key principles of consistency, transparency and proportionality will be
maintained.

Reviews of Licences
The council recognises that the ability of the police, other responsible authorities and
members of the public to apply for a review of a premises licence, is an incentive to
effective self-regulation.

Page 155

73 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

On receipt of a properly made application to carry out a review the council has a range
of options available to it under the Act. These include:
•
•
•
•
•

modification of conditions of the licence including imposing new conditions,
altering existing conditions or removing conditions (permanently or temporarily)
exclusion of a licensable activity from the scope of the licence (permanently or
temporarily)
Removal of the Designated Premises Supervisor
Suspension of the licence for a period not exceeding three months
Revocation of the licence

The council will try to establish the cause or causes of the concern and remedial action
will be targeted at such causes. Any action will be proportionate to the problems
involved.
Where a Magistrates Court makes a Closure Order under part 8 of the Licensing Act
2003 (on grounds of disorder) the council must carry out a review of the licence.
Where a Magistrates Court makes a Closure Order under the Anti-Social Behaviour,
Crime and Policing Act 2014 (on grounds of the use, supply or production of Class A
drugs associated with disorder or serious nuisance) the police will usually ask the
council to carry out a review of the licence.
Where a closure order has been made under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014 (on grounds of noise) the council’s Environmental Health section will
normally request a review of the licence.
Trading Standards normally provides evidence of the keeping of smuggled goods,
such as counterfeit alcohol or tobacco, The Home Office Enforcement Team will
normally provide evidence for and instigate the review of a premises licence for the
employment of persons who do not possess the right to work in the UK.
Matters to be considered
When considering a review request or the possibility of enforcement action the council
will take into account all relevant circumstances but will view the following matters
particularly seriously:
•
•
•
•
•

use of the premises for criminal activities such as the supply of drugs or money
laundering
failure to promptly respond to a warning properly given by a responsible
authority
failure to engage with the RAs in an effective manner
previous convictions for licensing offences
previous failure to comply with licence conditions

Page 156

74 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 (Expedited Reviews)
The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 amended parts of the Licensing Act 2003 and
expanded police and council powers to deal with problem premises in a more
expedient manner.
A power to carry out summary reviews in cases of serious crime and disorder is
brought in at section 53A of the Licensing Act 2003. Where a review application is
accompanied by a certificate issued by a senior police officer, the Licensing Authority
is required within 48 hours to consider whether it is necessary to take any interim steps
pending the completion of the review process. This may include the immediate
suspension of the premises licence.

Page 157

75 | P a g e

City of Wolverhampton Council: Statement of Licensing Policy

ANNUAL FEES/LICENCE SUSPENSIONS FOR NON-PAYMENT
Annual fees are payable each year on the anniversary of the grant of the licence, and
the only premises exempt from payment are community premises which do not include
alcohol sales as an activity. The Licensing Act requires the Licensing Authority to
suspend a premises licence or club premises certificate if the annual fee is not paid
when it is due.
The Act provides for a grace period of 21 days in cases of an administrative error or
where there is a dispute over liability for the fee, after which the licence/certificate will
be suspended. In order to accommodate this period, the Premises Licence Annual
Fee renewal letter is sent out 28 days prior to its due date. If renewal payments are
not received by the due date, the licence must be suspended in accordance with the
Act.
The Authority has to give a minimum 2 days’ notice of the licence/certificate being
suspended if payment is not made. This Authority gives notice on the invoice that if
payment of the annual fee is not received by its annual fee ‘due date’, the premises
licence is automatically immediately suspended.
If more than one year of Annual Fee payments have been missed, any payment which
is made will be allocated to the oldest outstanding debt first.
Licences will not be reinstated until outstanding payments are made in full. In respect
of cheques, when they have cleared.
All parties will be notified in writing by letter or email once the payment has cleared
and confirming that the suspension has been lifted. If you make payment by either
credit/debit card, you are advised to send the details of the payment directly to the
licensing team. This will ensure that any suspensions are quickly lifted, and an early
response made by email.

Amendments
Advice from Philip Kolvin QC included 16/9/2019
Amendments included from West Midlands Fire Service

Page 158

76 | P a g e

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 14

Statutory Licensing
Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Gambling Policy Review

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director for City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Paul Dosanjh
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Service Manager: Trading Standards &
Licensing Act
01902 556056
Paul.Dosanjh@wolverhampton.gov.uk

None

Recommendations for decision:
The Statutory Licensing Committee is recommended to:
1. Approve the proposed draft Statement of Gambling Policy (2022-2025). Appendix 1
2. Require Licensing Services to undertake a 12-week consultation of the draft Statement of
Gambling Policy proposal.

Recommendation for note:
The Statutory Licensing Committee is recommended to note:
1. A further paper, setting out the consultation responses and subsequent amendments, will
be laid before Statutory Licensing Committee in January 2022 for consideration, prior to
adoption by full Council in April 2022.

Page 159

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To obtain the Statutory Licensing Committee’s approval for the proposed changes to the
existing Statement of Gambling Policy and agree a process of consultation and
consequent review of the Statement of Gambling Policy (2022-2025).

1.2

An indicative timetable for the review and adoption is set out below. It is proposed to ask
consultees to comment on a draft of the 2022-2025 policy.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Gambling Act 2005 regulates the provision of gambling in Great Britain, other than
the National Lottery and spread betting. The Act makes local authorities responsible for
licensing premises that are used for gambling within their area.
The Council is empowered under the 2005 Act to carry out the following activities in
relation to land based gambling:
• issuing Premises Licences where gambling activities are to take place
• issuing Provisional Statements to potential licences in relation to the likelihood of
unconstructed premises to obtain a licence
• regulating members’ clubs and miner’s welfare institutes via issuing Club Gaming
Permits and/or Club Machine Permits
• issuing Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs
• granting permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed
Family Entertainment Centres
• receiving notifications from alcohol licensed premises (as delivered by the Licensing
Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines
• issuing Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing
Act 2003, where there are more than two machines
• registering small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds
• issuing Prize Gaming Permits
• receiving and endorsing Temporary Use Notices
• receiving Occasional Use Notices
• providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued
• maintaining registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions

2.2

Examples of land-based gambling establishments are bingo halls, bookmakers,
amusement arcades and public houses with gaming machines. Licensing authorities are
not involved in licensing remote (e.g. online) gambling as falls to the Gambling
Commission.

2.3

The Gambling Commission’s role is to regulate gambling in the public interest. The
Commission provides independent advice to the Government about the manner in which
gambling is carried out, the effects of gambling and the regulation of gambling generally.
The Commission also regulates online gambling and provides guidance on the 2005 Act
to the Gambling Commission.

Page 160

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.4

The 2005 Act also requires each local authority to adopt and publish a ‘Statement of
Gambling Policy’ at least every three years. Wolverhampton’s last policy was issued in
2019 and so liable to review. The purpose of the policy is to set out the principles that the
local authority will apply when carrying out its role under the Act.
The Policy is an explicit statement of the local authorities’ commitment that in exercising
its functions the Council will have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in the Act
namely:
• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with
crime or disorder or being used to support crime
• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by
gambling

2.5

Whilst the policy is a public statement of the Council’s approach to regulating gambling in
its area it is not a pre-requisite for the day-to-day administration of licenses and
inspections which are carried out by Licensing Officers.

2.6

In line with other authorities and the requirements of the 2005 Act this Council has
produced draft policy which will be subject to a full consultation

3.0

Proposal

3.1

The draft policy for 2022-2025 which has very few changes from the current policy. Many
of the changes are to the references to the paragraphs of the Gambling Commission
Guidance for Licensing Authorities document which was updated in May 2021

3.2

One significant change is that addition of tables which provide a breakdown of gambling
establishments on a ward-by-ward basis to give a more in-depth Local Area Profile. This
enables a more rounded assessment of the provision of gambling establishments and
makes for ease of comparison with other information such as indices of deprivation, and
crime so that both applicants and the authority can consider if additional control
measures are appropriate before a licence or permission is granted

3.3

Licensing Services will consult with the Gambling Commission, HMRC, all Responsible
Authorities, local trade representatives and persons who appear to the authority to
represent the interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the
authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005.

3.4

The consultation shall be through the Council’s consultation hub which is accessed via
the council website where respondents will be able to make comments for consideration.
The consultation period will last for 12 weeks to allow for adequate time for comment,
reflection and, if necessary, consolidation into the new policy. Subject to this Committee’s
agreement the consultation will commence on 11th November 2021.

Page 161

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.5

The redrafted policy will then be brought to this committee in January 2022, then onto
Full Council in March 2022. Under the Council’s procedures the policy must be approved
at a meeting of the Full Council.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

There are no additional financial implications of conducting this review of the policy and
to the Council approving the policy in 2022. Any additional work will be included in day to
day activity and the cost in officer time will be met through existing budgetary provision.
[SB/01112021/F]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

There are no legal implications as the legislative regime which requires this policy to be
reviewed has remained unchanged since the Act came into force in 2005.
[JB/26102021/C]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

There are no equalities implications arising from this report as it merely seeks to prompt
consultation and not to decide on an outcome. The draft policy that will be circulated is
merely a document around which consultative debate can occur

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

This report poses no implications for climate change and environmental, Human
Resources, Corporate Landlord, Health and Wellbeing nor any implications that have
arisen from the Covid-19 Pandemic.

8.0

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1 - Draft Statement of Gambling Policy (2022-2025)

Page 162

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

Statement
of Gambling Policy

This Gambling Licensing Policy shall take effect from the 31st January
202219

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 163

1

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY
Gambling Act 2005
(Published for consultation purposes October 2021 May 2018)
Contents
Item
Part A – General
1. The licensing objectives
2. Introduction
3. Declaration
4. Responsible Authorities
5. The Gambling Commission
6. Interested parties
7. Exchange of information
8. Enforcement
9. Licensing authority functions
Part B - Premises licences
1. General Principles
2. Adult Gaming Centres
3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres
4. Casinos
5. Bingo Premises
6. Betting premises
7 Tracks
8. Travelling fairs
9. Provisional Statements
10. Premises Reviews
Part C - Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits
2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits
3. Prize Gaming Permits
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits
5. Temporary Use Notices
6. Occasional Use Notices
7. Lotteries
8. Local Authority Lotteries
Part D – Small Casino Licence
General Principles
Casino Application stage 1
Casino Application Stage 2
Process of evaluation
Part D – Appendix 1 – Application guidelines; principles of selection
General Principles

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 164

2

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

PART A

1. The Licensing Objectives
In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005 (the Act), the
Council must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the
Act. The licensing objectives are:




preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or
exploited by gambling

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The requirement
in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited
by gambling”.
In carrying out its licensing functions under the Act and in accordance with
section 153, the Council will, when making decisions about premises licences
and temporary use notices aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so
far as it thinks it is:





in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling
Commission
in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
in accordance with this statement of gambling policy

2. Introduction
City of Wolverhampton is situated in the West Midlands, which contains consists
of seven Councils in total. The Council area has a population of over
260,000252,987 and covers an area of 26 square miles-(ONS 2020). The
Council area is urban in nature and is densely populated with approximately
3,500 residents per square kilometre. The City is ethnically diverse with 36% of
its residents being of BME (Black and Minority Ethnic Heritage). Furthermore
,16% of the population in 2011 were not born in the UK. The cIty is religiously
diverse with the second highest proportion of Sikh residents in the Country In
addition to the Wolverhampton city centre, there are 3 other local centres,
Bilston, Wednesfield and Tettenhall. These areas are shown in the map below.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 165

3

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

The Council Plan (2019-2024) has six strategic outcomes namely:







Children and young people get the best possible start in life
Well skilled people working in an inclusive economy
More good jobs and investment in our city
Better homes for all
Strong, resilient and healthy communities
A vibrant, green city we can all be proud of

Effective regulation of the gambling sector is a contributor to building and
sustaining strong, resilient and healthy communities.

The Council is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the
principles which they proposed to apply when exercising their functions. This
statement must be published at least every three years. The statement must also
be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts re-consulted upon. The
statement must be then re-published.
The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by the
Council:




the Chief Officer of Police;
one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;
one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s
functions under the Gambling Act 2005.

3. Declaration
In producing the final statement, the Council declares that it has had regard to
the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the guidance issued by the
Gambling Commission, and any responses from those consulted on the policy
statement.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 166

4

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

4. Responsible Authorities
The Council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in
exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a
body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children
from harm. The principles are:



the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the
licensing authority’s area; and
the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons,
rather than any particular vested interest group.

In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for
licensing authorities, this Council designates the Children and Young People
Service for this purpose.
The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act
2005
are
available
via
the
Council’s
website
at
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/3000/Responsible-authorities-gambling
In addition to the Responsible Authorities, the Council recognises the significant
risk gambling can have on health and wellbeing, and will therefore seek to
consult the Director of Public Health on all applications for a gambling licence.

55. The Gambling Commission
The Gambling Commission regulates gambling in the public interest. The
Commission provides independent advice to the Government about the manner
in which gambling is carried out, the effects of gambling and the regulation of
gambling generally. The Comission is also responsible for regulating online
gambling.
The Commission has issued guidance regarding the manner in which local
authorities exercise their licensing functions under the Act. They can be
contacted at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk or by post at, The Gambling
Commission, Victoria Square House, Victoria Square, Birmingham, B2 4BP.
6. 6.Interested parties
Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply
for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in the Gambling Act
2005 as follows:
“a person is an interested party in relation to an application for or in respect of a
premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which issues the
licence or to which the applications is made, the person

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 167

5

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the
authorised activities,
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”
The Council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a
person is an interested party. The principles are:
Each case will be decided upon its merits. This Council will not apply a rigid rule
to its decision making. It will consider the examples of considerations provided in
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing authorities at 8.9 - 8.11. It will
also consider the Gambling Commission's Guidance that "has business interests"
should be given the widest possible interpretation and include partnerships,
charities, faith groups and medical practices.
The Gambling Commission has recommended that the licensing authority states
that interested parties include trade associations and trade unions, and residents’
and tenants’ associations (Gambling Commission Guidance for local authorities
8.16). This Council will not however generally view these bodies as interested
parties unless they have a member who can be classed as an interested person
under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 i.e. lives sufficiently close to the
premises to be likely to be affected by the activities being applied for.
Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as
councillors and MP’s. No specific evidence of being asked to represent an
interested person will be required as long as the councillor / MP represents the
ward likely to be affected. Other than this however, the Council will generally
require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate / relative)
‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be
likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has business interests that
might be affected by the authorised activities. A letter from one of these persons,
requesting the representation will be considered sufficient.
If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their views
then care should be taken that the councillors are not part of the Licensing
Committee dealing with the licence application. If there are any doubts then
please contact Licensing and Support Services, Civic Centre, St Peters Square,
Wolverhampton. WV1 1RP.
77. Exchange of Information
The Council is required to include in its statement the principles to be applied by
the authority in exercising its function under sections 29 and 30 of the Act with
respect to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling
Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act with the respect to
the exchange of information between it and the other persons listed in Schedule
6 to the Act.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 168

6

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
The principle that this Council applies is that it will act in accordance with the
provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which
includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 1998 2018 will not be
contravened. The Council will also have regard to any Guidance issued by the
Gambling Commission on this, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the
Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

88. Enforcement
The Council is required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 to state the
principles to be applied by the authority in exercising their functions under part 15
of the Act, with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under
section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences
specified.
The Council’s principles are that:
It will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing
authorities and will endeavour to be:






Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies
should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;
Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to
public scrutiny;
Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and
user friendly; and
Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side
effects.

The Council is committed to avoiding duplication with other regulatory regimes so
far as possible. However, it should be noted that it will be necessary to liaise with
West Midlands Police on occasion in relation to the consideration of applications
and reviews of gambling premises licenses. The Council intends to adopt a
similar approach to that utiliszed for the Licensing Act 2003 and on this basis will
seek to agree a set of protocols with the Police that will determine the way in
which the two parties interact which is set out within Regulatory Services
enforcement policy.
The Council recognises that some companies within the gambling industry will
have a number of premises within the City. In order to ensure that any
compliance issues are identified and resolved at the earliest stage, operators will
be requested, where appropriate, to give the Council a single, named point of
contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the Council will contact
first should any compliance issues arise.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 169

7

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
This Council has adopted and implemented a risk-based inspection programme
based on;





The licensing objectives
Relevant codes of practice
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36
The principles set out in this Statement of Gambling Policy

The main enforcement and compliance role for the Council in terms of the
Gambling Act 05 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other
permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission is the enforcement
body for operating and personal licences. It is also worth noting that concerns
about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by
the Council but will be notified to the Gambling Commission.
The Council will also keep itself informed of developments as regards the work of
the Better Regulation Executive, or successor organisations, in its consideration
of the regulatory functions of local authorities.
9. Licensing Authority Functions
The Council is required under the Act to:














Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to
take place by issuing Premises Licences
Issue Provisional Statements
Regulate members’ clubs and miner’s welfare institutes who wish to
undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or
Club Machine Permits
Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs
Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres
Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (as delivered by the
Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines
Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to
sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines
Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds
Issue Prize Gaming Permits
Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices
Receive Occasional Use Notices
Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences
issued (see section above on ‘information exchange)
Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these
functions

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 170

8

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
It should be noted that licensing authorities will not be involved in licensing
remote gambling at all. This will fall to the Gambling Commission via operating
licences.

PART B
PREMISES LICENCES

1. General Principles
Premises licences will be subject to the requirements set-out in the Gambling Act
2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which
are detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State. The Council is able
to exclude default conditions. The Council also has the power to impose
additional conditions or exclude conditions from the licence.
Decision Making - The Council is aware that in making decisions about Premises
Licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it
thinks it is:





In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling
Commission;
In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission;
Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
In accordance with the Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy.

It is appreciated that, as stated in the Gambling Commission's Guidance for
licensing authorities, "moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to
reject applications for premises licences" (except in the case of a 'no casino
resolution' - see section on Casinos) and also, that “unmet demand” is not a
consideration for a licensing authority.
Definition of “premises” – In the Act, “premises” is defined as including “any
place”. Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 171

9

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
to any place. But a single building could be subject to more than one premises
licence, provided they are for different parts of the building and the different parts
of the building can be reasonably regarding as being different premises. This
approach has been taken allow large, multiple unit premises such as a pleasure
park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises licences, where
appropriate safeguards are in place. However, licensing authorities should pay
particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single building or
plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between
premises are observed.
The Gambling Commission states in its latest guidance that Licensing authorities
should take particular care in considering applications for multiple licences for a
building and those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (nongambling) purposes. In particular, they should be aware that entrances and exits
from parts of a building covered by one or more licences should be separate and
identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and
that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. The plan of the premises should
clearly denote entrances and exits. in the fifth edition of its Guidance to
Licensing Authorities that: “In most cases the exception is that a single building /
plot will be the subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High
Street. But, that does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate
premises licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured
acceptably. Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as
being separate premises will depend on the circumstances. The location of the
premises will clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the
division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the
licensing officer. However, the Commission does not consider that areas of a
building that are artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or
moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises. If a
premises is locations within a wider venue, a Licensing Authority should request
a plan of the venue on which the premise should be identified.”
The Council takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for
Licensing authorities which states that: Licensing authorities should take
particular care in considering applications for multiple licences for a building and
those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling)
purposes. In particular they should be aware of the following:




The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by
gambling. In practice that means not only preventing them taking part in
gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling.
Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not invited to
participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe gambling where
they are prohibited from participating.
Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation
of different premises is not compromised and people do not ‘drift’ into a
gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to access the

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 172

10

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1



premises without going through another licensed premises or premises with a
permit.
Customers should be able to participate in the activities named on the
premises licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should be
aware of, which may include:
 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates
 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or
someone else?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public
passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?
The Council will consider these and other relevant factors in making its decision,
depending on all the circumstances of the case.
Casinos
 the principal entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined at
7.23 of the guidance)
 no entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or
mainly by
 children and/or young persons no customer must be able to enter a casino
directly from any other premises which holds a gambling premises licence.
Adult Gaming Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other
licensed gambling premises.
Betting Shops
 Access must be from a street (as defined at 7.23 of the guidance) or from
another premises with a betting premises licence
 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the
retail sale of merchandise or services. In effect there cannot be an
entrance to a betting shop from a shop of any kind and you could not have
a betting shop at the back of the café – the whole area would have to be
licensed.
Tracks
 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:
a casino
an adult gaming centre
Bingo Premises
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
a casino
an adult gaming centre
a betting premise, other than a track

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 173

11

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
Family Entertainment Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
a casino
an adult gaming centre
a betting premises, other than a track
Premises “ready for gambling”
The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be
issued in relation to premises that the council can be satisfied are going to be
ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the
scale of building or alterations required before the premises are brought into use.
If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or
if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a
provisional statement should be made instead.
In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration
process:


First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for
gambling
Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater
for the situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which
they ought to be before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate
to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a
licence.
More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be
granted can be found at paragraphs 7.586-7.65 of the Guidance.
Location – The Council is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with
regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing
objectives are relevant to its decision making. In accordance with the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for licensing authorities, the Council will pay particular
attention to the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed
or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder. Should any
specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling premises
should not be located, this statement will be updated. It should be noted that any
such policy does not preclude any application being made and each application
will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how
potential concerns can be overcome.
Planning:
The Gambling Commission Guidance to licensing authorities states:

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 174

12

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
7.58 - In determining applications, the licensing authority should not take into
consideration matters that are not related to gambling and the licensing
objectives. One example would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining
planning permission or building regulations approval for their proposal. Licensing
authorities should bear in mind that a premises licence, once it comes into effect,
authorises premises to be used for gambling. Accordingly, a licence to use
premises for gambling should only be issued in relation to premises that the
licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for gambling
in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or alterations
required before the premises are brought into use. (Equally, licences should only
be issued where they are expected to be used for the gambling activity named on
the licence). This is why the Act allows a potential operator to apply for a
provisional statement if construction of the premises is not yet complete, or they
need alteration, or he does not yet have a right to occupy them. Part 11 of this
Guidance gives more information about provisional statements.
The Council will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the above
guidance. In addition this authority notes the following excerpt from the
Guidance:
7.65 - When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the
licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings have to
comply with the necessary planning or building consents. Nor should fire or
health and safety risks be taken into account. Those matters should be dealt with
under relevant planning control, building and other regulations, and must not
form part of the consideration for the premises licence. S.210 of the Act prevents
licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the
applicant obtaining planning or building consent when considering a premises
licence application. Equally, the grant of a gambling premises licence does not
prejudice or prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law relating to
planning or building.
Duplication with other regulatory regimes – The Council seeks to avoid any
duplication with other statutory / regulatory systems where possible, including
planning. The council will not consider whether a licence application is likely to
be awarded planning permission or building regulations approval, in its
consideration of it. It will though, listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns
about conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning
restrictions, should such a situation arise.
When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the
council will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the
necessary planning or buildings consents. Fire or health and safety risks will not
be taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning
control, buildings and other regulations and must not form part of the
consideration for the premises licence.
Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent
with the licensing objectives. With regard to these objectives, the Council has

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 175

13

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities and
some comments are made below.
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime – The Council is aware that
the Gambling Commission takes a leading role in preventing gambling from
being a source of crime. The Gambling Commission's Guidance does however
envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention to the proposed location
of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective. Thus, where an area
has known high levels of organised crime the authority will consider carefully
whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether
conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors. The
Council is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will
consider factors (for example whether police assistance was required and how
threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it) so as to make that
distinction.
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way – The Council has
noted that the Gambling Commission state that it generally does not expect
licensing authorities to be concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in
a fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating and personal
licences. There is however, more of a role with regard to tracks which is
explained in more detail in the 'tracks' section below.
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited
by gambling – The Council has noted the Gambling Commission's Guidance (for
local authorities) states that this objective means preventing children from taking
part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling products
are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to children). The Council will
therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling Commission's Guidance,
whether specific measures are required at particular premises, with regard to this
licensing objective. Appropriate measures may include, but are not limited to,





the supervision of entrances to prevent access by children (or known
vulnerable persons)
the supervision and monitoring of gaming machines,
specifying the location of gaming machines
areas where the nature of the gambling carried on in those areas should not
be available to children should be segregated to exclude their entrance.

Measures are also likely to include a general requirement, in terms of the
licensing of premises, in relation to the protection of children from harm and the
prevention of vulnerable persons being harmed or exploited by gambling. In so
doing it is anticipated that the Council will encourage, in its administration of
gambling premises licensing, the promotion of organisations that seek to protect
members of the public from gambling beyond their means and provide
assistance to those who already gamble beyond their means.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 176

14

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
The Council is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes of Practice as
regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises.
As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling
Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will for
regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble more
than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people who may
not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a
mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.” The Council will consider this licensing
objective on a case by case basis.

Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:





Relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling
facility;
Directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
Fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and
Reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis,
although there will be a number of measures the Council will consider utilising
should there be a perceived need, such as, the use of supervisors, appropriate
signage for adult only areas etc. There are specific comments made in this
regard under some of the licence types below. The Council will also expect
applicants to offer their own suggestions as to way in which the licensing
objectives can be met effectively.
The Council will also consider specific measures which may be required for
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. These measures may
include, but are not limited to, the supervision of entrances; segregation of
gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children and the supervision of
gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the
licensing objectives. These matters are in accordance with the Gambling
Commission's Guidance.
The Council will seek to ensure that where category C or above machines are
available for use in premises to which children are admitted:






All such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to
prevent access other than through a designated entrance;
Only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;
Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
The area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be
observed by the staff or the licence holder; and
At the entrance to, and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 177

15

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple
premise licences are applicable.
The Council is aware that tracks may be subject to one, or more than one,
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.
In accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance, the Council will
consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that
entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded
from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.
The Council notes that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot
attach to premises licences which are:





Any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply
with an operating licence condition;
Conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of
operation;
Conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for
casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated) and
Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to
Licensing Authorities that if the Council is concerned that a premises may attract
disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example by
children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the
premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a
premises licence to this effect.
Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for
particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA (Security
Industry Authority) licensed or not will be necessary. It will not be automatically
assumed that they need to be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different
types of premises vary (as per the Guidance, Part 33).
2. Adult Gaming Centres
The Council will have specific regard to the need to protect children and
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for
example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.
The Council may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:






Proof of age schemes
CCTV
Supervision of entrances / machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 178

16

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1





Notices/signage
Specific opening hours
Self-exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as
GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres
The Council will have specific regard to the need to protect children and
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the
applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there will be sufficient
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only
gaming machine areas.
The Council may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:










CCTV
Supervision of entrances / machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices / signage
Specific opening hours
Self exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as
Gamcare.
Measures/Training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school
children on the premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
The Council will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to the
Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences
covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines should
be delineated. The Council will also make itself aware of any mandatory or
default conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published.
4. Casinos
Casinos and competitive bidding – Small casinos
The Council was specificalyspecifically empowered by Parliament to grant one
premises licence for a small casino. The licence has now been granted. The
Council has no power to grant further casino licences.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 179

17

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
Licence considerations / conditions – The Council will attach conditions to casino
premises licences according to the principles set out in the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance at paragraph 9 of part 17, bearing in mind the
mandatory conditions listed in paragraph 17 of the same part of the Guidance,
and the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice published by the Gambling
Commission.
Betting machines – The Council will, as per the Gambling Commission's
Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter
positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to
monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence
for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer.
5. Bingo Premises
The Council notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance states:
18.5 Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be
played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. This will
be a relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises
applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from its
ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for that
or those excluded areas.
18.8 - Section 172(7) provides that the holder of a bingo premises licence may
make available for use a number of category B gaming machines not exceeding
20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available for use on the
premises. Premises in existence before 13 July 2011 are entitled to make
available eight category B gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of
gaming machines, whichever is the greater. The holder of bingo premises licence
granted on or after 13 July 2011 but before 1 April 2014 is entitled to make
available a maximum of eight category B gaming machines or 20% of the total
number of gaming machines, whichever is the greater; from 1 April 2014 these
premises will be entitled to 20% of the total number of gaming machines only.
Regulations state that category B machines at bingo premises should be
restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A lottery machines.
S.172(7), as amended, provides that the holder of a bingo premises licence may
make available for use a number of category B gaming machines not exceeding
20% of the total number of gaming machines on the premises. For example, a
premises with a total of 25 gaming machines available for use can make five or
fewer category B3 gaming machines available on that premises. Premises that
were licensed before 13 July 2011 are entitled to make available eight category B
gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of gaming machines, whichever is
the greater. There are no restrictions on the number of category C or D machines
that can be made available. Regulations state that category B machines at bingo
premises are restricted to sub-category B3 (SI 2007/2158: Categories of Gaming
Machine Regulations 2007 (opens in new tab)) (but not B3A) and B4 machines.
Licensing authorities should ensure that gambling machines are made available

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 180

18

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
for use in a manner consistent with our guidance within Part 16. For the purpose
of calculating the category B machine entitlement in gambling premises, gaming
machines should only be counted if they can be played simultaneously by
different players without physical hindrance. This includes tablets.
6. Betting Premises
Betting machines – The Council will, in accordance with the Gambling
Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number
of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of
staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an
offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer.
7. Tracks
S.353 of the Act defines a track as a horse racecourse, greyhound track or other
premises on any part of which a race or other sporting event takes place or is
intended to take place.
The Act does not give a list of premises that are officially recognised as ‘tracks’
but there are a number of venues where sporting events do or could take place,
and accordingly could accommodate the provision of betting facilities. Examples
of tracks include:











a horse racecourse (referred to in this guidance as ‘racecourses’)
a greyhound track
a point-to-point horserace meeting
football, cricket and rugby grounds
an athletics stadium
a golf course
venues hosting darts, bowls, or snooker tournaments
a premises staging boxing matches
a section of river hosting a fishing competition
a motor racing event.

The Council is aware that tracks may be subject to one, or more than one,
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.
As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, the Council will especially
consider the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling)
and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and
that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to
enter.
The Council will therefore expect premises licence applicants to demonstrate
suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only
gaming facilities. It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to
enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 181

19

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that they are still prevented from
entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D machines) are
provided.
The Council will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the
licensing objectives however appropriate measures / licence conditions may
cover issues such as:










Proof of age schemes
CCTV
Supervision of entrances / machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices / signage
Specific opening hours
Self-exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as
Gamcare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
Gaming machines -Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence
and is going to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other
than category D machines) should be located in areas from which children are
excluded.
Betting machines – The Council will, as per part 6 of the Gambling Commission's
Guidance, take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to
monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence
for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator proposes to offer.
Applications and plans
The Gambling Act (s51) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with
their application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the necessary
information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit
for gambling. The plan will also be used for the Council to plan future premises
inspection activity.
Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to
scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by
regulations.
Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not
defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. In
such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may
erect temporary structures to restrict access to premises.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 182

20

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the
track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of
sporting events or races. In such cases betting facilities may be better provided
through occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not need to be
defined.
The Council appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise
location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting facilities
are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact
that betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties
associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of track. Applicants
should provide sufficient information that the council can be satisfied that the plan
indicates the main areas where betting might take place. For racecourses in
particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as
betting rings) must be indicated on the plan.
8. Travelling Fairs
The Council is responsible for deciding whether, where category D gaming
machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement, that the facilities for
gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair, is met.
The Council will consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory definition
of a travelling fair. Travelling fairs do not require any permit to provide gaming
machines but must comply with legal requirements about the way the machine
operates. They may provide an unlimited number of category D gaming
machines provided that facilities for gambling amount to no more than an
ancillary amusement at the fair.
It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as
a fair, applies on a per calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of land
on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different
travelling fairs occupying the land. The Council will work with its neighbouring
authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so that
the statutory limits are not exceeded.
9. Provisional Statements
Developers may wish to apply to the council for provisional statements before
entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises
licence. There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to
apply for a provisional statement.
S204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the
licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or
she:
- expects to be constructed;

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 183

21

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
-expects to be altered; or
-expects to acquire a right to occupy.
The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the
same as that for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to give
notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises licence.
Responsible authorities and interested parties may make representations and
there are rights of appeal.
In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to
hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission and
they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect of which their
provisional application is made.
The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once
the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The Council will be
constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence
application, and in terms of representations about premises licence applications
that follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from
relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless:
 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the
provisional statement stage, or
 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.
In addition, the council may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to
matters:




which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional
statement stage;
which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s
circumstances; or
where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the
plan submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change
to the plan and this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any
concerns it has with the applicant before making a decision.

10. Premises Reviews
Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or
responsible authorities; however it is for the council to decide whether the review
is to be carried out. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the
review is relevant to the matters listed below;




in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling
Commission;
in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission;
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 184

22

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1


in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy.

The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the council
as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will certainly not
cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is
substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review.
The Council can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a
particular class of premises licence, on the basis of any reason which it thinks is
appropriate.
Once a valid application for a review has been received by the council,
representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties
during a 28 day period. This period begins 7 days after the application was
received by the licensing authority, who will publish notice of the application
within 7 days of receipt.
The council must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day period
for making representations has passed.
The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the council should take
any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open to the
licensing authority are:(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing
authority;
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State or Scottish
Ministers (e.g. opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion;
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months;
and
(d) revoke the premises licence.
In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the council
must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act, as well as
any relevant representations.
In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises
licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities
for gambling at the premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences
in a speculative manner without intending to use them.
Once the review has been completed, the council must, as soon as possible,
notify its decision to:
- the licence holder
- the applicant for review (if any)
- the Commission
- any person who made representations
- the chief officer of police or chief constable; and
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 185

23

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

PART C
Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notices
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits
(Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7)
Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide
gaming machines, it may apply to the Council for a gaming machine permit. It
should be noted that the applicant must show that the premise will be wholly or
mainly used for making gaming machines available for use (Section 238).
The Gambling Act 2005 states that the Council may prepare a ‘Statement of
Principles’ that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an
applicant for a permit and in preparing this statement, and for considering
applications, it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and
shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
under section 2.5. The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities
also states: “In their three year licensing policy statement, licensing authorities
may include a statement of principles that they propose to apply when exercising
their functions in considering applications for permits…., licensing authorities will
want to give weight to child protection issues." (24.8) In its statement of policy, a
licensing authority may include a statement of principles that it proposes to apply
when exercising its functions in considering applications for permits. In particular
it may want to set out the matters that it will take into account in determining the
suitability of the applicant. Given that the premises is likely to appeal particularly
to children and young persons, licensing authorities may wish to give weight to
matters relating to protection of children from being harmed or exploited by
gambling and to ensure that staff supervision adequately reflects the level of risk

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 186

24

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
to this group. Licensing authorities are also encouraged to also specify in their
statement of policy that a plan for the uFEC must be submitted.
Guidance also states: an application for a permit may be granted only if the
licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed
Family Entertainment Centre, and if the chief officer of police has been consulted
on the application. On this basis the Council will ask applicants to demonstrate
 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is
permissible in unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres
 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in
Schedule 7 of the Act); and
 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and
prizes.
It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type
of permit.

Statement of Principles
The Council will expect applicants to show that there are policies and procedures
in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not limited to harm
from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency
of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however,
they may include appropriate measures and training for staff as regards
suspected truant school children on the premises, measures and training
covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on
the premises, or children causing perceived problems on or around the premise.
The Council will require applicants to be able to demonstrate a full understanding
of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres; that the applicant has no relevant
convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are
trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.
A full copy of the statement of principles is available on request to:
Licensing Services
Wolverhampton City of Wolverhampton Council
Civic Centre
St Peters Square
Wolverhampton
WV1 1RP
licensing@wolverhampton.gov.uk
2. (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 187

25

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption
on the premises to automatically have two gaming machines, of categories C
and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the Council of them.
The Council can remove this automatic authorisation in respect of any particular
premise, if:






provision of machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the
licensing objectives;
gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section
282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the
licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of
practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and
operation of the machine has been complied with);
the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

Permit: 3 or more machines
If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it will need to apply for
a permit from the Council. The Council will then consider the application based
upon the licensing objectives and any guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission. The Commission also states that the Council should also consider
other relevant matters. Such matters will be decided on a case by case basis but
generally the Council will have regard to the need to protect children and
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure
that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines.
These measures may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in
the sight of staff that will monitor the machines to ensure they are not being used
by those under 18.
Notices and signage may also be help. As regards the protection of vulnerable
persons applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets and
helpline numbers for organisations such as Gamcare.
The Council recognises that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a
premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would
most likely need to be applied for, and dealt with, as an Adult Gaming Centre
premises licence.
It should also be noted that the Council can decide to grant the application with a
smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that
applied for. Conditions, other than these, cannot be attached.
Applicants should also note that the holder of a permit must comply with any
Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission regarding the location and
operation of gaming machines.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 188

26

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
3. Prize Gaming Permits
The Gambling Act 2005 states that the Council may “prepare a Statement of
Principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this
Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority
proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.
Accordingly, the Council has prepared a Statement of Principles which requires
the applicant to set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer.
The applicant should be able to demonstrate:




that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in
regulations;
and, that the gaming offered is within the law.
Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm

In making its decision on an application for this permit the Council does not need
to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any
Gambling Commission guidance.
It should be noted that the Council cannot and therefore will not attach conditions
to the permit. However where facilities are provided in an adult gaming centre, a
licensed family centre or for equal chance prize gaming, section 293 of the
Gaming Act 2005 provides conditions with which the permit holder must comply.
These are:






the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied
with;
all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on
which the gaming is taking place and on one day. The game must be played
and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the
game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is played;
the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize);
and
participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other
gambling.

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits
Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may
apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming machines permit. The Club
Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3
machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance
as set-out in forthcoming regulations. A Club Gaming machine permit will enable
the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).
Gambling Commission Guidance states: "Members clubs must have at least 25
members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 189

27

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations. The
Secretary of State has made regulation and these cover bridge and whist clubs,
which replicate(s) the position under the Gaming Act 1968. A members’ club
must be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and
controlled by its members equally. Examples include working men’s clubs,
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations."
The Commission Guidance also states that "licensing authorities may only refuse
an application on the grounds that:
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial
club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the
type of permit for which it has applied;
(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young
persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the
applicant while providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years;
or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.”
There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which
hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12
Paragraph 10). As the Gambling Commission Guidance to licensing authorities
states: “under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be
made by the Commission or the police, and the grounds upon which the Council
can refuse a permit are reduced. And “The grounds on which an application
under the process may be refused are:
(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed
under schedule 12;
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for
other gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in
the last ten years has been cancelled.
There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any
relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of
gaming machines. The Council will enforce these statutory conditions.
5. Temporary Use Notices
Temporary use notice(s) allow the use of premises for gambling, where there is
no premises licence, but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable
for a temporary use notice according to the gambling commission would include
hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 190

28

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
The council can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or company
holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence.
The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be
authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this Statement
the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use
Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used
to permit the provision of facilities or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is
intended to produce a single winner, which in practice means poker tournaments.
There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices. The
meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling
Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities.
As with "premises", the
definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular
circumstances of each notice that is given. In the Act "premises" is defined as
including "any place".
In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises",
the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the
ownership/occupation and control of the premises.
6. Occasional Use Notices
The council has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.
The council will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the
applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.
The Council will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether applicant
is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.







Betting on a track will be permitted by an occasional use notice providing it is
for 8 days or less in a calendar year. The calendar year will commence on the
1st January.
The notice must be served by a person who is responsible for the
administration of events on the track, or by an occupier of the track.
A notice must be served on the Council and copied to the Chief of Police.
The notice must specify the day on which it has effect, and may be given in
relation to consecutive days providing the overall limit of 8 days is not
exceeded in a calendar year.
The Council will maintain a record of the number of notices served in a
calendar year to ensure the limit of 8 days is not exceeded.
No gaming machines may be provided

7. Lotteries
All lotteries are unlawful unless they are run in accordance with an operating
licence issued by the Gambling Commission or it is an ‘exempt’ lottery as defined
by the Act. One exemption is in respect of what are termed ‘small society
lotteries’. The Council will be responsible for registering these small lotteries.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 191

29

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

A society will be allowed to register with the Council if it is a ‘non commercial’
lottery i.e. it is established and conducted:




for charitable purposes,
for the purpose of enabling participation in, or of supporting, sporting, athletic
or cultural activities or
for any other non-commercial purpose other than for private gain

The Council will maintain a register of small society lotteries which it has
registered.
8. Local Authority Lotteries
Under the terms of the Act Council’s can, if they elect to do so, apply to the
Gambling Commission for a licence to operate a Local Authority Lottery, the
proceeds of which should be utilised for the benefit of the local community.

PART D
Small Casino Licence

1. On 15th May 2008 the categories of Casino Regulation 2008 and the
Gambling (Geographical Distribution of Large and Small Casino premises
Licences) Order 2008 were approved. This specified which licensing
Authorities could issue large and small casinos. Wolverhampton City Council
was one of the authorities authorised to issue a small casino premises
licence.
2. The council issued the licence for a Small Casino under Part 8 of the act on
12 September 2016 in accordance with the following principles. If the
Council is able to issue a further licence at any time in the future it will do so
in accordance with those principles.
3. On 26th February 2008 the Secretary of State issued the Code of Practice on
Determinations relating to large and small Casinos. The Licensing Authority
will comply with this Code which sets out:
a) the procedure to be followed in making any determinations required under
Paragraphs 4 and 5 of Schedule 9 to the Gambling Act 2005; and
b) matters to which the Licensing Authority should have regard in making those
determinations.

4.

The Licensing Authority is aware that there may be a number of
applications made by operators to operate the small Casino in the City,
including existing Casino operators, who currently have licenses in the city.
In such a situation, the Licensing Authority will stage a ‘competition’ under

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 192

30

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
Schedule 9 of the Gambling Act 2005 and will run such a competition in line
with The Gambling (Inviting Competing Applications for Large and Small
Casino Premises Licenses) Regulations 2008 and the DCMS Code of
Practice issued by the Secretary of State.
5.

In accordance with the above regulations the Licensing Authority will
publish an invitation calling for applications for the small Casino Premises
Licence.

6.

Where the Licensing Authority receives more than one valid application for
a Casino Premises Licence or Provisional Statement, there will be a twostage application process in accordance with the DCMS Code of Practice
issued by the Secretary of State.

General Principles
7.

The Licensing Authority recognises that applicants may either apply for a
full Casino Premises Licence or alternatively a Provisional Statement.
Applicants for full Premises Licences however must fulfil certain criteria in
that they must:
(a) hold or have applied for an Operating Licence; issued by the Gambling Commission.
(b) have the right to occupy the land or buildings that is the proposed site of the Casino.

8.

In making any decision in respect of an application, the Licensing Authority
shall not take into account whether or not an applicant has planning
permission or building regulation approval and any decision shall not
constrain any later decision by the Authority under the law relating to
planning or building. The Licensing Authority does, however, strongly
recommend that planning permission be sought prior to submitting an
application in order to avoid disappointment. Conditions or agreements
attached to Planning consents usually fall outside the Licensing process
and will not therefore be taken into account by the Licensing Authority at
Stage 2 of the competition. Therefore, benefits which are likely to arise
independently of the Licensing process will be disregarded.

9.

The Licensing Authority will not consider unmet demand when considering
applications for casino premises licenses and each application will be taken
on its own merit.

10. Where more than one valid application is received, the Stage 2 process will
commence and the Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to set out
and demonstrate the deliverable benefit such a development will bring to
the residents of the borough, the contribution it will make to the well being of
the area, and the steps it will take to minimise and mitigate any disbenefits.
11. In determining the principles the Licensing Authority intends to apply in
making any determination for a Casino Premises Licence or Provisional
Statement, the Licensing Authority will pay specific regard to:

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 193

31

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1


Any provision that is made for the protection of children and other vulnerable people
from harm or exploitation arising from gambling, whether in the proposed casino or
the wider community. The Licensing Authority however recognises that persons who
gamble beyond their means do not necessarily emanate from Casino’s and could
come from other gambling premises and therefore this matter is not entirely the
responsibility of Casinos.



Any provision that is made for preventing gambling from being a source of crime and
disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.



Any provision that is made for ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open
way.



The beneficial impacts the proposal will have and, in the Authority’s view, which
proposal will deliver the greatest benefit to the Authority’s area.



The design and location of the proposed development and the nature / character of
the surrounding area.



Range and nature of non gambling facilities to be offered as part of the proposed
development.
Likely effects of an application on employment, training opportunities and
regeneration in the local area.
Deliverability of the development, any financial and other contributions proposed by
the applicant, and any steps to be taken by the applicant to monitor the impact of
the Casino and to mitigate adverse effects and to assess the community benefit.




12. The Licensing Authority shall ensure that any pre-existing contract,
arrangements or other relationship with a company or individual does not
affect the principles for determining applications or the procedure for
assessing applications so as to make it unfair or perceived to be unfair to
any application. The Licensing Authority shall therefore disregard any such
contract, arrangement or other relationship.
13. The Licensing Authority’s decision will not be prejudged and where advice
is sought this will be impartial advice. In making a decision on both stages
the Licensing Authority will take heed of any Codes of Practice and
Regulations issued by the Secretary of State, DCMS and Gambling
Commission.
Casino Application Stage 1
14. The Licensing Authority will publish an invitation in a trade newspaper,
journal or similar publication, which the Licensing Authority considers likely
to be read by potential applicants in the United Kingdom or abroad.
15. The Licensing Authority shall provide an application pack to all applicants,
which will include a Statement of the procedure the Licensing Authority

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 194

32

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
proposes to follow and the detailed principles to be considered in assessing
applications for the Casino Premises Licence or Provisional Statement.
16. Stage 1 will be implemented after the closing date for receipt of applications
where the Licensing Authority receives one or more applications.
Applications may also include provisional statement applications.
Applications received prior to the closing date will be deferred until after this
date. The Licensing Authority will consider each application separately on
its own merit with no comparison being made to the other applications
received.
17. At this stage the Licensing Authority cannot accept any additional
information other than the information required by the Gambling Act 2005
(Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) (England and Wales)
Regulations 2007 for Stage 1. All such additional information will be
disregarded and returned to the applicant.
18. With regard to Stage 1, the General Principles as stated at paragraphs 7-12
in this Gambling Policy shall apply to all applications.
19. The Licensing Authority recognises that each of the other competing
applicants are considered as an ‘interested party’ and as a result may make
representations. As such applicants are reminded that each representation
will be considered carefully to ensure they meet those principles.
20. Representations will be treated in the same manner as for a Premises
Licence or Provisional Statement, and in accordance with the paragraphs
relating to representations and interested parties in this Policy and in the
Gambling Commissions Guidance to Local Authorities. It is recognised that
the Licensing Authority’s decision may be appealed against, in which case
the Licensing Authority will not proceed to Stage 2 until the final
determination of all appeals.
21. Where a Provisional Statement application is successful, the Licensing
Authority may limit the period of time for which the Statement will have
effect. The Authority may consider extending this period if the applicant so
applies.
22. If more than one application for a premises licence or Provisional Statement
results in a decision to grant a premises license or Provisional Statement,
Stage 2 of the licensing procedure will be implemented.
Casino Application Stage 2
23. Stage 2 will be implemented after the closing date for the competition, if
more than one application under Stage 1 has been granted and following
the final determination of any appeal of a stage 1 decision.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 195

33

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
24. At this stage, the applicant will be required to state the benefit they can
bring to the residents of Wolverhampton and how they can contribute to the
well being of this area.
25. Full details of the Licensing Authority’s criteria, procedure and an
explanation of the proposed evaluation process will be enclosed in the
application pack that will be sent to applicants.
26. The Licensing Authority will decide between the competing applications and
grant the available licence to the applicant that it considers in its opinion will
result in the greatest benefit to Wolverhampton. The competition will be
judged on a wide range of issues, reflecting the issues that are important to
the city, local concerns and local priorities.
27. The Licensing Authority may during the second stage engage in
discussions or negotiations with each second stage applicant with a view to
the application being refined, expanded or altered so as to maximise the
benefits to the area.
28. The Licensing Authority will not, during Stage 2, discuss the details of a
person’s application with the other competing applicants without that
person’s permission.
29. The Licensing Authority will expect the applicants to enter into a written
agreement in order to secure the benefits proposed. The Licensing
Authority may have regard to this agreement when determining which
application would result in the greatest benefit to the Authority’s area. The
Licensing Authority will attach conditions to a licence granted so as to give
effect to any agreement entered into. The agreement will allow for an
applicant to provide a third party guarantor and will have regard to the effect
of any agreement so entered into and any guarantee provided in such
agreement in making the determination on the competing applications.

General Principles that apply and information to be provided that the
licensing authority consider appropriate in determining whether to grant a
Licence
30. The Licensing Authority has set out in Appendix 1 an overview of the
principles for selection. It is expected that applicants be fully conversant
with this and the Council’s policies, strategies and plans. Further details of
these will be stated in the application pack. In addition the applicant will be
expected to have understood and be fully conversant with any Codes of
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission or Department of Culture,
Media and Sport.
31. With regard to the Local Authority’s preferred location for the Casino,
although applicants are able to submit plans for any site within the Borough

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 196

34

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
which will be judged on their own individual merits, applicants should have
regard to the Council’s Local Development Framework for the area.
32. The Licensing Authority expect applicants to present a detailed package
that will bring the greatest benefit to the Authority’s area taking into account
the criteria set out in Appendix 1. It is expected that the applicants will have
undertaken detailed research and liaised with the relevant departments of
the Council prior to submitting their application.
33. The applicant will be expected to provide:


A scaled plan of the premises including the table gaming area (including
electronic gaming), machines area, other gaming areas and any non
gaming areas. The Licensing Authority will also require full details of
minimum and maximum numbers of gaming tables, automated tables,
electronic gaming terminals and electronic gaming machines and any
other games to be provided. In evaluating competing applications the
Licensing Authority will take into account the degree to which the
proposal offers a wide range casino experience, as opposed to a
concentration on a small number of types of games.



Detailed numbers of all staff and Personal Licence Holders to be
employed, together with a clear management structure.



Proposals for refreshment and entertainment. Where alcohol is to be
supplied, the Licensing Authority would wish to have sight of the menu
to ensure substantial refreshment and not just bar snacks will be
provided.



An indication of the proposed location of the casino, which should be
sustainable and appropriate taking into account transport accessibility.
Each application will be considered on its own merit assuming it meets
this Council’s competition criteria. Applicants must provide an indication
of the availability of the site chosen, including any matter that may
impact on anytime restraint that may affect the delivery
of
the
proposal. Details may also be required of any proposed linked
development, including plans, and the extent to which the Casino would
be dependent on any linked development and vice versa.



Demonstration of sufficient financial capacity to raise the funding for the
scheme.



Evidence of financial standing including submission of the applicant’s
last 3 year financial accounts, together with 2 financial references
confirming that there is sufficient finance in place to ensure delivery of
the project.



Two professional references to evidence that the applicant has a
demonstrable ability within the casino / gambling sector.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 197

35

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1


Submission of a clear and detailed Business Plan supported by a signed
agreement in a form that is acceptable to the Council, committing the
applicant in the event that his application is successful to the proposals
that he has put forward.



A timescale for implementation and completion of the proposed
development (casino and/or ancillary developments) and, where
applicable, setting out the various stages of construction. This is to
enable the Licensing Authority to be kept informed of when the project is
likely to be completed and that the applicant is on target for final
completion.



Evidence that there is ongoing consultation with statutory bodies and
responsible authorities to ensure that all statutory regulations/legislation
are complied with.



Evidence of ongoing consultation with West Midland Police in particular
with respect to the development and evaluation of scheme proposals to
promote the prevention of crime and disorder. Proposals should
consider for example: CCTV, security procedures and relevant policies,
Door Supervisors, external and internal lighting, and proposals to ensure
that where possible opportunities for crime are designed out at an early
stage. West Midlands Police however expects the Operator to take
responsibility for their own security issues.



Evidence of a robust training plan that will be put in place for all
employees in accordance with the Gambling Commissions Licence
conditions and Codes of Practice. Training to cover all matters including
awareness of the Licensing Objectives, knowledge of the gambling
legislation, an awareness of problem gambling and all relevant internal
procedures. In addition, applicants are required as part of their training
plan to evidence customer service training and a knowledge of the local
area.



The applicant will be expected to provide a Premises Log Book
recording all training undertaken and this should be signed by the
recipient to acknowledge training was given and understood. All training
should be ongoing and based on a two-tier system. This system should
demonstrate that staff are trained to their level of responsibility with
senior staff trained to a higher level to ensure that they can effectively
apply procedures and respond appropriately to any consumer
requesting information, or assistance.



Evidence of Policies and Procedures that will be put in place to protect
children and vulnerable persons from harm. In particular, the applicant
should evidence clearly how they intend to promote the Licensing
Objectives.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 198

36

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1

34.



A Policy detailing the mechanism enabling the applicant to identify
problem gamblers. This Policy should be incorporated within the
Training Plan for all employees. This Policy is likely to set out how
advice and support will be provided to those engaged in or affected by
problem gambling.



A Policy detailing commitment to educating the community on gambling
and problem gambling.



An Admissions Policy incorporating procedures for Door Supervisors to
manage the entry of individuals affected by alcohol or other substance
abuse, under age persons and any dress code.



Confirmation that all gambling advice will be available in a language
other than English when a predetermined percentage of regular
customers are identified as speaking that language.



A Social Responsibility Policy and casino rules for each gambling
activity on offer. In addition, the applicant shall provide within the
gaming area a specific practice area/room that enables any customer to
learn how to gamble on the various activities offered without feeling
intimidated or embarrassed. Where there is a practice room there shall
be information provided that emphasises the importance of staying in
control of their gambling, the steps they can take to achieve this and
where to access help should they become concerned about their
gambling. Where an area is provided, there should be leaflets and
information clearly displayed setting out these points.



An indication on the plan where the separate non-gambling refuge area
of the premises is located. This area should provide a refuge from
gambling and could be by way of a non threatening sound proofed quiet
room that is always available for those concerned about their own or
someone else’s gambling. Within this room there should be installed
the facility to telephone appropriate counselling services, access online
counselling facilities or contact a local face-to-face counselling service or
Gamcare. Leaflets with contact addresses and telephone numbers
should be prominently displayed within this room. This is in addition to
any information displayed in other non gambling areas such as toilet or
hospitality areas.
Evidence on how the proposal is likely to benefit the City, in terms of an
assessment of the social, economic and physical impact, will be
required to be submitted with the application. Guidance on local
priorities and how proposals could benefit the City and the community
will be set out in the application pack and are summarised in Appendix
1, together with criteria against which the Council will judge the package
of non-gambling public benefits which should accompany the
application. These criteria and priorities which will be used to assess
which application provides the greatest benefit are summarised below:

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 199

37

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1










Proposals for the location of the casino and other high quality leisure
and entertainment facilities and how the site(s) selected and the design
and architecture will regenerate the surrounding area and street scene.
Proposals regarding day/night access and travel arrangements to and
from the casino taking into consideration staff and customer travel
How the proposal will assist with the rebranding of the tourism sector
towards a new upmarket image and address issues relating to hotels,
conference facilities and cinema.
How the proposal will improve the environment with improved public
realm, tackling poor buildings or the provision of new infrastructure.
The provision of a marketing policy which explains how the proposal will
promote the City in line with the Council’s strategy to improve the
quality and image of the City.
Support for contributions towards community schemes, such as
improving the night time economy, and the local community/voluntary
sector.
How the proposals will directly assist sustainable job creation,
safeguard existing jobs, local economic benefit and regeneration,
learning and skills, youth unemployment specifically non-gambling
related jobs.
How the proposal will deal with social responsibility including
problem/fair gambling, protection of children and vulnerable people,
crime and disorder, public nuisance and the Council’s Cumulative
Impact Policy.

35. In addition, the Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to state:










How many new jobs the casino will create and its employment policy
with regard to local recruitment;
How many existing jobs will be safeguarded by the proposed
development;
Sustainable Training Policy it intends to promote with regard to training
of local employees into the casino market;
Any policy on local service providers, such as local architects,
designers, contractors and suppliers when constructing the casino;
Policy on suppliers for the casino itself to be sourced from small and
medium sized businesses, including local businesses;
Set out what local community partnership it proposes to communicate
and consult with;
The regeneration benefits of the additional facilities particularly the
benefits that will be delivered in terms of non gaming facilities/services;
The financial viability of the proposal;
The monitoring and reporting on the impact of the casino.

36. The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to present a detailed package
that will bring maximum benefit to the city and it is expected that the

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 200

38

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
applicant will have undergone detailed research and liaised with the
relevant departments of the Council prior to submitting their application.
37. In assessing the impact of competing bids the applicant will be expected to
have taken into account the additional criteria set out in Appendix 1 to this
Policy. In addition, the applicant will be expected to have understood and
be fully conversant with any Codes of Practice issued by the Gambling
Commission or Department of Culture, Media and Sport.
Process of Evaluation
38. The Council will publish a detailed evaluation methodology, which includes
the information applicants are required to supply in order to support their
application, and the weight that will be placed on each criterion. This
evaluation methodology will be included in the application pack.
39.

As it is recognised that the Licensing Authority does not necessarily have planning or
regeneration expertise it may, in certain circumstances ,seek advice on an applicant’s
proposal from officers in other relevant departments such as Planning, Highways, Finance,
Regeneration, Legal, etc. For this purpose, the Licensing Authority may request that an
independent Evaluation Panel be formed to assist in the evaluation of the Stage 2
application process. Members of this group will comprise of individuals who are not
biased or perceived to be biased and whose personal interests will not compromise their
independence. They will be individuals who are able to maintain the confidentiality on
which the integrity of this process demands. It will be for the Licensing Authority to
determine which individuals would best represent the interests of the community. Where
such a panel is formed, the Licensing Authority will require a written remit on the
purposes of the panel to ensure that the process is open and transparent.

40.

It is accepted that only the Licensing Authority, consisting of elected Members and not
Members of the Evaluation Panel, will make the final decision on the successful applicant.
Licensing Authority Members are bound by code of conduct and rules governing the
competition. All applications will be kept confidential throughout the competition
process and in accordance with the Stage 2 Storage Protocol until such time as a decision
is made. In any event it should be noted that the entire process is open to judicial review.
The Licensing Authority will, however, give equal time to all applications and will carefully
scrutinise all proposals prior to making any decision. The process will be open, fair and
transparent.

41.

In accordance with the Code of Practice issued by the Secretary of State, the Licensing
Authority shall ensure that there is a Register of Interests in place disclosing interest in
any contract, arrangement or other relationship with an applicant or a person connected
or associated with an applicant. The Register will be published on the Council’s website;
alternatively a hard copy will be made available on request free of charge. However,
applicants should note that this does not apply to any agreement between the Licensing
Authority and applicant entered into during the second stage of the competition.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 201

39

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
42.

In addition, the Licensing Authority shall have a Protocol governing the storage of
confidential information submitted during the second stage so as to maintain
confidentiality. This Protocol is available on the Council’s website or a hard copy is
available from the Council’s offices upon request.

43.

Where there is more than one applicant who complies with the competition criteria the
Licensing Authority shall hold individual hearings where the applicant will be given the
opportunity to expand and explain their proposals. However, it is strongly recommended
that all documents and paperwork in support of these proposals are submitted to the
Licensing Authority well in advance in order to give the Licensing Committee sufficient
time to seek advice and read through the proposals.

44.

Once all the bid documentation has been submitted, the Evaluation Panel will evaluate
each bid and the bids will be scored numerically within definite bands. Once assessed,
the Evaluation Panel will ensure that the draft evaluation on each applicant is sent to the
applicant to enable the relevant applicant to correct any factual errors or make
representations as to the scoring or qualitative evaluation. At this stage they will not,
however, be permitted to provide any new information.

45.

The Evaluation Panel will then provide a final written report with a copy of all applicants’
representations to the Licensing Committee. While it is legally possible for the Committee
to delegate the decision to a Sub-Committee, the Licensing Authority intends that the
decision shall be made by a wide body of councillors and so has decided that the Licensing
Committee itself shall decide the applications. However, the quorum for the Committee
shall be set at 5 so as to ensure that the Committee may continue to sit even if one or
more of its members are indisposed. Assisted by the Evaluation Panel’s recommendation
as to the correct band for each criterion, the Panel’s qualitative evaluation and also the
applicant’s response, the Licensing Committee will determine a precise score within each
recommended band for each criterion. The Committee will not take further evidence or
representations by the applicants but will then make its decision. However, where the
Committee has any new concerns not previously identified, it may give the applicant an
opportunity of answering them.

a.

The unsuccessful applicant(s) will be informed of the result and reasons for rejection as
soon as is reasonably practicable. It should be noted that once a decision has been made
there will be no right of appeal.
Part D – Appendix 1
Application Guidance: Principles for Selection

1.

Introduction

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 202

40

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
1.1

This Appendix outlines the general principle criteria, which will be used by the Council
to assess applications received for a small casino licence. The criteria include general
guidance and specific principles, which will be taken into account by the Council in
judging the merits of applications. The guidance represents a summary of the
objectives of the Council in relation to the development of a small casino, further
details will be provided in the application pack.

1.2

The guidance aims to advise applicants on the positive impacts for economic physical
and social regeneration from a casino that the Council will be seeking, and what it will
seek in terms of mitigating and minimising any adverse or negative social impact.

1.3

The Council wishes to maximise, harness or capture the economic benefits of a casino
in the public interest. This is an exciting time for Casino operators to consider
investing in Wolverhampton because of the major changes which are taking place in
the city with increasing investor confidence and major public and privately funded
development projects underway which are significantly changing the face of the city.
Therefore, the Council requires the applicant to understand the physical, social and
economic issues in the city and develop the casino in a way which addresses local
problems and opportunities.

1.4

The guidance provides an indication of local priorities and which issues are likely to be
assessed as providing the greatest benefit to the area.

1.5

Whilst guidance sets out the principles the Council will use in assessing applications, it
is not intended to be prescriptive and applicants are encouraged to examine the
opportunities currently presented by the city and apply their own expertise and
creativity in compiling their applications licence.

1.6

The Council wishes to see lasting, tangible and visible public benefits arising from a
casino development. Facilities or capital or revenue should not impose future costs on
the community or the Council that is not shown to be capable of being funded by the
casino operator.

2.

General Principles

2.1

The following are the key principles/criteria that the Licensing Authority will consider
in assessing which casino submission provides the greatest benefit to the area.

2.2

Social Responsibility

2.3

Prior to the issuing of any premises licences operators will have reached the required
standards in social responsibility laid down by the Gambling Commission via the
application process for operating and personal licences.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 203

41

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
2.4

Stage 2 will consider proposals over and above the social responsibility standards laid
down by the Gambling Commission, which in the Licensing Authority’s view will confer
the greater levels of benefit to the area/best minimise harm, including:
a)

proposals for preventing gambling from becoming a source of crime and disorder,
being associated with crime and disorder, being associated with the sex industry,
or being used to support crime;

b)

proposals to identify and mitigate problem gambling including policies on access
restrictions, provision of safe practice zones etc;

c)

financial contributions that will be made by the casino operator to support the
provision of services to support those suffering from problem gambling, over and
above payments currently provided via the RIGT levy.

2.5

Employment

2.6

The Licensing Authority wishes to see training and employment opportunities
maximised for local residents with staff training within the Wolverhampton area.
Proposals should include opportunities that will be created for local employment
including:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

the number of jobs created during construction of the casino:
the number and types of jobs directly created within the new casino;
training to be provided for staff, including recognised accredited qualifications.
the number and types of jobs created in ancillary, non-casino activities;
in both cases job ‘types’ should include indication of pay levels, and levels of
qualification required;
proposals to maximise local recruitment to jobs;
proposals to maximise local training opportunities; and
investment in local training provision/infrastructure to enhance capacity to
deliver training opportunities.

2.7

Local Business Benefits

2.8

Opportunities that will be available to local businesses to compete for work related to
the construction and operation of the casino, including:
a)
b)

2.9

proposals for local contractors/sub-contractors/suppliers to be involved in the
construction phase;
proposals for local contractors/sub-contractors/suppliers to be involved in the
casino and associated activities operation.

Regeneration benefits – additional facilities

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 204

42

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
2.10

What additional benefits will be delivered in terms of non-gaming facilities / services
including:
a)

b)
c)

associated on-site leisure facilities/services including restaurants and bars
(including destination quality restaurant), retail, performance space, etc included
in proposals;
hotel development supported by the casino (either off-site or on-site) including
hotel star rating and associated hotel facilities such as conference, health-spa, etc;
overall impact/contribution of the proposed casino to Wolverhampton in terms
of:
-

its night-time economy offer;
its cultural over;
its retail offer;
its overall city-regional role;
the image and perception of Wolverhampton

2.11

Regeneration benefits – physical development

2.12

What benefits the proposal will give the area in terms of its physical impact including:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

the capital value of the proposed development;
the quality of the proposed design:
the impact of the proposal on the immediate surrounding area/environment,
including other investment attracted due to the casino;
the impact on Wolverhampton image through additional high quality
development;
the environment/carbon reduction quality of the proposals;
proposals for access, public transport and parking and any additional benefits
these provide other than for immediate casino use/access;
any other benefits or added value which will accrue to the area from the
proposal/location of the casino.

2.13

Regeneration benefits – community regeneration

2.14

In addition to the benefits already outlined, any other benefits of the proposal to the
community.

2.15

Financial contributions

2.16

There may be instances where benefits take the form of financial contributions by the
license-holder to the Council for a number of purposes. If these types of benefits are
included in proposals then proposers are requested to identify either the flat rate sums

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition)

Page 205

43

Sensitivity: PROTECT
Appendix 1
involved, or appropriate methods for determining the levels of these contributions
based on profit share or other formulae.
2.17

Deliverability and Risk

2.18

At stage 2 the council will assess the risk and deliverability of the proposed scheme. In
particular the council will wish to consider what legal and financial assurances there are
that the proposed development will be delivered within 5 years, and that the promised
benefits will both materialise and be maintained. Firm evidence is required that all
benefits and development proposed can be funded and contractual obligation with
penalties for non-delivery is required.

2.19

The application pack will include a template agreement under paragraph 5(3) (b) of
Schedule 9 to the 2005 Act (“a schedule 9 agreement”). Such an agreement will be
negotiated with the applicants during the stage 2 evaluation process. This agreement
will include a list of the benefits proposed, along with delivery targets and details of the
penalties for non-delivery. Applications where the benefits, including delivery of the
development itself, are made subject of contractual obligations as opposed to merely
damages for non-delivery, are likely to receive greater weight in the evaluation process.

2.20

The council is aware that the casino application may form part of a wider development
proposal. The stage 2 evaluation will only take into consideration parts of a
development that the applicant is willing to make a firm contractual commitment to
deliver within a set timescale. Any benefits not supported by a contractual commitment
in the schedule 9 agreement along with meaningful proposed penalties on non-delivery
or delay and without proof of funding will receive little if any weight. Development
outside of the control of the applicant will not be considered.

2.21

Further detail including the information required its format and how the submission will
be evaluated can be found in the evaluation methodology included in the stage 2
application pack along with a template schedule 9 agreement.

2.22

Commuted Sums

2.23

Where appropriate the Licensing Authority will also require that commuted sums be
payable in lieu of regeneration benefits proposed which are subsequently not delivered.

2.24

Proposals are sought as to the value of commuted sums, suggested mechanism for
handling of commuted sums, etc.

Statement of Gambling Policy

(SixthFifth edition) Page 206

44

Sensitivity: PROTECT
This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 15

Statutory Licensing
Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Pavement Licences

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director of City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Paul Dosanjh
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Service Manager: Trading Standards and
Licensing Act
01902 556056
Paul.Dosanjh@wolverhampton.gov.uk

None

Recommendation for decision:
1. To formally endorse the scheme for the extension of pavement licences agreed by
the Chair of Statutory Licensing Committee

Page 207

Sensitivity: PROTECT
This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To update the Committee on the recent changes to the Business and Planning Act 2020
extending the Pavement Licensing scheme until 30 September 2022.

1.2

Formal endorsement of the decision, made by the Chair of Statutory Licensing
Committee in consultation with Commercial Regulation Manager, to continue with a
straightforward mechanism of both renewing existing licences and processing new
applications.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Business and Planning Act 2020 (Pavement Licences) (Coronavirus) (Amendment)
Regulations 2021 came into force on 20 July 2021. This provided a streamlined
application method for businesses to secure these licences quickly and for them to
remain in place for a year but not beyond 30 September 2021.

2.2

The aim was to allow customers to eat and drink in relative safety outdoors during the
pandemic when indoor gatherings were discouraged. Where a pavement licence was
granted, clear access routes on the highway need to be maintained, considering the
needs of all users, including disabled people.

2.3

A pavement licence only permits the placing of furniture on the highway and does not
negate the need to obtain approvals under other regulatory frameworks, such as the
need for a licence to sell alcohol.

2.4

Currently there are 15 premises who hold a pavement licence in the City, and Licensing
Services charges £25 per year per application.

3.0

Proposal

3.1

The Business and Planning Act 2020 (Pavement Licences) (Coronavirus) (Amendment)
Regulations 2021 came into force on 20 July 2021. In response to the coronavirus
pandemic, sections 1-10 of the Business and Planning Act 2020 (made temporary
provision for a fast-track process to allow businesses selling food or drink to obtain
authorisation from the local authority for the placement of furniture such as tables and
chairs on highway adjacent to their premises (a “pavement licence”). The regulations
were designed to provide a streamlined and cheaper route for businesses such as cafes,
restaurants and bars to obtain a licence to place furniture on the highway. In doing so the
government hoped that this will provide much needed income for business and protect as
many hospitality jobs as possible. The 2021 regulations effectively extend the provisions
of the 2020 in relation to pavement licences.

3.2

The current scheme is both simple to arrange and easy to understand. Existing licence
holders whose circumstances have not changed can renew for free with the £25 fee
being waived. Licence holders who wish to make changes do incur the fee as do any
new applicants. This process provides a streamlined and cheaper route for businesses

Page 208

Sensitivity: PROTECT
This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

such as cafes, restaurants and bars to secure a licence to place furniture on the highway.
This will provide much needed income for business and protect as many hospitality jobs
as possible.
3.3

Currently there are 9 businesses who have renewed their licences until 30th September
2022.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

The total amount of income for 15 licences is £375. Any fees waived could be met out of
existing budgetary provision.
[SB/02112021/C]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

As this is in effect a continuation of an existing schemes there are no legal implications
[JB/26102021/B].

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

As this is in effect a continuation of an existing schemes there are no equality
implications.

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

There are no implications for climate change and the environment, Human Resources,
Corporate Landlord, Health and Wellbeing and no implications that have arisen from the
Covid-19 Pandemic.

8.0

Schedule of background papers

8.1

Pavement Licence Policy -9 September 2020, Statutory Licensing Committee
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s152378/Appendix%202%20for%20
Pavement%20Licences%20Update.

Page 209

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 16

Statutory Licensing
Committee
10 November 2021
Report title

Late Night Safe Haven

Wards affected

All

Accountable director

Ross Cook, Director for City Housing and Environment

Originating service

Licensing

Accountable employee

Paul Dosanjh
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Service Manager: Trading Standards &
Licensing Act.
01902 556056
Paul.Dosanjh@wolverhampton.gov.uk

None

Recommendation for decision:
The Statutory Licensing Committee is asked to:
1. Endorse the plans set out to improve the current safe haven provision providing additional
safety measures for the evening and night time economy in the run up to the Christmas
period.

Recommendation for noting:
The Statutory Licensing Committee is asked to note:
1. The partnership working, professionally and financially of the BID, West Midlands Police
and Licensing Services to deliver the revamped Late Night Safe Haven.

Page 211

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

The report seeks to update Committee on the changes that have been made to improve
the current Late Night Safe Haven service.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Late Night Safe Haven is an initiative in Wolverhampton City Centre which is
delivered through a partnership of City of Wolverhampton Council, Wolverhampton BID
(Business Improvement District) and West Midlands Police.

2.2

The majority of the city’s pubs, clubs and bars are located within walking distance of each
other, making the city centre a prime location for customers to spend the entire duration
of their night. The introduction of the well-known cocktail chain, alongside those clubs
and bars exclusive to the city has resulted in the centre becoming a popular hotspot,
primarily for 18- to 25-year olds, with over 1.6 million visitors per year (between 18:00
and 06:00). The evening and Night Time Economy (NTE) is therefore a major contributor
to the economic health of the City.

2.3

Some visitors to the NTE may find themselves in a situation where they require
assistance in the form of medical intervention or support finding a safe route home. They
may find themselves vulnerable as a result of alcohol or drug use and be placing
themselves in harm’s way if they become separated from friends and isolated. The Safe
Haven addresses these concerns.

2.4

An initial trial of the service in 2019 proved a huge success in supporting the night-time
entertainment scene and partners were keen to see the service reintroduced to assist
with the easing of Covid-19 restrictions. As a result, the service was reintroduced in May
this year with the dual purpose of protecting revelers and helping our hard-pressed
hospitality industry by making the City Centre a welcoming place for visitors and provide
a direct service to a private hire/taxi to get people home safely.

2.5

The Safe Haven trailer is currently located outside Halifax bank in Queen Square, where
it provides some shelter for people of all ages to wait for a licensed taxi after their night
out and to receive assistance should they have any concerns about their personal safety.
It is a secure supervised space with first aid provisions, hot drinks and free flip-flops for
those who wish to remove their heeled shoes which may make them prone to trip
hazards on their way home.

2.6

St. John Ambulance have been in operation as part of Safe Haven since May 2021
through their Community Response Team. To date, St. John Ambulance has treated 42
patients of which 79% have had their treatment completed and have either returned
home or carried on with their night; 14% have been transported to hospital by the St.
John Ambulance Crew and 7% have been transported to hospital by West Midlands
Ambulance Service.

2.7

St. John Ambulance provide a responsive and dynamic service to ensure that the citizens
of Wolverhampton have the medical support that they need when visiting the NTE in the
City Centre

Page 212

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.8

The Night Guardians also patrol the city and engage with local pubs, bars and venues to
help assist with the reduction of night-time anti-social behaviour. The Night Guardians
provide vehicle control and supervision for the private hire vehicles in the city together
with providing a welcoming, helpful and reassuring presence to City Centre visitors. The
Guardians are also crucial in helping partners understand what is happening in the City
Centre and are a key link in warning business about the presence of perpetrators or
offenders. The Safe Haven trailer acts as a base for the sharing of information about
areas or incidents of concern as it is also regularly visited by the Police and the
Guardians during the course of an evening.

2.9

The Safe Haven operates on the Friday and Saturday of “payday weekends” from 10pm
to 4am. It has done so on fourteen nights since the relaunch on 21 May. Social media
interest in the pilot reached an audience of 57,000. On the last occasion staff actively
engaged and dealt with over 100 service users and provided medical assistance to 20
individuals

2.10

The Safe Haven is also used to publicise the roll out of the “Ask for Angela” campaign
which provides a route of safety through asking bar staff to “ask for Angela” for anyone
who finds themselves threatened during a night out in one of the participating premises. It
also actively promotes the council’s Get Home Safe Scheme by providing a rest point
while a taxi is arranged to take them safely home. The haven is also a public and tangible
statement of the Council and its partners’ attempts to make the City Centre NTE a safe
and welcoming place for visitors, especially women.

3.0

Proposed improvements.

3.1

The Safe Haven currently operates from a trailer which has to be delivered to and
collected from the location each night that the haven operates. This arrangement is
restrictive in terms of location. The trailer is also unwieldy, and it is difficult for it to
negotiate the street furniture in the City Centre. The partners have decided that a more
flexible alternative should be considered.

3.2

The intention is to purchase a “welfare vehicle.” The vehicle is to be equipped with
amenities which allow workers to have a comfortable and safe place while on site. The
fully branded vehicle, advertising the safe haven facilities, will be fitted with an awning
allowing a larger area to help clients. The van will also have a built-in ‘staff toilet’ and
running hot and cold water.

3.3

A vehicle serving this purpose is currently being sourced and will be part funded by West
Midlands Police. Licensing Services will fund the remainder of the vehicle purchase and
running cost.

3.4

Licensing Services are speaking to the University of Wolverhampton about securing
students who would volunteer to be involved in operating the Haven. We are looking to
target those students for whom volunteering with a public service forms part of their
degree so that the arrangement is mutually beneficial. This arrangement may also partly
defray some of that part of the cost of operating the safe haven which goes on paying
staff to operate it.

Page 213

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.5

Additionally, the formation of a wider staff group who can operate the safe haven may
allow for more flexibility for the safe haven to be run over greater number of nightsparticularly in the run up to Christmas.

3.6

Additional operating nights will obviously incur extra cost. Licensing have put in a bid for
government funding under the Safety of Women at Night Fund (SWAN) and if successful
this will help fund additional nights between November 2021 and March 2022.

3.7

As part of the SWAN funding, the proposal also includes hiring a set of portable toilets
which can be located in close proximity to the Safe Haven to prevent women and girls
seeking out secluded locations to go to the toilet, which trends have shown, increases
the likelihood of an attack happening.

3.8

Responses from the Council’s Gender, Maternity and Paternity Forum survey also found
that respondents stated they would feel safer if there was a higher police presence on a
night-time. The Council, working in partnership with West Midlands Police, would use
SWAN funding to increase Safety of Women at Night patrols in the form of uniformed and
plain clothed officers who could seek to reduce vulnerability through proactive
approaches to females and provide an enhanced service when sexual crimes are
reported. The funding would also be used to undertake more offender management and
resource visits to convicted offenders or those who have been acting suspiciously to
prevent sexual crimes from occurring.

3.9

Licensing Services are participating in a Women’s Safety event in early December with
West Midlands Police and the BID about staying safe over the festive period. The event
will be looking to promote travelling safely at night for everyone but will be specifically
aimed at women both in the University and the wider community.

3.10

It is planned for there to be a stall at the University and one in the Mander Centre. This
will be pre party season and will provide an opportunity to use the promotional material
that was bought for the University Freshers Fair. It will also provide an additional
opportunity to promote the role of the Safe Haven.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

This report is an update for information and the relevant financial approvals will be sought
separately as appropriate.

4.2

A grant bid has been made to the Safety of Women at Night (SWAN) fund which, if
successful, will provide portable toilets and an increase in the number days the safe
haven can operate. [SB/02112021/V]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

There are no legal implications arising from this report as this is simply the extension of a
service that has been previously provided.
[JB/28102021/A]

Page 214

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

There are no equalities implications arising from this report as this is simply the extension
of a service that has been previously provided

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

There are no implications arising from this report for climate change and environmental,
Human Resources, Corporate Landlord, Health and Wellbeing or Covid-19 Pandemic.

8.0

Background papers

8.1

Licensing Committee 09/09/2015 – Update on Wolverhampton Alcohol Strategy

Page 215

This page is intentionally left blank

